
IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS AND ST. JOHN

UNITED CORPORATION, )

)
Plaintiff, )

)

Case No.: 2013 -CV -101

ACTION FOR DAMAGES
v. )

)
WAHEED HAMED, ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
(a/k/a Willy or Willie Hamed), )

)
Defendant. )

)

UNITED'S BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF ITS RULE 59(e) MOTION
FOR RECONSIDERATION AND TO ALTER OR AMEND JUDGMENT

INTRODUCTION

The Court's September 2, 2014 Opinion (the "Opinion ") and Order (the "Order ")

granting Waheed Hamed ( "Waheed" or "Hamed ") summary judgment in this case found two

declarations submitted by FBI agents in the criminal case brought against United Corporation

( "United ") to be "dispositive" on the statute of limitations issue. See Opinion, p. 6. Those

affidavits addressed the criminal defendants' access to hundreds of thousands of pages of

documents' that were seized by the FBI in the October 2001 raid of the grocery stores and

homes of the Hameds and Yusufs2 and obtained from third parties. Specifically, the Court

accepted the truthfulness of the representations in those declarations that "Plaintiff's defense

The Government launched coordinated raids on the stores and on the homes of six of the defendants in October
2001, and "seized substantially all of the Defendants' business, financial and person records." See Exhibit A,
Defendants' Motion for Specific Relief, p. 3, ¶ 2. They then obtained Defendants' documents from a "a variety of
other third -party sources, including "financial institutions, outside accounting firms, [and] family members...."
M. at ¶ 3. All told the Government obtained more than "five hundred banker boxes of the Defendants' documents
from these and other sources." Id. at if 3. A bankers box will accommodate 4,000 pages of neatly organized
material. See http:// www. thecrowleycompany .com/imagingservices /faqs.html, September 18, 2014. Even
assuming conservatively that each box was filled only to one -half capacity, and that there were exactly 500 banker
boxes (and no more), the Government had in its possession approximately 1,000,000 pages of documents.

2Fathi Yusuf and Hamed's father, Mohammed Hamed, formed what has been conceded in other pending litigation
to be a partnership that operates three "Plaza Extra" grocery stores in the Virgin Islands (two in St. Croix and one
in St. Thomas). See August 12, 2014 Declaration of Fathi Yusuf, ¶¶ 1 and 3 filed in Hamed v. Yusuf and United
Corporation, Civil No. SX -12 -CV -370, as an attachment to Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment in
that case.
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team was granted `unfettered' access to discovery" and made a finding to that effect. Id. at 5 -6.

On the basis of that finding, and the Court's assumption that the 1992 tax returns of Hamed

were among the documents in the FBI's possession in 2003, the Court found that United

"should have discovered Defendant's alleged conduct by at least 2003 by exercising reasonable

diligence," because by that time "all documents - including Defendants' tax returns from 1992

and later - ... were made available to Plaintiff for review." Id. at p. 8.

What the Court did not know at the time it made these findings is that the FBI affidavits

were submitted by the U.S. Government in response to a motion signed by Waheed's attorney

in the criminal case and attorneys for other defendants which argued that the defendants had

been denied access to documents so severely as to deprive them of due process and warrant

dismissal of the criminal case. See Exhibit A, Dkt. No. 1038.3 The Honorable Raymond L.

Finch, who presided over the case, ruled in an order dated July 16, 2009 that full access had

been denied, and ordered the Government at its expense to copy every single document in their

possession and furnish those copies to the Defendants in the criminal case. See Exhibit F, Dkt.

No. 1152. The Government argued in a motion for reconsideration that copying those

voluminous documents would cost at least $125,000 and consume 3 -4 months. See Exhibit G,

Dkt. No. 1177. Not long afterwards, plea negotiations began, and the parties agreed to a stay of

Judge Finch's order during those discussions. The negotiations culminated in a plea agreement

filed on February 26, 2010, Dkt. No. 1248. The fact that Hamed took a contrary position in a

prior case which opposes the "unfettered access" position taken in this case presents the classic

scenario for application of the doctrine of judicial estoppel, which would bar any reliance on

3 See the filings in the criminal case pending in the District Court of the Virgin Islands, Division of St. Croix,
entitled USA v. Yusuf, et al., Criminal No. 2005 -0015 (the "Criminal Case ") relating to the lack of access issues
are attached hereto as Exhibits A through L and denoted by their Federal Docket Number ( "Dkt. No. ").
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the FBI affidavits. And even apart from judicial estoppel, Judge Finch's order necessarily

rejected the "unfettered access" assertions in the FBI affidavits as untruthful, and the affidavits

are entitled to no deference for that reason.

Since the lynchpin of the Court's Opinion and Order are affidavits that Hamed is

estopped to rely upon and that in any event are entitled to no weight at all, United respectfully

asks this Court to reconsider that ruling and, upon reconsideration, reinstate the claims that

were dismissed by the Order. In addition, since the analysis in the Opinion has some over -lap

with that of the June 24, 2013 ruling granting in part Hamed's motion for judgment on the

pleadings, United also respectfully asks this Court to reconsider that prior order, pursuant to its

power to revisit any interlocutory order under Rule 54. United respectfully asks that the Court

grant reconsideration and vacate that order, which dismissed United's claims on statute of

limitations grounds to the extent they rely on an alleged $70,000 conversion by Hamed.

ARGUMENT

I. The Standard for Granting a Rule 59(e) Motion.

United's motion to reconsider the Court's September 4, 2014 Opinion and Order

granting Hamed summary judgment on all remaining claims is brought under Fed.R.Civ.P.

59(e). The case law establishes that a Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend may be granted on

the basis of any of the following three grounds: "1) an intervening change in controlling law;

(2) the availability of new evidence; or (3) the need to correct clear error of law or prevent

manifest injustice." Wiest v. Lynch, 710 F.3d 121, 128 (3d Cir. 2013). This test is identical to

that for granting a motion for reconsideration under LRCi 7.3, and Rule 59(e) motions are

treated as motions for reconsideration. See Id. at 127.

In granting a motion under the third ground, the Court has discretion to consider
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arguments and evidence that could have been presented earlier, if doing so will correct a clear

error of law or to avoid manifest injustice. See Gutierrez v. Gonzales, 2005 U.S. App. LEXIS

4502, pp. *29 -*30 (3d Cir. 2005) (affirming district court's grant of motion for reconsideration

"on the basis of evidence "known to [the movant] prior to the entry of the ... order" and

presented for the first time on reconsideration, because the district court relied on "the need to

prevent manifest injustice" prong of the federal rule); Whitford v. Boglino, 63 F.3d 527, 530

(7th Cir. 1995) (district judge had discretion to reconsider its denial of a summary judgment

motion by allowing a party to file a second one that in the court's view "presented a new and .

. . more convincing legal argument" than the first motion); Ortiz v. City of Chicago, 2011 U.S.

Dist. LEXIS 53206, p. *11 (N.D. Ill. 2011) (denying motion for reconsideration where the

defendant identified "no injustice that would result absent the Court's consideration of their

new argument "); Ford Motor Credit Company v. Bright, 34 F.3d 322, 324 (5th Cir. 1994) (a

court has discretion to consider "materials ... that were not presented to the trial court for

consideration" in deciding a Rule 59(e) motion for reconsideration); U.S. Home Corporation v.

Settlers Crossing, LLC, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 101778, p. *15 (D. Md. 2012) ( "[b]ecause it

was within [Magistrate- Judge's] discretion to consider previously available new evidence in

[granting a motion for reconsideration], the Reconsideration Order cannot be challenged on this

ground "); Church & Dwight Co., Inc. v. Abbott Laboratories, 545 F. Supp. 2d 447, 450 (D.

N.J. 2008) ( "the Court does have discretion to consider evidence raised for the first time in the

motion for reconsideration if such evidence may lead to a different decision ").

In addition, courts will be especially inclined to consider evidence or argument on a

motion for reconsideration of an order that might have been presented earlier in situations like

the instant one in which the Plaintiff is asserting judicial estoppel as a ground for
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reconsideration, because that doctrine protects the integrity of the judicial process. See Milton

H. Greene Archives, Inc. v. CMG Worldwide, Inc., 568 F. Supp. 2d 1152, 1163 (C.D. Cal.

2008) (exercising "discretion to consider the newly presented evidence" in support of judicial

estoppel argument because that doctrine "concerns protection of the integrity of the courts and

the judicial process ").4

II. The Court Should Grant Reconsideration of its Opinion and Order and Vacate the
Order Dismissing All Remaining Claims.

A. The Doctrine of Judicial Estoppel Precludes Any Reliance by Hamed on the
FBI Affidavits and their Assertions that Defendants were Given Unfettered
Access to Documents.

The Third Circuit Court of Appeals explained the doctrine of judicial estopppel

succinctly in Mintze v. American General Financial Services, Inc., 434 F.3d 222 (3d Cir.

2006):

The doctrine of judicial estoppel prevents a party from asserting
inconsistent claims in different legal proceedings. Judicial estoppel is
an equitable doctrine, within the Court's discretion. The doctrine was
designed to prevent parties from playing fast and loose with the courts.

Id. at 232 (internal quotations and citations omitted). Three requirements must ordinarily be

satisfied before a court may properly apply the doctrine of judicial estoppel:

First, the party to be estopped must have taken positions that are
irreconcilably inconsistent. Second, judicial estoppel is unwarranted
unless the party changed his or her position in bad faith - i.e., with
intent to play fast and loose with the Court. Finally, a district court
may not employ judicial estoppel unless it is tailored to address the
harm identified and no lesser sanction would adequately remedy the
damage done by the litigant's misconduct.

4The undersigned counsel for United regrets not bringing to the Court's attention matters raised in this motion that
could have been raised in the prior briefing on this motion. He did not believe that the Court would attach
dispositive significance to affidavits submitted by the U.S. Government in an adversarial criminal proceeding
brought against United and Hamed (among others). He also regrets not advising the Court of what efforts he made
to comply with the Court's April 25, 2014 directive to obtain an affidavit from the U.S. Attorney's Office
rebutting FBI Agent Petri's affidavit. The undersigned counsel did in fact discuss with Assistant U.S. Attorney
Ishmael Meyers the prospect of obtaining an affidavit in what is still an ongoing criminal case (among other
things, United has not been sentenced), and concluded on the basis of that conversation that it would be
impossible.
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Krystal Cadillac Oldsmobile GMC Truck, Inc. v. General Motors Corp, 337 F.3d 314, 319 -320

(3d Cir. 2003) (internal quotation marks omitted) (italics in original).

In this case, Hamed quoted extensively from the FBI affidavits submitted in the

Criminal Case, and on the basis of that quoted material made the following representations to

the Court regarding United's access to the documents that had been seized by the FBI from

Defendants' homes and the Plaza Extra stores, and obtained by subpoena and otherwise from

third parties:

United Corporation had full, unfettered access to all of these documents
beginning in 2003, as detailed in the Declaration (dated July 8, 2009 of
FBI Special Agent Thomas L. Petri, in U.S.A. v. Fathi Yusuf,
Mohammed Yusuf, et al ... ( Hamed's Memorandum in Support of
Motion for Summary Judgment, p. 4).

This unfettered access for United continued over many years, as noted
by FBI Special Agent Christine Zieba. (Id. at 4).

Thus, it is undisputed that Plaintiff had full, unfettered access to the
information it now claims gives rise to this cause of action in 2003 and
thereafter. (Id. at 5).

... [T]wo sworn FBI affidavits ... state that plaintiff and their counsel
absolutely and positively had access to ALL of the documents in
the government's possession. . .. (Hamed's Reply Brief at 5)
(emphasis in original).

No material fact exists as to whether plaintiff either had "unfettered
access" to the documents in 2003, or that such access has been
thoroughly exercised since 2003. (Id. at 8).

Hamed concluded from the affidavits in his Motion for Summary Judgment (at paragraph 2)

that "there is no dispute as to the sole operative fact that, contrary to what Plaintiff previously

represented to the Court, it had full and complete access to all of the documents in possession

of the U.S. Government for many years prior to the physical return of the documents ..."

What Hamed failed to tell the Court was that these affidavits were submitted by the
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Government in response to a motion filed by him and the other defendants in the Criminal Case

on February 5, 2009. In that motion, which was entitled "Motion for Specific Relief Due to the

Government's Destruction of the Integrity, Organization and Sourcing of Material Evidence,"

Hamed and all the other defendants in the Criminal Case asserted that the Government had

allowed "only limited supervised review of the evidence" and for a two -year or more period did

not permit any visits by defense counsel to the office where documents were kept. "The

defense team's last permitted visit to the FBI offices was in 2006," the Motion asserted, and

from then "until November of 2008, the Government denied the Defendants access to their

documents despite numerous requests." See Exhibit A at IN 9 and 13. The Motion described in

detail the various other ways in which Defendants had been denied access to their own

documents. For example, when defense team visits resumed in November 2008, the FBI agent

at the site "initially denied the team access to the records," and placed new restrictions on the

Defendants' "access and ability to review and examine the Defendants' own documents." Id. at

in 14 -15. Among these restrictions were that "the Government agents - not defense counsel -

would decide which boxes the team would be permitted to review." Id. at ¶ 18.

The Motion also represented that the Government had impaired access to documents in

another way, which was to "reorganize[] and rearrange[] the Defendants' documents by

removing some documents from their original boxes and placing them in different boxes

because the revised organization better suited her needs." Id. at if 23. This severely

compromised Defendants' access to their documents because the defense team "relied on the

box numbers" to identify what was contained in them. Id. at ¶¶ 25 -27. The defense team then

insisted on being given the opportunity to review boxes of documents in this reshuffled form to

determine the extent of the reshuffling and outright removal of documents from boxes. M. at 711
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31, 37, 43. At various points during their review of documents, FBI agent Petri, who submitted

one of the affidavits relied upon by Hamed in this case, told the defense team "that they were

misinformed if they believed the documents seized and maintained by the government

belonged to the defendants," because in fact they "belonged to the Government, and that he

would do with them as he pleased." M. at ¶ 45. The Motion asserted that the defense team

concluded its review of the integrity of the boxes, and "found that some boxes were entirely

missing," and that "numerous documents" were "now missing from the boxes." Id. at ¶ 48.5

The denial of access was serious enough that Defendants sought dismissal of the case and a

return to them of all of the hundreds of thousands of pages of Defendants' documents.

The Government responded to the Motion on February 24, 2009, and Defendants filed

their reply to the Government's response on March 17, 2009. See Exhibit B, Dkt. No. 1067;

Exhibit C, Dkt. No. 1076.6 Then, on July 8, 2009, more than 31/2 months later, and the day

before a hearing on the motion, the Government filed its "Response to Defendants' Motion

Reply Memorandum in Support of the Motion for Specific Relief," which attached as exhibits

the FBI affidavits relied upon by Hamed and by this Court as dispositive of the discovery rule,

claim accrual issues in this case. See Exhibit D. On July 9, 2009, a hearing on the motion

was held before the Honorable Raymond L. Finch, and on July 16, Judge Finch entered an

5The Motion also asserted that rather than copying what it needed and returning original documents to the rightful
owners, as it should have done under its own internal protocols, "the Government deliberately held [Defendants']
property for more than seven years." Id. at ¶ 70. Further, the Government "never compiled an inventory of the
specific items and documents seized in the October 2001 raid." Id. at ¶ 69.

6 The Defendants' Reply, which was signed by Waheed's attorney, asserted, inter alia, that the Government "does
not dispute the factual allegations [in Defendants' Motion], and the only controversy is whether the requested
relief is warranted." Exhibit C, p. 2.

7On that same day, July 8, counsel for Waleed Hamed filed a motion to strike the Government's unauthorized brief
and affidavits that were served after the close of business and on the eve of the hearing. See Exhibit E, Dkt. No.
1149. This motion and all of the other documents from the Criminal Case cited in this discussion may also be
reviewed on the District Court's ECF docketing system.
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order, which specifically found the Government had provided the Defendants only "limited"

access to their documents, thereby rejecting the "unfettered access" assertions in those

affidavits. He then granted the extraordinary relief of making the Government copy each and

every page of the hundreds of thousands of documents in its possession, at their cost, and then

furnish them to the Defendants:8

The Government never provided the Defendants with a detailed
inventory of the specific documents seized. The Government has
only permitted the Defendants limited review of the evidence under
supervision which often involved oversight by government agents
involved in investigating this case.

* **
Without a complete set of documents for unlimited review, the defense
team cannot determine the extent of harm, if any, that the
Government's rearrangement of the documents has caused.
Accordingly, it is hereby

ORDERED that the Government serve upon the defense team one
duplicate set of documents seized from the Defendants, as well as all
discoverable documents seized from third parties; that the duplicate set
correspond to the present documents arrangement; and that Defendants
have 60 days from the receipt of such documents to supplement their
Motion for Specific Relief due to the Government's Destruction of the
Integrity, Organization and Sourcing of Material Evidence. (Emphasis
supplied in part).

Exhibit F.

On August 14, 2009, the Government filed a Motion to Reconsider Judge Finch's Order

claiming that the Order was clearly erroneous or manifestly unjust and that, among other

things, it imposed a burden of production on the Government that would cost "no less than

$In relying on the FBI affidavits as dispositive of the discovery rule issues in this case, Hamed neglected to advise
this Court not only of the irreconcilably inconsistent position he took in the Criminal Case on document access,
but also of Judge Finch's Order, which found that full access had not been provided. VISCR 211.3.3(a)(2)
provides: "A lawyer shall not knowingly: (2) fail to disclose to the tribunal legal authority in the controlling
jurisdiction known to the lawyer to be directly adverse to the position of the client and not disclosed by opposing
counsel."
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$125,000" and require "3 to 4 months" to satisfy.9 See Exhibit G, p. 2 Dkt. No. 1177. A

month later, on September 14, 2009, Judge Finch entered an Order denying the Government's

Motion to Reconsider. See Exhibit I, Dkt. No. 1212. Shortly thereafter, the Government

commenced plea negotiations with the defendants, and in an October 19, 2009 motion, jointly

agreed to a stay of Judge Finch's order during the pendency of the negotiations. See Exhibit J,

Dkt. No. 1227, p. 2. Those negotiations resulted in the signing of a plea agreement dated

February 26, 2010 (Dkt. No. 1248) under which United pled guilty to one count, which charged

it with willfully making and subscribing a 2001 U.S. Corporation Income Tax Return in

violation of 33 V.I.C. § 1525(2). Under that plea agreement, all charges against the individual

defendants were dismissed with prejudice.10 The amount of back taxes to be paid by United

(and the other defendants), was left open by the plea agreement (to be resolved by the Court if

necessary), and as to that issue discovery of documents was still potentially important. On

November 30, 2010, some nine months after the plea agreement, Waheed and other defendants

advised the Court by motion that the Government had still failed "to produce complete and

accurate copies of all of its documents to the defense." See Exhibit K, p. 5, Dkt. No. 1297.

The motion asserted that, to date, "the Government has not complied with [the Judge Finch]

Order," and "steadfastly refuses to return those documents." Id. at p. 5. Mediation of the back -

tax issues took place on December 14, 2010, and on February 7, 2011, the parties filed an

addendum to the plea agreement setting forth the agreed -upon restitution amounts. See Exhibit

90n August 20, 2009, Defendants filed their Opposition to the Motion to Reconsider. See Exhibit H, Dkt. No.
1180.

10 The individual defendants were charged, inter alia, with conspiracy to underpay United's gross receipts taxes for
the period 1996 to 2002 and with filing false individual tax returns for (depending on the individual) either the
1996 to 2001 or 1997 to 2000 tax years.
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L, Mt. No. 1304.

From the above history, it is clear that the three requirements for application of judicial

estoppel to bar Hamed's reliance on the FBI affidavits are readily met. First a comparison of

Hamed's brief in this case and the motions and other filings he joined in the Criminal Case

show plainly that the positions Hamed took in the two cases regarding United's access to the

documents held by the FBI are irreconcilably inconsistent. Secondly, Hamed's intent to play

fast and loose with the Court is evidenced by his failure to tell this Court that the FBI affidavits

directly contradict positions taken in a motion filed by him seeking dismissal of the criminal

case because of the Government's deprivation of access to documents -- and his equally

remarkable failure to advise this Court that Judge Finch entered an order which addressed the

document access issue and necessarily rejected the very assertion of "unfettered access" set

forth in those affidavits. It is difficult to conclude that the failure to advise the Court of

inconsistent positions was anything other than intentional. Lastly, application of judicial

estoppel to preclude any reliance by Hamed on those affidavits is exactly tailored to address the

harm inflicted on this Court, and no lesser sanction would adequately remedy the damage done

by Hamed's misconduct.

And even if the doctrine of judicial estoppel did not apply here, Judge Finch's order in

the Criminal Case compels a finding by this Court that Defendants were deprived of full access

to their documents, and that the FBI affidavits are false insofar as they assert that United and

the other defendants to the Criminal Case had unfettered access to them. Indeed, the motion

that Waheed joined in on November 30, 2010 makes it clear that even at that late date, access

was still being denied. The Court should accordingly grant reconsideration of the Opinion and

vacate the Order dismissing the remaining claims.
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B. Before a Claim Can Accrue Under the Discovery Rule, A Plaintiff Must
First Have a Reasonable Suspicion of Wrongdoing by Another Which
Would Cause Him or Her to Look for and Find Documents Showing the
Wrongdoing.

The Court in this case implicitly accepted Hamed's unsupported legal argument that

bare access to documents starts the statute of limitations running, even if the plaintiff has no

reasonable suspicion that would trigger a duty to look for and examine documents that might

show wrongdoing by Hamed, including his tax returns. See Hamed's Brief Support of his

Motion for Summary Judgment at 8. The case law provides otherwise. Thus, even if the

doctrine of judicial estoppel and Judge Finch's order did not at the very least create genuine

issues of material fact regarding United's access to its documents, the Court's ruling would still

be erroneous because it presumes on the basis of access to documents that a plaintiff or

prospective plaintiff has knowledge of every document in its files.

A Seventh Circuit case, Fujisawa Pharmaceutical Company, Ltd. v. Kapoor, 115 F.3d

1332 (7th Cir. 1997) is very clear on this point. There, a drug company, Fujisawsa, purchased a

substantial amount of stock in another drug company, Lyphomed. Fujisawa thereafter brought

a securities fraud suit against Lyphomed's principal shareholder an executive, Kapoor, alleging

that he had committed fraud by concealing from it material facts regarding Lyphomed's

troubles with the FDA that had led to a temporary ban on submitting new drug applications to

the Agency. The applicable statute of limitations contained a discovery rule (like that of the

Virgin Islands and many other states) under which the claim accrued when the plaintiff should

have discovered the existence of a claim. It provided that the limitations period began to run

"not when the fraud occurs, and not when the fraud is discovered, but when ... the plaintiff

learns, or should have learned through the exercise of ordinary diligence ...enough facts to

enable him by such further investigation as the facts would induce in a reasonable person to sue
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within a year." Id. at 1334. Kapoor argued that under the discovery rule, "the statute of

limitations begins to run as soon as the victim has access to the facts that would show the fraud

...." Id. at 1335. This meant, Kapoor said, that the claim accrued no later than "1990, when

Fujisawa acquired Lyphomed and with it custody of copies of all the questionable applications

that the FDA's investigation later brought to light." Id. at 1335.

The Seventh Circuit rejected Kapoor's argument that "ease of access to the necessary

information" was enough to start the limitations period to begin running:

Kapoor fastens on ease of access to the necessary information. All of it
was in documents that were in the possession of the victim itself,
Fujisawa, as the controlling shareholder and later sole owner of
Lyphomed. But more than bare access to necessary information is
required to start the statute of limitations running. There must also be a
suspicious circumstance to trigger the duty to exploit the access; an
open door is not by itself a reason to enter a room. We reject the
suggestion that the defrauded purchaser of a company is presumed to
be on notice of everything in the company's files, so that the statute of
limitation begins to run at the moment of the acquisition.

Id. at 1335.11 See also Pirelli Armstrong Tire Corporation, Retiree Medical Benefits Trust v.

Walgreen Co., 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 77648, *19 - *20 (N.D. Ill. 2009) (holding that "Pirelli's

mere possession of its [own] payment records [showing the alleged fraudulent prescription -

filling practices of Walgreen's] is not alone sufficient to start the statute of limitations," and

that "[t]here must also be some suspicious circumstance that would alert Pirelli to Walgreens'

potentially fraudulent conduct "); Thompson v. Butler, 2013 Ohio App. LEXIS 957, *22 -*23

(Ohio App. 2013) ( "evidence of a suspected breach of duty ... should not usually be deemed

IIOf course, the converse is also true. Once a potential plaintiff suspects that he has a claim against another
person, he must show his due diligence in discovering the existence of a cause of action, in order to defer the
miming of the statute of limitations. See Aetna Casualty & Surety Company v. Fernandez, 830 F.2d 952, 956 (8th
Cir. 1987) (holding that Aetna's subrogation claim against an individual allegedly involved in a collusive pricing
scheme which caused a loss to the insured was time - barred under the discovery rule because, upon learning that
the individual was a suspect in the scheme, Aetna should have undertaken "a review of available documentary
evidence in [the insured's] records" in order to demonstrate its due diligence in determining whether it had a basis
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`discovered' for starting the running of the statute of limitations" if, inter alia, "it is buried in

voluminous documents" or "require[s] a degree in financial economics or accounting to

understand ") (concurring opinion).

In his April 7, 2014 declaration attached to United's opposition to Hamed's summary

judgment motion, Fathi Yusuf asserts that Hamed's tax returns never came into United's

possession until 2011, when the FBI returned, via hard drive, a small part of the documents it

had seized or otherwise obtained in connection with the Criminal Case, and Hamed tax returns

were among those documents in that hard drive. Yusuf Declaration, ¶¶ 2, 8. Yusuf did not

suspect Waheed of misappropriation before he reviewed his tax returns that happened to be on

that hard drive, and he had no reason to ask his criminal attorney to try to obtain those returns

beforehand.12 And without having reasonable ground for suspicion, United and Yusuf cannot

be presumed to have knowledge of these documents, even assuming arguendo that United had

access to them.

The upshot is that if this Court had any basis for finding that the Government provided

full and complete access to documents, it was error to impute to United knowledge of any

documents tending to show wrongdoing by Hamed, even before Mr. Yusuf formed any

suspicion of Hamed's conversions and breaches of fiduciary duty and thus had any reason to

look for documents to confirm the truth of those suspicions.13

for a lawsuit).

12 A declaration filed by Mr. Yusuf in a case pending before the Honorable Douglas A. Brady, Mohammed Hamed
v. United Corporation, et al., (case no. STX -12 -CV -370), confirms that he had no suspicion of wrongdoing by any
members of the Hamed family until he reviewed those documents. See Exhibit M, ¶ 8. Mohammed Hamed is
seeking to use this Court's September 2, 2014 ruling to foreclose United's recovery on claims that are part of its
counterclaim in the case before Judge Brady.

13To resist a motion for summary judgment based on the statute of limitations, a party who relies on equitable
tolling need only "alleg[e] acts that, taken as alleged, could persuade a court to activate the doctrine of equitable
tolling." Meyer v. Riegel Products Corporation, 720 F.2d 303, 308 (3d Cir. 1983). As this Court observed in its
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III. The June 24, 2013 Opinion and Order Granting Partial Dismissal on the
Pleadings Should Also be Reconsidered.

If the Court grants reconsideration of its Opinion and Order, and vacates that final

order, United requests that it take a second look at the June 24, 2013 Opinion and Order, which

is based, at least in part, on a document access finding that is different from that of the

September 2 Order, but in United's view equally untenable. If the September 2 Order is

vacated, then the June 24 Order will be restored to the status of an interlocutory order entered

before final judgment and it is well -settled that so long as a "court has jurisdiction over the

case, it possesses inherent power over interlocutory orders, and can reconsider them when it is

consonant with justice to do so." Anthanassious v. Palmer, 2011 U.S. App. LEXIS 5733, *9

(3d Cir. 2011). This inherent power to reconsider an interlocutory order is governed by a more

lenient standard than the Rule 59(e) standard quoted above, in Section I of this brief. Thus,

when relying on its inherent power to reconsider an interlocutory order, "a trial judge has the

discretion to reconsider an issue and should exercise that discretion whenever it appears that a

previous ruling, even if unambiguous, might lead to an unjust result." Id. at *9. See also Fye

v. Oklahoma Corporation Commission, 516 F.3d 1217, 1224, n.2 (10th Cir. 2008) (court

exercising its "general discretionary authority to review and revise interlocutory rulings prior to

entry of final judgment" is "not bound by the strict standards for altering or amending a

judgment encompassed in Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 59(e) ").

Opinion at pages 7 -8, the discovery rule and the equitable tolling doctrines both incorporate a "reasonable
diligence" element. As such, the rule quoted from the Meyer case would also apply to a party who is relying on
the discovery rule to defeat a Rule 56 limitations motion. Here, United has satisfied this burden with respect to
both the discovery rule and the doctrine of equitable tolling. Equitable tolling also applies because the Criminal
Case and the document access denials qualify as "exceptional circumstances" that delayed discovery and
prosecution of the claim. See Oshiver v. Levin, Fishbein, Sedran & Berman, 38 F.3d 1380, 1387 (3d Cir. 1994).
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It is important to recognize that the discovery rule and equitable tolling issues are rarely

resolved at the pleadings stage, especially in light of the "exercise reasonable diligence"

component of both doctrines, which is almost always a fact -intensive issue. See, e.g., Drennen

v. PNC Bank National Association, 622 F.3d 275, 301 (3d Cir. 2010) ( "the applicability of

equitable tolling depends on matters outside the pleadings, so it is rarely appropriate to grant a .

. . motion to dismiss (where review is limited to the complaint) if equitable tolling is at issue ")

(citation and internal quotation marks omitted); Permobil, Inc. v. GMRI, Inc., 2010 U.S. Dist.

LEXIS 120316, p. *7 (M.D. Tenn. 2010) ( "Given Tennessee's reasonableness standard for its

discovery rule, the Court concludes that this issue cannot be resolved on a motion for judgment

on the pleadings "); Nichols v. First American Title Insurance Company, 2013 U.S. Dist.

LEXIS 30193, p. *6 (D. Az. 2013) ( "[t]he discovery rule, like the doctrine of equitable tolling,

often depends on matters outside the pleadings and thus cannot usually be resolved on a

12(b)(6) motion to dismiss ") (citation and internal quotation mark omitted); Ballard v. National

City Mortgage Co., 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1834, p. *2 (E.D. Pa. 2005) ( "whether the equitable

tolling doctrine applies cannot be decided on the pleadings," and whether the "discovery rule

applies" is likewise "a matter for further factual development "); Bearse v. Main Street

Investments, 220 F. Supp. 2d 1338, 1345 (M.D. Fl. 2002) (the question of "when the plaintiff,

exercising due diligence, reasonably should have learned about the facts giving rise to the fraud

claim" is "a question for the jury" that cannot be resolved at the pleading stage); Reed v.

Vickery, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 102151, p. *10 (S.D. Ohio 2009) ( "[w]hether the [plaintiffs]

should have discovered this failure to disclose at an earlier date is an issue of fact which cannot

be resolved on a motion to dismiss or for judgment on the pleadings ").
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In its June 24 Opinion dismissing in part United's claims, the Court departed from the

strong presumption against deciding discovery rule and equitable tolling issues at the pleadings

stage. The Court articulated two grounds for its decision to go against that presumption and

dismiss all claims to the extent they rely on a $70,000 conversion. First, it suggested that

United had "access to its own accounting and other record -keeping files, a review of which

might have revealed Defendant's alleged conduct." Court's 6/24/13 Opinion at 8, n.31. The

Court then went on to say that "[e]ven if the Government had confiscated Plaintiffs business

records, an objectively reasonable individual would have retained copies, particularly if an

indictment was pending, and have inquired into the wrongdoing suggested by the September 9,

2004 third superseding indictment." Id. The Court then concluded, "Thus, Plaintiffs argument

that Plaintiff did not have access to the documents to discover Defendants' misconduct is

without merit." Id.

Next, the Court found that the Third Superseding Indictment alleged that Hamed and

others "used cashier's checks and other methods to conceal illegal money transfers abroad ...,"

Opinion at 8, and that this "would have at least put a reasonable person in Plaintiff's position. .

.on notice that Defendant may have engaged in some wrongful activity regarding the use of

cashier's checks" to steal money from United. Id. at 8.

With respect to the Court's suggestion that United should, in the exercise of reasonable

diligence, have retained copies of all documents that the FBI seized, this was simply not

possible. The original documents were seized in a raid, without notice, pursuant to the

Government's ex parte search warrants, and no opportunity was given to the targets of those

warrants to make copies of originals before the FBI seized and removed them.

As for the allegations of the criminal indictment that Waheed and other members of the
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Hamed and Yusuf families were engaged in a conspiracy to underpay gross receipts taxes by,

inter alia, causing cashier's checks to be issued from unreported cash income of the grocery

store businesses so as to disguise the source of that money, it hardly follows that this tax

evasion activity alleged to have been undertaken collectively by the defendants (including

United and Waheed) would have put United on notice that Waheed might also be using

cashier's checks to conceal separate unauthorized conversions to his own benefit of cash from

grocery store safes.14 The indictment alleges in Count I a conspiracy by United and Waheed,

among others, to defraud the Virgin Islands government of gross receipts taxes and alleges, in

paragraph 15, that Waheed and three other individual members of the alleged conspiracy

purchased cashier's checks made payable to third parties in furtherance of that scheme. Why

would an indictment alleging that United, Waheed and others acted in concert to evade

United's gross receipts taxes put United on notice that Waheed might be stealing from it? The

Court suggests that both the alleged collective acts in furtherance of the underreporting of

United's gross receipts taxes and United's allegations in the instant case regarding Waheed's

unauthorized taking of cash from it share a common method of concealment of the wrongful

act - namely, cashier's checks written to third parties. But it hardly follows from this shared

element of the two sets of allegations that once the indictment against United and others was

14Burton v. First Bank of Puerto Rico, 49 V.I. 16 (2007), which is cited in the Court's June 24 Opinion at page 3,
footnote 10, is one of those rare cases in which the plaintiff's complaint contained allegations showing when the
plaintiff's claim accrued under the discovery rule, thereby permitting a ruling at the pleadings stage dismissing the
suit on limitations grounds. In Burton, the Plaintiff claimed that her bank failed to credit her account for a deposit
of an insurance check for $18,686 that she allegedly endorsed over to the bank in 1996. The plaintiff admitted in
her complaint that she received a statement from the defendant Bank that she believed to be "incorrect" because it
"did not reflect the large payment that she had made the previous month." Id. at 22. Thus, in her own pleadings,
plaintiff admitted to receiving written notice of the very act which eight years later became the subject of her
negligence and breach of contract lawsuit. The Superior Court held that plaintiff's receipt of the bank statement
put her on notice of a potential claim against the Bank, and her failure to make diligent inquiry thereafter triggered
the running of the statute of limitations. Here, of course, United did not allege (and there is no basis for alleging)
in its Complaint that Hamed sent United written notice that he had taken $70,000 in cash from United, and Burton
is therefore readily distinguishable on its facts.
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brought, United would necessarily be put on notice of its own claims against Waheed for

stealing from it. The argument in this form is a non sequitur, and cannot be a proper ground for

dismissing a complaint on limitations grounds on a motion for judgment on the pleadings.

CONCLUSION AND RELIEF REQUESTED

For all of the foregoing reasons, United Corporation respectfully requests this

Honorable Court to grant its Motion for Reconsideration and to Alter or Amend Judgment.

Respectfully_su bm fitted

DATED: September 29, 2014 By:
Niza A. DeWood, Esq. (V.I. Bar No. 1177)
The DeWood Law Firm
2006 Eastern Suburbs, Suite 101
Christiansted, VI 00830
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Telefax: (888) 398 -8428
Email: info(&,,dewood- law.com

Attorneys for United Corporation
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' IN THE DISTRICT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST CROIX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

Plaintiffs,

vs.

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF,
aka Fathi Yusuf

WALEED MOHAMMAD NAME
aka Wally Hamed

WAHEED MOHOMMAD HAMED,
aka Willie flamed

MAHER FATHI YUSUF
aka Mike Yusuf

NEJEH FATHI YUSUF and

UNITED CORPORATION,
dba Plaza Extra

Defendants.

CRIMINAL NO. 2005-15F0E

{ DÄNTS''MOTION`FOR SPECi IC RELIEF DUE TO THE GOVERNMENT'S
ZTRUCTION OF THE INTEGRITY, ORGANIZATION AND SOURCING OF

MATERIAL EVIDENCE

THE DEFENDANTS, by and through their respective: counsel, .respectfully request that

the Court enter an Order granting relief to the Defendants for harm caused by the government's

Willful and knowing destruction and alteration: of the integrity, organization and sourcing of
.y,

selected impeachment and exculpatory evidence. As a direct consequence of the Government's

actions, the organization and control of certain material documents has been severely

EXHIBIT
b

A
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compromised such that (1) Defendants can no longer establish the source and authenticity of the

documents; (2) Defendants can no longer determine whether and to what extent any exculpatory

or impeaching documents have been removed or destroyed; and (3) Defendants cannot trace or

identify individuals who :created such documents, had access to the documents, used the

documents, or relied or should have relied on such documents. In short, the Government,

through its latowing acid deliberate actions; of its Agents, has ;created a cloud of credibility on

certain documents' in this case, while those same Agents: took deliberate actions to preserve and

maintain the highest level of integrity and :organization for documents it intended to use at trial.

THE DEFENDANTS request that the Court, in its discretion, (1) dismiss the Third

Superseding Indictment in its entirety; (2) suppress all evidence seized and currently retained by

the Government; (3) adopt appropriate .evidentiary rulings as to the authenticity, sources, and

weight Of the subject documents; (4) adopt appropriate ;jury instructions explaining the

Government's actions: and detailing; the appropriate' factual and evidentiary inferences: the jurors

should make as a result of the government's actions; (5) order that the Government compensate

the. Defendants for all attorneys' and expert fees incurred as a result of the Government's actions;

(6) order the Government to return the Defendants' documents and/or (7) grant any additional or

alternative relief that the Court, in its discretion, deems appropriate..

IN SUPPORT THEREOF, the Defendants show unto the Court as follows:

I. Case Background and Chronology of the Government's Seizure and Retention of the
Defendants' Property.

1 This matter is before the . Court on a' 78 -count Third Superseding Indictment under which

the Government charges Defendants with various tax :related offenses. Many of those

offenses involve allegations of conspiracy and money laundering which require the

Government to proffer evidence in the negative (for example, the Government seeks to
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establish that the Defendants concealed information: from other individuals and:: entities).

The initial Indictment in this matter was handed down in September of 2003.

2. In coordinated raids on the six Defendants' various businesses and homes in October of

2001, the Government seized substantially all of the Defendants' business, financial and

personal records Since that date, the Government has ,.retained hundreds of boxes of

Defendants' property for use in this case.:

3.. In the course of its subsequent investigation and case development, the Government

solicited and procured Defendants' documents from a variety of other*hi.rd party sources.

Among the third parties from whom the Government solicited Defendants' documents

are the Defendants' financial institutions, outside accounting, firms, family members, and

various foreign governments. All told, the Government procured more than five hundred

banker boxes of the Defendants' documents from these and other sources. Many of the

documents procured by the Governinent are originale..

4. The Government organized the voluminous documents and recorded their various sources

by boxes numbered and bar coded to correspond with the various locations from which

the Agents removed the documents. The specificity of the source description. would vary,

as the Government would describe sources as specific'` rooms or offices, file cabinets or

desk drawers. The 'corresponding box numbers and bar cades were accompanied by a

very general description of the _ documents contained therein. `>The Government did not

identify or log each specific documents seized

5. Since the raids; of October 2001, the Government has returned some of the boxes of

seized property to the Defendants, but the remaining relevant documents have been

retained in the FBI offices in St. Thomas, USW.
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6. Upon informätien and belief, the Government began the process of bates numbering only

certain-documents within the boxes _ documents it intended to use in its ease in chief at

trial. The bates numbering contained prefixes that were indexed to the numbers and bar

codes on the boxes: However, the Government continued this project sporadically and

eventually abandoned the effort due to lack of funding. Consequently, some of the

Defendants' documents: held by the Government are bates numbered, but a > significant

number are not

7. To 8ummanze, All of the documents the government intends to use at trial are bates

nurubered using the "bar coded system and the vast number of remaining documents,

lgcely having significant relevance to the defense, are not bates numbered.

8. The Government never provided the Defendants with adetailed inventory of the specific

documents .seized.. Upon information and belief, such inventory does not exist.

Consequently, 'given the large volume. of records the Defendants maintained, the

Defendants cannot identify the specific documents the Government seized, in October of

2001.

9. The Government continues to hold`Defendants':documentary evidence at the FBI offices

on St. Thomas, permitting the Defendants only limited supervised review of the evidence.

10. During their initial review of the documents at the FBI offices in St." Thomas, the defense

team prepared a general inventory of the groupings of documents held in the boxes, and

scanned as many of tine pertinent documents as possible..

11. In the seven years since the October 2001 raids, the Government has periodically

returned boxes of documents to their owners that it deemed not pertinent to the subject



Case: 1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB Document #: 1038 Filed: 02/05/09 Page 5 of 25

case. The Government identified and logged the boxes returned, and required the owners

to sign a documentaclmoWledging receipt of the documents..

12. This protocol implies that the Government deemed the documents it chose to retain to be

pertinent to the issues in thi' case. It also illustrates that the Government continually

preserved and identified the documents by reference to the box numbers. It is in the

context of such avvareness that the Government Agents rearranged the documents among

the boxes..

13. The defense team's last permitted visit to the FBI offices was in 2006. From. that time

until November of 2008, the Government denied the Defendants access to their

documents despite numerous requests In November of 2008, Government counsel

agreed to allow the defense team to view the documents. The document review was

scheduled for November 10, 12, 13 and 14, 2008.

11; Defense Team's Discovery of Spoliation

14. On the defense team's November 10, 2008 discovery visit to the St. Thomas FBI offices,

FBI Special Agent Christine Zieba initially denied the team access to the records

According to Ms. Zieba, the defense must now submit a detailed list of specific,

documents they wished to view, and she would produce the specific documents for

review. -Ati the defense team would soon learn, case Fi3I Agent Thomas Petri and

testifying IRS Agent Javier Bell traveled to the Virgin IsltUids from their United States

Pines of Duty to monitor the documents requested and observe the defense team's

review of the documents.
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15. Defense counsel Randall Andreozzi asked Ms. Zieba to explain why the defense team

was suddenly being denied the access and ability to review and examine the Defendants'

own documents in a manner that was inconsistent with the prior discovery visits.

16. Without explanation, Ms. Zieba advised that prior protocol would no longer be possible.

She directed the defense team to leave and return on Wednesday, November 12, 2008, to

discuss the matter with Department of Justice attorney Lori Hendrickson.

17. On November 12, 2008, the defense team returned to the FBI offices and was, greeted by

several Government representatives, including 'FBI ease Agent Thomas Petri, IRS case

Agent Javier Bell, and newly-assigned case Agent Christine Zieba. Department of

Justice Counsel Lori Hendrickson was also in attendance. As the Court is avtare, Agents

Bell and Petri were involved in this ease at the search warrant stage. They advised that

they will also be working on the trial of the case.

18.Ms Hendrickson explained that Agents Petri and Bell were detailed from their United

States Places of Duty so that they could monitor the defen.se team's document review.

She outlined new procedures that she would enforce for the Defendants' review of their

own documents. As part of that procedure, the defense team would only be permitted to

review one box at a tune, only one person would be allowed to touch the documents; and

the Government agents - not defense counsel -- would decide which boxes the team

*odd be permitted to review.

19, When the defense team demanded im explanadon, Ms. Hendrickson stated that she

implemented Ethes..e new procedures to ensure the IntegtitY of the documents as the

Government maintained them.
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20. With little alternative, the defense team agreed to proceed under this protocol so long as it

proved feasible to an effective and efficient review of the documents. Defense counsel

Randall Andreozzi stated, however, that the defense could not agree to allow Agents Petri

and Bell, and Attorney Hendrickson, to monitor the team's review of the defendants'

documents. As a compromise, the team agreed to limit the number of individuals who

would review the documents at any one time. Ms. Hendrickson agreed to this stipulation.

21,. The- first box the Government provided for the defense team's review was FBI box

number 131., Upon review of the contents of Box 131, the defense team immediately

recognized that the current contents of the box did not match the general, summary

inventory the defense had prepared during its previous document reviews. Box 131 now

contained groups of documents that were not identifi.ed in the defense's inventory of Box

131, including, inter aria, documents with the bates prefix 295. By reference to its

stonnUtry index, the defense team confirmed that these documents were originally stored

in Box 295.

22. Defense counsel, Andreozzi asked Ms. Zieba why documents with bates prefixes 295

were contained. in box 131.

23. It was then that Ms. Zieba informed the defense team that she had reorganized and

rearranged the Defendants',docurnents by removing some documents from their original

boxetattkplacing them in different bow:Ause the revised organization better suited

her needs. She refused to explain the revised organizational method.

24:Mr. Anclreozzi explained to Ms. Zieba that the FI3I represented to the defense team

during the initial document review sessions that the box numbers corresponded to the

various sources from which the documents were seized or otherwise procured. Because
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the FBI chose to bates number only some of the documents, the only way for the defense

team to track the sources of the non -bates stamped documents even generally was by box

number.

25. Mr. Andreozzi asked, "So if we were to look through Box 200, for example, and refer to

index, match?" Ms. Zieba confirmed that this' wasour urdex, the ;contents of the box would not match?

coifeet; -- the :doeuments would no longer match either the Defendants' index or the

Government's original index She explained, "I had no idea the defense relied on the

«der of these documents to particular boxes. I rearranged them :how I was doing ahem

and what .made sense to rm."

26.IvIr..A,ndreozzi asked M& Zieba if, in light of this development, it would be possible to

determine. (1) whether and to what extent documents were removedfrom the boxes, (2)

whether and to what extent documents have been rearranged among the boxes; or (3)

what sources #lie specñedocuments were procured from

27, Ms, Zieba ref' used to, answer the questions. She repeated that she had _no`.idea the defense

or the FBI relied on the box numbers as the identifying factor in indexing and arranging

the documents, or as a reference as to the sources of the documents. She .elated;that any

other qùestions: should be addressed to Attorney Hendrickson.

28 Attorney Hendrickson returned to the office with Agent Petri. Both were apprised of the

issue.

29. Agent Petri at first responded by accusing the defense team of misplacing.the documents

in Box 131. 11e asserted that, during; the defense team's initial: review of the boxes,*

and his colleagues would review the boxes after each examination to make sure that the;

defense teatn did not disturb the integrity of the FBI's organization of the documents.;
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Agent Petri claimed that on some occasions he found documents misplaced and ha d to

replace them in correct order in the boxes. He stated; "This is why we have to have an

agent watch you."

30. Mr. Andreozil then posed the ;question: "If there was integrity to the ;order. ,of the

documents in their respective boxes, and Agent Zieba just informed us that she

rearranged the documents and boxes, why will the FBI not provide '' us with the

methodology for her reorganization?" Mr. Petri then turned and confronted Ms: Zieba:

"You reorganized the boxes.? l" Af that point, Mr. Petri stated that he would not discuss

the issue anyfurther.

31. Mr. Andreozzi advised Attorney Hendrickson that, in order to evaluate the extent of the

harm caused, the defense 'team , would :need to select and =review 'specific boxes of

documents, and .could no longer rely on the. Government's discretion in selecting the

boxes for review. Attorney <Hendrickson tentatively agreed to this, but asked that the

group. adjourn for lunch and ,return 'in the afternoon to continue its review.

32.Onthe afternoon of November 12, 2008, the defense team returned to the FBI offices to

continue its review of boxes. The team noted. the presence of Agents Bell and .Petri. Ms.

Zieba stated that the Agents would not observe the team's document review but would

remain in the storage room where the boxes were maintained.

33. The team ;provided Ms. Zieba with a list of six numbered boxes to review. Ms. Zieba

produced one box and two redwell folders. One redwell was labeled "161. formerly" and

contained only approximately ten documents, The other was labeled '428" and

contained only a few manila folders of documents. Mr. Andreozzi advised Ms. Zieba

that the numbers 161 and 428 had been associated with 'actual boxes, He asked why she
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now ;produced redwell . folders and why one was labeled "161 formerly". Ms. Zieba

would only repeat That the documents are no longer intheir original order.

34. Ms. Zieba refused to produce three of the boxes requested. She stated that, pursuant to

Attorney Hendrickson's instructions, 'Tor today I: will just keep pulling boxes randomly

because I don't have them organized the way you have them organized."

35. The team: requested ;access to the storage roost to view the current manner in which the

boxes were being maintained. Ms. Zieba refused access and directed all questions to Ms.

Hendrickson.

36. Upon Ms. Hendrickson's return to the office, Mr. Andreozzi. the afternoon's

events and the defense team's concerns regarding the integrity of the documents. Ms.

Hendrickson responded by stating, "What's done is done."

37. Mr. Andreozzi insisted that, in light of the circumstances, the team be allowed to review

all of the boxes in numerical order to determine the extent oftáe harm. Ms. Hendrickson

agreed, but ;asked that the -:defense 'team leave for the 'day to .allow her to "prepare" the

boxes for viewing.. She stated that, if the team allowed the prosecution team to start

working now, they could have the first fifty or so boxes "ready ' for review by the next

morning.

ß. Mr. Andreozzi again, expressed concern, and asked what_ Ms.: Hendrickson meant by

"prepare" the documents for review. Ms. Hendrickson: refused to answer the question

and asked again that the team leave for the day.

39. The next morning, NovdrL 3, 2008, Ms. Hendrickson advised Mr. Andreozzi that she

had occasion to work with and review the documentsnntil 8 p.m, the prior evenm'g : She

confirmed that the FBI Agents did in fact reorganize and remove documents from the

10
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boxes since the defense team's last review of the documents. M. Hendrickson explained

that, as best she can determine, the following occurred:

a.. The. Special Agents removed the documents they intended to use at trial and

pla.cedthem in trial binders. They used the originals, and no copies' were replaced

in the;origitt. al boxes.

b. The Special Agents returned some documents, to the Defendants at various points

in time. Ms. Hendrickson claims that some items and doetmaents returned were

pulled from boxes and returned to the defendants (rather than entire boxes being

returned intact), but she cannot identify the specific items or documents returned.

C. As for the boxes of documents that the FBI retained and did not place into exhibit

folders for trial, the Agents 'removed and reorganized file documents contained in

those boxes in various ways, withosit employing any method to track the original

source of,the documents. For -example, the Agents may have grouped all bank

statements together so that they no -longer maintained the statements in the

original boxes based on their sources. As a result, neither the source nor the

authenticity of-the various docAnzttnts can be determined. Nor can one determine

whether or to what extent documents may have been removed from the boxes.

4A Ms, Hendrickson explained this was the best she c,ould do under the circumstances, and

repeated that, "What's done is done."

41. Thus, the Government knowingly and willfully reorganized the documents, but did so

only after it inetieulou.sly identified and preserved the integrity and chain of custody of

the specific documents they intend to rely on at trial.
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42. The defense team continued to review the boxes in numerical order during the time

remaining on November. j3 14, 2008, to determine the extent of the damage Calmed

by the Government's actions. Of the boxes the team was able to review during that time,

the team continued to discover misplaced and missing documents.

43:The defense team returned to the FBI offices on january 26, 2009 and continued its

document review through January 29, 2009. AgelAs Petri and Bell returned to St

Thomas from their United States Places of Duty to monitor the review with Agent Zieba.

44. Attorney Hendrickson was not present In a telephone conversation with Randall

Andreozzi Mr. Andreozziadvised Ms. Hendrickson that the defense planned to continue

to leview the boxes in numerical order from where it left off in November. He asked Ms.

Hendrickson whether the Government Agents had re,organized the documents since the

defense team's last review. Ms. Hendrickson informed Mr. Andreozzi that the

Government had -not reorganized the documents she hie defense team last reviewed

them in/ND:member 2008: She refused to comment on whether the Agents did anything to

affect the integrity of the boxes of documents the defense' team had yet to review.

45. At various points during the course of the document review, Mr. Petri informed the

defense team that they were misinformed if they believed the documents seized and

maintained by the government belonged to the defendants Mt Petri stated that the

documents belonged, to' the Govenmlent, and that he would do with thorn as he pleased.

He informed the team that he and other Agents rearranged and removed documents from

the boxes and that the Agents were within their rights to do so.

12
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46. Mr. Petri also stated that he selected certain documents in the various boxes to be bates

stamped based on whether the Government intended to use them at trial. This is how he

determined whieh documents got bates stamped and which did not,

47. Mr. Andreozzi asked Mr. Petti whether he would return the documents that the

Government did not intend to use attii&t Mr. Petri refused, gating that the remaining

documents were nonetheless relevant to the case.

48. The team concluded its review of the integrity of the boxes on January 29, 2009, and

continued to find that some boxes were entirely missing, some boxes were re-numbered,

and numerous documents (most non-bates stamped) identified in the defense team's

initial inventory were now missing from the boxes. The team also observed that several

boxes now bore numbers that the Government previously identified as having been

returned to the Defendants in 2006,

III. Consequences of the Government's Actions

49. The Government seized and then held the Defendants' documents for seven years.

Before shuffling and rearranging the documents it held, the Government prepared its case

for trial. 'The FI3I Agents bates stamped the documents the: Government intended to use

to suiTort its ca.se. They carefully and meticulously removed each and every document

the prosecutors identified for use at trial, encased each document in a plastic binding,

organized it in an iyidentiaiy file, and identified its source by inserting FBI evidence

return documents as placeholders for the original documents in the source Exhibit boxes.

Through this process, the Government endeavored to ensure the integrity, sourcing and

authenticity of the documents, thereby protecting its ability to establish the admissibility

and probative value of each document it intends to use at -trial to support its case.

13
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50. With respect to the remaining doctunents, instead of returning them to the Defendants,

the Government kept them and willfully proceeded to reorganize and shuffle them.

Because most of these documents are not bates stamped, they cannot be returned to their

original boxes.

51. The Government could have returned these documents to the Defendants, hr fact, the

Government has returned some boxes of documents to the Defendants, presumably on the

presumption that such documents were not pertinent to the case Yet, the Government

has affirmatively elected to retain the remaining documents and then to shuffle and

reorganize them.

52. The Defendants and the Court may never know all of the documents that may have been

lost or destroyed by the Government's conduct. .However, some aspects of the hann

caused am be articulated and evaluated with some specilcity:

& The defense can no' longer establish or contest the authenticity of the non-bates

stamped documents.

b. The defense can no longer establish or contest the source of the non-bates

stamped documents,

C. The Defendants have been completely deprived of their ability to cross-examine

the government's witnesses at trial with respect to any of the non-bates stamped

documents, thus seriously impairing their Sixth Amendment rights.

cl. Defendants can no longer establish or contest whether any particular individual

had access to a particular non-bates stamped document, challenge a witnesses'

knowledge of the contents of or existence of a particular document, or question

their reliance on a particular documents The resulting harm is infinite.
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e. The Defendants can no longer establish or contest whether all documents

pertinent to this case are accounted for. Therefore, admission of any; single item

of evidence may violate the rule of completencs8.

f Defendants can no longer determine Whether certain documents may have been

procured by the Government solely through improper means (see, for example,

Defendants' motion regarding foreign bank records) or whether such documents

may have been procured from other proper sources or means. Further, now that

the source of the documents is undeterminable, the Defendants may lose the

ability to invoke the protection of the attorney- client privilege with respect to

privileged communications seized from their offices.

53: These issues represent only some of the potential harm caused by the Government's

actions.

IF! Argument and Grounds for Relief

54 Trie events recited above illústrate that the Government intentionally seized possession of

the Defendants' property aiid painstalaingly preserved the integrity of select portions of

that property that it intended to use at trial to support its case.; Instead of returning the

rest of the Defendants' . property to them, it kept it, and then knowingly and willfully

manipulated the organization of ` those documents. In this manner, the Government

-irreparably compromised the integrity Of documents it knew to be relevant to the case but

not favorable; to its case in chief. Since most of these documents are not bates stamped,

the damage caused by the Government cannot be remedied by any reasonably available

means.

15
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55. These actions are simply a continuation of the consistent and methodical bad faith

exhibited by the government throughout this case as illustrated to the Court in the

various pending and resolved motions, all of which the Defendants incorporate herein by

reference.

56. Government counsel and Agents acknowledge what has occurred, and respond only with

the statement, "What's done is done."

57, As enumerated herein, the Government's actions severely impair the Defendants' ability

to defend against the Indictment, therebydepriving.the Defendants of their Constitutional

right to due process of law.

58. In United Medical: Supply Company, Inc, v United States, 77 :Fed. CL 257 (1997), the

Court of Claims stressed the importance of preserving the integrity of : documentary

evidence:

Aside perhaps from perjury, no act serves to threaten the integrity of the
judicial process more than the spoliation of evidence. Our adversarial
process is designed to tolerate human failings - erring judges can be
reversed, uncooperative counsel can be shepherded, and recalcitrant
witnesses compelled to testify. But, when critical documents go missing,
judges and litigants alike descend into a world of ad hocery and half
measures - and our civil justice system suffers.... To guard against this,
each party in litigation is solemnly bound to preserve potentially relevant
evidence.

59. In criminal matters, the Government has a duty under the Due Process clause to preserve

exculpatory evidence the admissibility and probative value of which cannot be replicated

by other reasonably available means. California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479 (1984)). If

the Government, in bad faith, fails in this regard, it has violated the Defendant's

constitutional due process rights. Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51 (1988). See also

16
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Griffin v. Sprott, 969 F.2d 16 (3d Cir. 1992); accord Brady v Maryland, 373 U.S. 83

(1963).

60.1n civil 'cases, an independent duty to preserve evidence 'arises when the party in

possession of the evidence that litigation by the party searing the evidence is

pending or probable and the party in possession of the evidence can foresee the harm or

prejudice that would be caused to the party seeking the evidence if the evidence were to

be discarded, See Ioe. Hard Promotions v Sports Page Cam, 940 F. Supp. 102, 104 n13

(D.NJ. 1996); see atsoBaliotis y. McNeil, 870 F. Supp. 1285, 1290 (M.D;Pa. 1994). It is

well recognized that tax evasion cases are inherently civil in nature. The prosecution

must prove willful violation of the civil statute before a defendant can be held criminally

liable for. tax evasion. See Sansone v.. United States 380 U.S. 343 (1965) Consequently,

the Government in such a case has the duty to follow both the civil: and criminal

standards of evidence preservation

61. Federal 'courts have recognized that a constitutional mandate against suppression of

evidence imposes a duty upon prosecutors to instruct' agencies to preserve evidence. See,

e.g., United States v Henriquez, 731 F.2d 13.1, 137.38 (2d Cir. 1984):

The government has long been on notice of its duty to preserve
discoverable evidence and has been repeatedly warned of the jeopardy in
which it places its prosecutions when it disregards this obligation....
Where, as here, destruction is deliberate, sanctions will normally follow,
irrespective of the perpetrator's motivation, unless the Government "can
bear the heavy burden of demonstrating that no prejudice resulted to the
defendant."

(citing and quoting, inter alla, United States v. Grammatikos, 633 F.24 1013,
1019 (2d Cir. 1980)

62. In United States v. yevalp,r, 419 F. Supp. 2d 242;'(N D.N Y. 2006),. the District for

the Northern District of New York held the Government's destruction of evidence must

17
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be remedied by the exclusion of the evidence, and subsequently dismissed the case. The

Court admonished the `prosecutor for failing to meet its affirmative duty to preserve

evidence.

63. The Government's duty "covers not only exculpatory material, but also information that

could be used to impeach a key government witness." United States v. Coppa, 267 F.3d

132,135 (2d Cir 2001) (citing Giglio v United States, 405 U.S. 150, 154, (1972)).:

64. In the instant case, ,Goverrunent seized the exculpatory evidence from the Defendants'

possession. In doing so, the Government took on a duty to preserve the evidence in its

custody. The question of whether' shuffling and removing documents from the boxes

would prejudice the Defendants was not within the Government's authority to evaluate.

The seizure warrants merely ,gave the Government authority to retain . temporary

possession of did

destruction of the organization, integrity and sourcing of the evidence.

6S.. At a minimum the Government has a duty to follow its own procedures for preserving

evidence. Cf. :California V. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479 (1984)) (holding no bad faith were

the Government's actions were In accord with its normal practice and procedures). Such

is<not the ease here.

66. The Internal Revenue Services Criminal Investigation Manual sets forth the following

procedure to employ in impleMentmg search warrants:

I.R.M. 9.4.9.3.6 Post Operation Search Warrant Procedures

1. Following the execution of the search warrant, the special agent,
pursuant to Fcd. R. Crim. P. R 41, will return the search warrant, with
an inventory of the items seized, to the issuing magistrate. This return
must be done within 10 -days of executing the search warrant.

2. The special agent (team leader) will also prepare the Post Enforcement
Operation Summarx Form, (Exhibit 9.4.9 -3), for each search warrant

18
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site, as soon as possible. This form is mandatory for all CI search
warrants, not just tax, or tax- related search warrants.

3. Criminal Tax Counsel will be provided with a copy of the inventory to
conduct a post search warrant inventory review for all search warrants
obtained in Title 26 and tax- related Title 18 investigations. Criminal
Tax Counsel will not conduct an inventory review for search warrants .
obtained in pure money laundering investigations.

4. A copy of the inventory will be given to the local AFC to ensure that
required items are identified and properly inventoried on the Asset
Forfeiture Tracking and Retrieval System (AFTRAK).

I.R.M. 9.4.9.3.6.1 Preserving the Chin of Custody

I. in order to preserve, in its original condition, all evidentiary material
that may be offered into evidence, seized material such as records,
recordings, videotapes, document, and other physical objects should be
tracked so the custody and control of the evidence can be documented
at all times....

67. The referenced Manual provisions admonish Special Agents: to maintain the chaia of

custody and integrity of documents procured via search -- warrants. Agency policy

mandates that Agents return seized items as quickly as possible and secure receipts for all

returned items.

68. In the context of explaining the protocol for the defense team's review of the documents,

the FBI Agents and prosecutor Hendrickson ,expressed their understanding of the .

i :1 ce of maintaining the organizational integrity of the documents seized.

69. The Agents never compiled. an :inventory of the specific items and documents seized in

the October 2001 laid. Instead, they merely summarized documents they arranged fix the

various numbered boxes. They then destroyed the ° integrity of even this system by

shuffling and rearranging documents.;

70. Rather thaza promptly copying and returning the documents to the rightful: ówneis, the

Government deliberately held the property for more than seven years. It should have
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returned the documents to the rightful owners as mandated by its internal protocol, but

chose not to. It elected to retain the documents, and then proceeded to shuffle and

rearrange them so as to destroy their integrity, organization and sourcing.

71. The Government Agent's and Counsel selectively followed this protocol when it suited

their purpose, and ignored it when it did not. This demonstrates the government

knowingly and delibemtely violated its duty to preserve the subject evidence

72 .During the November document review, the Government presented the boxes of

documents to the defense team wit/rota revealing that the FBI Agents rearranged them.

The nil Agent did not reveal that she rearranged the documents until the team

recognized the fact and confronted her with regard to the issue. Thus, had the defense

mono" dkcoveredthe problan, the Government .would have led the defense to believe

that the dòcuments were never rearranged among the boxes.' Since the box numbers he

to the source of the documents, the government would have misled the Defendants and

the Court as to the ,SCit;TreS of therearranged ilocztments. This is cmcialeince many of

the government's allegations in this case involve concealment of information on the part

ofthe Deendants.

73. Specifietilly, the Government charges Defendants with conspiracy, money laundering,

and mail fraud based on allegations Out they deliberately concealedl lleged financial

activity and transactions frail. others; Notwitbstanding any other harms, the

Government's conduct now prevents the Defendants from effectively establishing the

source of documents, the individuals who may have had access to them, and whether any

such "concealment" ever occurred.
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74. FBI Agents Zieba and Petri concede that they deliberately destroyed the organization of

the seized documents because they were not ordered in a way that suited their needs.

.Regardless of the Agents' purported motivation, sanctions arc appropriate since the

actions prejudiced the Defendants.

75. The source and authenticity of the particular documerds are critical to defense of the case.

Consequently, the Defendants are prejudiced by the Agents' deliberate actions.

Accordingly, sanctions are warranted Accord Kronish 1/. United States, ..150 F3d 112,

126 (2d Cir. 1998); West v. Goodyear Tire di Rubber CoL, 167 F.3d 776 (2d Cir. 1999)

("It haa long been the rule that spoliators should not benefit from their wrongdoing, as

illustrated by 'that favorite maxim of the law, omina presumuntor contra spoliatorem.").

76. The appropriateness and extent of sanctions depends upon a case-by-case assessment of

(1) the Government's culpability for the loss, (2) a realistic appraisal of its significance

wheaviewed in light of its nature, (3) its beating upon critical, issues in the case, and (4)

the strength a the Government's untainted proof. Uitited States v. Grammatikos,: 633

F.24 1013, 1019-20 (2d Cir. 1980). The Second Circuit is not alone in applying a

balancing test to determine appropriate sanctions See United States v. Doi),, 714 E2d

761, 764 (8th Cir. 1983); United States v. Baca, 687 F.2d 1356, 13$9 (106 Cir. 1982);

United States v. Thrylor, 656 F.24 1326, 1334 (9'h Cir. 1981); United States Picaridlo,

568 F.2d 222, 227 (lit Cir. 1978). Lovern y. United States, 689 F. Supp. 569, ns

(E.D Va. 1988),, United States v. Beall, 581 F.Supp. 1457, 1467 (D .M& 1984).

77. Studio= can range from exclusion or suppression of the subject matter, granting a new

big, or dismistal of the indictment or the direction of a judgment or acquittal. United

States V Miranda, ,526 Fad 1319, 1324 n.4 (2d Cit. 1915). California y. Trombetta,
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467 U.S. 479, 487 (1984), the Court wrote, "But when evidence lias been destroyed in

violation of the Constitution, the Court must choose between barring further prosecution

or suppress[ion]."

78.,In United States v. Heath, 147 F.Supp. 877 (D. Haw. 1957), the defendant was indicted

on charges °flax evasion. Defendant filed two -motions requesting that he be allowed to

inspect docume. ntary evidence he had turned over terthe Internal Revenue Service. While

in the hands of the Internal 'Revenue Service, the documentary evidence had been lost or

destroyed. In light of the fact that the documents vac necessary to defend the case, the

court granted defendant's mOtion todismiss the indictment on due process grounds.

79. Considering the nature of the instant case and the-vast number of documents at issue, the

,materiality of those documents is obvious. The Government infringes upon Defendants'

line process rights through its willful failure to preserve or return those documents,

Ac.cordingly, sev= satefions =warranted.

WHEREFORE, Defendants respectfully request that the Court, in its discretion:

(1) Dismiss the Third Superseding Indictment in its enthety;

(2) Suppress all eyklence seized and currently retained by the Government;

(3) Adopt, appropriate evidentiary rulings as to the authentift sources, and weight of the

subject documents;

(4) Adopt appropriate curative jury instructions explaining the government's actions and

detailing the arrpropriAte Aetna and eitiderifituy infecnceS &Aid males aS a result

of the government's aetiOILS;

2Z
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(5) Order. that the Government compensate the Defendants for ali attorneys' and expert fees

immured as *Insult elite Government's actions;

(6) Order the government to return the_Defendants* documents and/or

Graht any additiotg or, aitotnative. lend tbat the Court in its discretion, 'deems

appropriate.

DATBD:: February`S, 20,09

.11

1

Respectfully submitted,

/s/Randall P Andreozzi
Randall P. Andreozzi, Esq.
Attorney for Waleed Mohammed Hinted
ANDREOZZI FICKESS, LLP
9145 Main St.
Clarence, NY 14031
(716) 565-1100
(716) 565-1920 (Facsimile)

/s/Gordon C. Rhea
Gordon C. Rhea, Esq.
Attorney for Waked Mohammed Hamed
RICHARDSON, PATRICK WESTBROOK & BRICKMAN, LLC
1037 Chuck Dawley Blvd., Bldg. A
Mt. Pleasanti SC 29464

/s/Derek M. Hodge
Derek M. Hodge, Esq.
Attorney for Nejeh Fathi Yusuf
P.O. Box 303678
St. Thomas, USW 00804
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higrarren13. Cole
Warren B. Cole, Esq.
Attorney for United Corporation
1138 King St - Third Floor
Christiansted, St. Croix VI 00820

/s/Thomas Alkon
Thomas Alkon, Esq.
Attorney for United Corporation
2115 Queen St.
Christiansted, St. Croix, USVI 00820

/s/Pamela Colon
Pamela Colon, Esq.
Attorney for Waheed Mohammed Hained
27 & 28 King Cross Street, 1I4Floor
Christiansted, St. Croix, USV100820
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS,

Plaintiffs,
v.

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF,
aka Fathi Yusuf,

WALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED,
aka Wally Hamed,

WAHEED MOHAMMED HAMED,
aka Willie Hamed,

MAHER FATHI YUSUF,
aka Mike Yusuf,

ISAM MOHAMAD YOUSUF,
aka Sam Yousuf,

NEJEH FATHI YUSUF, and
UNITED CORPORATION

d/b /a Plaza Extra,

Defendants.

CRIMINAL NO. 2005-015

GOVERNMENT'S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SPECIFIC RELIEF

The United States of America and the Government of the Virgin Islands, by and through

undersigned counsel, hereby responds to defendant's Motion for Specific Relief ( #1038).

DISCUSSION

Defendant presents numerous spurious, false, and unsupported accusations in his motion.

The motion is one in a series filed by the defendant and his co- defendants that are designed not to

redress legitimate grievances but to present false allegations to smear the government before the

Court. The defendant's failure to identify any harm purportedly suffered or to attach an affidavit or

EXHIBIT

s
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other evidence to substantiate the claims of misconduct shows that the pleading has been filed

merely to grandstand rather than to rectify any error.

I. The Defendant Has Not Suffered Any Harm

The defendant argues that he has been harmed by the alleged reorganization of evidence.

That is, he claims that the index of documents created by his defense counsel no longer comports

with the evidence as it is maintained by the government. Such an argument is false.

First, it should be noted that the motion does not concern spoliation or destruction of

evidence as claimed by the defendant. The defendant cannot identify a single document or even

categories of documents that no longer exist or have been destroyed.' Ignoring the hyperbole and

breathless narration of the motion, and, instead, reviewing the pleading with a clear eye, it is clear

that the defendant claims that harm has been suffered because his index does not many perfectly

with the organization of the evidence? The claim is inherently unreliable because it presumes that

' Defense counsel was in government office space reviewing documents during the week
of January 26, 2009. The government repeatedly offered to locate any document that the defense
purportedly could not find. Defense counsel never provided a description of any records that
they allege were missing or could not locate. To this day they still have not done so.

The government repeats its offer to locate specific documents if the defense provides a
written request for such assistance. As is customary, the government will provide the seized
location and inventory number for any evidence the government seeks to introduce at trial.
Lastly, the government is aware of its obligations under Brady v. Maryland and Giglio v. United
States and will continue to comply with them.

2 The defendant may have been confused by the organization of boxes at the government
office space. As the evidence is voluminous and government space is finite, it had been stored
throughout the building, not necessarily in ascending or descending numerical order.
Recognizing that the organization of the evidence might cause the agents some time to locate an
individual box, the government made the reasonable request that defense counsel, prior to their
arrival at the government office space, identify boxes that they wished to review so that they
could be pulled and readied for inspection. Either the defendants were not organized and had not
identified what they wished to review, or they were organized and blithely ignored the
government's request. The result was the same: defense counsel arrived at the government
office space and asked to review boxes of evidence in numerical order . As the government

2
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the defendant's index was true and accurate at the time it was made.' Neither the government nor

this Court have any reason to believe that the error does not lie with the defendant. To that end, the

government has asked the defendant to provide his index so that the government can compare it to

the evidence as it is stored. See Exhibit A. The defendant has refused. As such, the government is

at a loss to respond to the defendant's allegations.

II. The Lack of Good faith is Evidenced by the Failure to Supply an Affidavit or to
Identify an Affiant

The defendant's lack of good faith in bringing the motion is betrayed by the refusal to

provide the government with evidence of either the harm purportedly suffered by the defendant or

of misconduct allegedly committed by the government. For example, the pleading contains a

significant number of allegations regarding acts purportedly taken and statements purportedly made

by law enforcement agents. The government, by letter of February 10, 2009, informed the

defendant of its difficulty in responding to the motion given the unsourced allegations. The

government asked the defendant to provide an affidavit and/or statement, to identify the

individual(s) who would testify under oath, or indicate whether no individual would provide an

affidavit, statement or testimony. The defendant refused saying that it would only do so at a

hearing.

agents had to search the office for each individual box, the requests of defense counsel were not
accommodated as quickly as counsel would have preferred. In an attempt to facilitate the
defendants' review of evidence, the agents reorganized the boxes to place them in numerical
order.

3 There is no evidence or reason to believe that the defendant has reviewed every box of
evidence at the government office space. Until such a statement is made and sworn to, they have
no good faith basis to argue that documents have been lost or destroyed.

3



Case: 1:05 -cr- 00015- RLF -GWB Document #: 1067 Filed: 02/24/09 Page 4 of 6

III. The Defendants Have Not Been Denied Access to Material Obtained by the
Government

The government has not denied the defendant's requests to review evidence. Indeed, the

government has expended great efforts to accommodate the defendants, going so far as to offer to

have agents to stay later than their normal working hours in order to permit defense counsel to

review documents. As no good deed goes unpunished, defendant now claims, without a scintilla of

evidence, that the government has denied "numerous requests" to review certain materials seized in

the course of the execution of a search warrant. See Motion, ¶ 13.

In its February 10, 2009 letter, the government informed the defendant that a review of the

government's files indicated that no requests had been denied. In turn, the government requested

that the defendant provide all correspondence and/or sworn statements that evidenced the

government's refusal to accommodate a request to review evidence. See Exhibit B. Given the

government's statement that it had no evidence of such conduct, it was reasonable to ask the

defendant to support a claim of misconduct made in a public filing.

The defendant refused to provide any such support. See Exhibit C. The government again

requested proof that the defendant provide evidentiary support for the claim stated in ¶ 13 of the

motion, or -at the very least, to provide dates when requests to review evidence were made by the

defendant and refused by the government. Even the most basic information, such as dates, would

assist the government in determining whether the defendant's claims have any validity. The

defendant failed to respond. Had such misconduct occurred, it is reasonable to believe that the

defendant would produce that to the government in order to permit the government to respond.

4
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the government is unable to respond to defendant's motion

with particularity. The government respectfully requests that the Court dismiss the motion. In so

doing, the government respectfully requests that the Court order the defendant to meet and confer

with the government before filing any motion similar to the instant one.

Dated: February 24, 2009

5

Respectfully Submitted,

PAUL A. MURPHY
ACTING UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

/s/ MARK F. DALY
MARK F. DALY
LORI A. HENDRICKSON
Trial Attorneys
U.S. Department of Justice
P.O. Box 972
Washington, D.C. 20044

ALPHONSO ANDREWS
NELSON JONES
Assistant U.S. Attorneys
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Mark F. Daly, certify that on this the 24th day of February, 2009 the foregoing pleading,
the GOVERNMENT'S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SPECIFIC RELIEF, was
filed and served on the parties through the Court's ECF system.

/s/ Mark F. Daly
Mark F. Daly
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U .U Department ot
Tax Division

P.O. Box 972, Ben Franklin Station (202) 514 -2174
Washington, D.C. 20044 Telefax: (202) 616 -1786

JAD:BMS:MFDaIy
5-90-327

February 11, 2009

By Fax & First Class Mail

Randall P. Andreozzi, Esq.
Andreozzi Fickess LLP
9145 Main Street
Clarence, New York 14031

Re: United States v. Yusuf,,
Crim No. 05 -15 (D.V.I.)

Dear Mr. Andreozzi,

We write in regard to the pleading styled "Defendant's Motion for Specific Relief Due to
the Government's Destruction of the Integrity, Organization and Sourcing of Material Evidence"
( #1038 - Feb. 5, 2009). In the pleading it is stated that in 2004 "[d]uring their initial review of
the documents at the FBI offices in St. Thomas, the defense team prepared a general inventory of
the groupings of documents held in the boxes, and scanned as many of the pertinent documents
as possible." Motion, ¶10. The motion alleges that the evidence as stored does not comport with
the index created by the defense team in 2004. Id., ¶14. Although the motion does not identify a
single document that was either lost or destroyed, it does claim that the defendants have suffered
unspecified albeit "infinite" harm. Id., ¶52.

Given that the motion is based on the purported variance between the state of the
evidence and the defendant's index, we request that you provide the government with copies of
the original discovery index prepared by the defense team in 2004 and all revisions made to the
document since that time. Failure to do so will deprive the government of the ability to either
verify the claims set forth in the motion or to quantify any harm purportedly suffered.

Sincerely,

Mark F. Daly
Trial Attorney
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U.. Department of Justice
Tax Division

P.O. Box 972, Ben Franklin Station (202) 514 -2174
Washington, D.C. 20044 Telefax: (202) 616 -1786
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February 10, 2009

By Fax & First Class Mail

Randall P. Andreozzi, Esq.
Andreozzi Fickess LLP
9145 Main Street
Clarence, New York 14031

Re: United States v. Yusuf,
Crim No. 05 -15 (D.V.I.)

Dear Mr. Andreozzi,

We write in regard to the pleading styled "Defendant's Motion for Specific Relief Due to
the Government's Destruction of the Integrity, Organization and Sourcing of Material Evidence"
(#1038 Feb. 5, 2009). The pleading contains a significant number of allegations regarding acts
purportedly taken and statements purportedly made by law enforcement agents. We note that the
motion does not reference an affidavit or other sworn statement to substantiate the allegations.
As it is difficult to respond to the motion without knowing their source, we ask that you either
provide us with such affidavits and/or statement, identify the individual(s) who will testify under
oath, or indicate whether no individual will provide an affidavit, statement or testimony.

We are particularly troubled by the allegation in ¶13 wherein it is stated that from 2006
through November 2008 the defense made numerous requests to review documents in the
possession of the government and that the government denied all such requests. We have
reviewed our files and can find no outright rejection of any request to review evidence made by
the defendants. Given the seriousness of such a charge, we request that you provide us with all
correspondence and/or sworn statements that evidence the government's refusal to accommodate
a request to review evidence.

Sincerely,

IOY (<

Mark F. Daly
Trial Attorney



Feb, 16. ? -0 -09 4 ft_f Andreotti No.d837 P.
Case: 1:05 -cr- 00015-RLF -GWB Document #: 1067 -3 Filed: 02/24/09 age 1 of

ANDREOZZI FICKESS LLP
Edward D. Fickess. Partner
Randall P. Andreozzl, Partner

February 16, 2009

VIA FACSIMILE & Y7.S, MAIL

Mark F. Daly, Esq.
US DOJ/Tax Division/N.Criminal Section
601 D. Street NW, Room 7814
Washington, DC 20004 -2904

Re: United States of America, and Government of the Virgin Islands v.
Fathi Yusuf, Mohamad Yusuf et aL

Dear Mr, Daly:

We are in receipt of your letters dated February 10, 2009 and February 11, 2009.
We agree with you that the government's actions are serious and we appreciate your
expressed desire to quantify the harm caused by such actions, Please be advised that the
defense will request a hearing on this matter and, to the extent that the government
disputes any of the allegations set forth in the motion, the defense intends to present all
appropriate testimony, affidavits, and/or documentary evidence.

As you acknowledge in your February 10 correspondence, the harm was caused by
the acts of Federal law enforcement agents. In this context and within the scope of this
case all agents, past or present, have acted under the authority and direction of your
office.

It is noteworthy that neither the FBI agents nor Ms. Hendrickson informed the
defense that the subject acts that were committed. Instead, they attempted to limit our
access to the evidence, first by requiring the defense to identify specific documents we
wished to review, and then by limiting our review to random. boxes selected by the
Agents. Despite these constraints, the team quickly discovered that documentary
evidence had been removed from boxes. It was only when FBI agent Zieba was
confronted with the defense team's fmdings that she admitted to reorganizing the
documents. However, neither agent Zieba or Ms. Hendrickson would provide any
explanation of the manner or extent to which the agents altered the evidence. Such
conduct has forced the defense to investigate and attempt to discern the precise extent of
the harms caused to the defendants' ability to mount an effective defense under the
constraints or specific directions imposed by your office.

9145 Main Street, Clarence, New York 14031

tel: 7161565 1100 fax: 716 1 565 1920
www.matllp.com
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Now, faced with having to explain this conduct to the Court and to address the
allegations set forth in the defendants' motion, you request that the defense provide you
with all proof gathered and work product generated in its efforts to determine the extent
of the harms federal Agents have caused. You ask that we provide this information
before you submit your responsive pleading to the Court. Your February I
correspondence states that the defense's alleged "failure" to provide you with the specific
harms it has been able to determine to date will "deprive" the government of the ability to
verify the claims or quantify the harm. We view your position as improper,
disingenuous, and patently self-serving.

The prosecutor's office and its federal agents are the only persons who possess
personal direct knowledge and evidence of the acts committed by federal agents, and the
harms. caused. Contrary to the assertions in your letter, it appears the only thing your
office is "deprived of is evidence of the extent to which the defense has ascertained the
claims or quantified already identified harms. If the government intends to deny such
conduct and or otherwise quantify the harms caused, then justice requires that your office
do so with particularity within its court pleading documents. This entire situation has left
the defense with no alternative other than requesting that the Court require your office to
completely and truthfully explain the conduct of all government agents to both the
defendants and the Court. Once the nature and scope of all government actions or
alterations to the evidence have been identified, it may or may not be possible to
cooperatively review all evidence of such actions as the government may provide in order
to accurately evaluate the extent of the harms caused. It also may result that dismissal
with prejudice is the only viable remedy regarding these serious actions and their impact
on the evidence in this case.

The same holds true in your reference to Paragraph 13 of the Motion, We agree that
your refusal to allow access to the subject records for more than two years is a serious
issue. What is more troublesome is your current response implying that the government
did not deny defendants access to their documents during that time. We note that you
qualify your statement by asserting that you can find in your files no "outright rejection"
of any request to review evidence made by the defendants. Please state whether you will
represent to the Court that your office did not affirmatively deny Defendants access to
their documents during this period, as your intention to make any such representations to
the Court comprises yet another issue in the case that the parties must be prepared to
address in a hearing before the Court.

2
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Please contact me to further discuss these important matters.

Very truly yours

Randall P. Andreozzi

cc: Gordon C. Rhea, Esq.
Thomas Alkon, Esq.
Henry Smock, Esq,
Derek M. Hodge, Esq,
Pamela Lynn Colon, Esq.
John K. Deena, Esq.
Bruce Cole, Esq.

1
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u.o. Department of Justice
Tax Division

P.O. Box 972, Ben Franklin Station (202) 514 -5150
Washington, D.C. 20044 Telefax: (202) 616 -1786

JAD:BMS:MFDa1y
5-90-327

February 20, 2009

By Fax & First Class Mail

Randall P. Andreozzi, Esq.
Andreozzi Fickess LLP
9145 Main Street
Clarence, New York 14031

Re: United States v. Yusuf,
Crim No. 05 -15 (D.V.I.)

Dear Mr. Andreozzi,

We write in regard to your February 16, 2009 reply to our letter of February 11, 2009. As
you know, in our letter we asked you to substantiate the claim in ¶ 13 of "Defendant's Motion for
Specific Relief Due to the Government's Destruction of the Integrity, Organization and Sourcing
of Material Evidence" ( #1038 - Feb. 5, 2009) that from 2006 through November 2008 the
defense made numerous requests to review documents in the possession of the government and
that the government denied all such requests. Apparently overwhelmed by the task of
chronicling the many concessions and admissions in our letter, your reply failed to respond to our
request for support for your allegation.

Let me restate it here. We have reviewed our records and can find no evidence that
during the time period referenced in your motion the government refused any defense request to
review evidence that was obtained during the course of executing the search warrants in 2001.
Do you have any evidence that such a request was made and refused? If so, please provide it to
us. If you won't produce the evidence, please do us the courtesy of identifying when you made
the request and when it was refused. If your intended response is to thank us for admitting
something, please spare us. We are not interested in games of semantics and it will benefit
everyone, the court included, as it will reduce your next pleading by one exhibit.

Sincerely,

Mark F. Daly
Trial Attorney

cc: Counsel of Record (by facsimile)

T
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j11!T TIM DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

Plaintiffs,

V.

FATHIWSUF Is/101fAMAD YUSUF
: aka Fathi Yosut

WALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED,
;akkVallY limed;

MAHER:MTH', YUSUF,
4001CeNtittif,

18AmmoilAmAp yox.mgy,
aka Sitt Yousat

NEIERFATMYUSW,:nn4.

13141TED:iCORPORATION
:.twto plaza $otta.

Defendants,

Criminal No.2005-015F/B

DEFENDANTS' REPLY TO THE GOVERNMENT'S RESPONSE TO
DEFENDANTS' MOTIÓN FOR SPECIFIC :RELF - -

COME NO% Defendants, by and througfi,their respective counsel, Ole

GovermlePi's ResPQnse tiJ Defendants' Motion for Specifto Relief as feirlows:

Introduction and Procedural History

On February 5, 2009, Defendants filed their Motion for Specific Relief Due to the

Govenuttenre Destruction of the Integrity, 9-ganization and Sourging of Material

EXHIBIT

c
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Evidence. (Dkt. No 1 0/3). The Government responded to Defendants Motion On

February 24, 2009 (Did, NO.100),

The Government's 4-page Response fails to admit or deny the detailed numbered

factual allegations set forth thDefendant's Metioe, 11100.44, :it offers a vague statement

taVdIntnnerOus' alkgati Ong Ate': satAttioue: and *ifitise. Because:the: allegations describe

actionsj'and,statetnentOulde(1:bY tWo GeVerritherit:eagents:.(FEl Agents Thomas Petri

:and C hristine Ziebit),:and one iGiWertutterit'attòrney reeord. (Department Of juStice:

Attorney Lori Hetidnialcson) in:ifiiimiatter, the Government possesses direct lknowledge

suffleientle Adtrikorderiy.,:e.seh allegation iii thenaotion. it chose-, 'not.to. The lear

inference' is.th at the government does not: dispute the factiial allegations, and the only

issue in controvet$14whether the requested relief is warranted.

the:issue of 'relief, the Government argues its.4.page resportge 'that (l):the

Defendant tailed to identify harm caused by 'the,Onventtnetirs otions, and that :the,:

Defendant fated': attach an :affidavit or other evidence tó substantiate the berm,

Defendants address eaely ofthese arguments in tOrti:

it. The 'Clwovernment'S Aetiondiarmed the Defend a nts.

Thopovernmentope,ns its argument on lhetarxmoausecl with what-Appears to be

categorical deniat'of.afitr-the Defendants' allegátions, ft Then immediately rephrases

the denial to imply that only the Defendante Odin of harm is false. The response is

vague, arkd tbe Oovetnntentavoids the speoitioliets relevant to whether its Agents in. fact

shuffled, reorgatil.:744 And rlesnoyed the sourang:OrtheDerendante doctitnints. Instead

of :proffering fact* to either refute or Affirm: the specifto allegations :set fattft iri the-

Defendente Motion, the Government . trivializes the allegation! In this manner, the
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Government avoids the pertinent issues and fails tò address the precise harms 'identified

in the Defendants' Motion. As e consequence, the Gevernment's Response leaves

undisputed the fact that theFBI Agents knowingly and willfully rearranged and shuffled

the Defendants' documents' in their custody so as to severely compromise the

Defendants'- ability either-to útWze or rely 01. those documents in their defense.

The Government asserts rit page. 2 of its Response' that the Defendants cannot

identify all speeifie documents that may have been destroyed or compromised. From

this, the Government 'draWS-tlie inference that the Defendants' claim for relief is without

merit. The assertion is,correct; the inference is false.

The fallacy of the. Government's iriference is best understood through the

GoVernment't own actions: When the Government seized' the original documents from

the Defendants' homes and businesses, itchose to Bates ttamp_only some of the seized

'documents and not others. The Government then returned some a the non-Bates

Stamped-documents to the Defendants that it deemed.to incontequential to the case,

but retained thousands of other non-Bates stamped documents at its FBI Office.

Defendants requested the return of the remaining documents 'held by the FBI, but the

Government refused. The seized docUMents, therefore, fall into three categories: (1)

Bates- stamped documents retained by the Government, (2) Non-Bates stamped

documents retained by the .Government; and (3) Documents returned to the Defendants.

Government Agents and Government Counsel then organized each Bates stamped

document they intend to use at trial in plastic binders. Each document is cross referenced

'to its Bates inventory number and bar-coded search warrant evidence; boxes so as to

preserve the source and authenticity of each and every document., The Government did
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10 emplpyqthese conteas, with the ncnt7Pats iiumbereddocuments it returned td th0

Defindanu orwith the: Aumbered documentikretainstd lheFBI Office

Now in the epitome :oftelfserVirig; Statements; and 'as if somehow reassure the

Defendants and isCoutt the :0:overnmetesiates: :".As is 4ustottiaty, the 0v-el.-totem

will provide the SitzedlocatIon 'arid inventory 'outitberAr any evidence the goorionent

sekc 19 use 0 (Dkt. No at :2 01): The :-Government's statement

:unequivocally ptes itia the Gevetuttiebt ookitidands its obliggioti to :preserve the

integrity of evidence ad that it understands the protocol that must be :followed to ensure

that the integrity. of .evidence is preserved,' 'The ,GovetOttletlVs 'oassurance

deMottStrateS that ;the Government foliewed ils protocoi.with respect to the evidence it

intends to use at trial to prove its case, but that H viola/td the protocol with respect to the

restofthe documentary evidence, including the nomaates:stamped doeuments held at the

ntr Oice.

ft is .140sq...:documents that the FBI A:gents, shuffled and reorganized, destroying

any chance of establishing the "customary" inventory numbering preserved by the

Gvertjrpent with its «vidence The statement thus ..confirms', that the Oovomment

Yunderstandi the peed ,to. follow ,:estiblisheiti 15t6t6651 tO dtiStitlflite integÑy Of sdized

propotty, 'Vhd:',6ovetiiittenrs: selective !application of such prp(ovOilAnd its .WinfOl

i..eorgatfizatiOn: 0.4 Shuttling of the.d000mptas is 4itept:ovidettpe. tif faith and,

willful disregard of the defendants' due process rights.

The GOvernment's next argil-n*21:ot t'4e issue of harm is deeply tifiebling as it

confirms one of the grave consequences expressed in Defendants' Motion. The

Gevernrnent states: "The [Defendants] claim is inherently unreliable

4

because it presumes
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-Om thoereodoort indexwas true and:ace:orate at,the 'tittle it was made." (Dkt. 10.67 at

1,3), The Government, AVithotg ever having seen Defendants index, dismisses it as

4inherent1y nrel tablelor purposes Of this MPtton, 044 :Moula . no: doubt &lie: tattle at

trial 'Ifteg,., it 4s. Vidliptitecrtharlitelovernment shuffled iin4.*earganized the defendants'

documents knowing that there is no "reliable" indexing inplamAlitlyould provide the

"customary" assurance of the.organizational integriv required by the Court for evidence

proffered by a partyfir admissian4diriat

;Viewl:iftids,,tbeilDefendatits cannot identify:and' qttanti& PAOLI anteYeetrbattn

'paused; mr pan theDeferidaritt: identify every spedifiPIleetitneathat niay.::have been, or

even in fact has been destroyed or misplaced by the Governmetiti IÌaL1the Government

tollowed.,its Intermil :prOtOPP1.i :and properly '13.00-$: iiwootoriod and ormiited

way '-document seized, the defense may ban been able to :400111)44b such

iillet41:0eatieti.,., -TO !die Defendant" dfrootand,iowortitilevidOldmmt Om/ono:loot,

logiojAgi,,Idellierato, ohojoo: :not =to i:do to, Thii Very teiden6ty the. tOddific,

harrn illustrates-Abe gita*ity the prejkdiee.:OrtrOot by the ..1-yettio¡onet

Tti:dettIOIlltilakihentivernittenVetitielies the Prefettdritt#7: lity "ptoVido;a2:

'Oglpti0iort of V.7::MMIXAP flat are missing and teutS'"iepeatee'preers to locate "any

Oectenenrtbat the defenAekilltlettiidt. I:06742W ). :fatli odtilYtOt,

toOtv'bogot!4Vereie'liiitilati. (1) the Government maintained no index of the specific non-

bate stamped ,documents,, and .(2) :it...challenges any Inde4-.-preated:Wfbe,40004P001114$_,

This inability to ideniTry the true extent Ortheiuinti was among the issues raised by the Defendants in
their motion.

5
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inherently unreliable," Obvious ly, without a detailed inventety cf Bates stamped

documents, the Defendants cannotideritifyspeafic documents that:Tinny betnissing,

Ile:GOVe.M1Pent cc:A.1014es'. sieight:Of :hand in its footnote 2. In en apparent .

effOrt ep.tain: !away the Agents' coneeSSien that: they rearranged the , Defendants,

documents, , the government concocts : scenario under Whiehjt suggests that that the

Agents actually rearranged. the nunibereciAn4itbar-coded boxes purportedly to facilitate

the :,defensei tentn't feview: *tit An :atteiflpt to facilitate the defend-ante review ,a

evidence. PO agents reorganized boxes to p1ae them un numerical ordet. (Oki No

106740412). This is not the "'reorganization!' titissue the:Wien:

The defense1eant demanded- numerical review of thebexes rifler it,diaeovered

that Agent:Zielia. :had shuffled and: rearranged documents:, among: the 'boxes. When

:confiented.bythe defense team, Agent Zieba confessed that she reorganized and shuffled

the'tiOeunrfentS. IWO rafter Agent Zieba's admission that-the Government agreed-to the

clefense!anumerical !review ofthe boxes Attorney fiendrieksonregnired, as a condition

toatiehintiriteriealdt.Vielv, that the:Government:review -eaelacovbeforethei;defense team

was granted access Let it be elear:,.::Agent Zieba rearranged 4ocurn eti es, not :,boxes. She

did :so ltotto :Mist. the:defense:in:its réViivv, Itatheri She dida0.;TOr her own reasons

reasonsi::GovertimeritCouttSel has refused lo:411o* the AgeatiA0,0YeAl to the Defense.

the'...:*001(Arnmenes, assertion nt tootmité 1: is film, arid the defense :cant anon the

Ooverntam to:Matta:the gatbnksiit: or b&prepared address :katitelteEiting through the

opproprkte,gOverritnent witnesses

As its fin ?rgW1ÇIt fl bAnth tne:GOYerrunent4-4fl :'the Owe- of its earner assertion

That any document index prepared by defense- ¡s "inherently unrellable"-complains

6
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that it cannot detortnind the extent of the -harm actio.ns: Canted the défetise without

having access to the.defense!s document ta&x: The Government has the' burderi,:of

maintaining theititoety of eVidenc.e. Government that should have Bates,

stamped all the 4000menta andIecorded its- oWn'ecinplete inVentory of all the documents.

The Govemmentbas no basis to now request otrequiteaPefendanageneral inventory

to determine the :organizational :integrity Of .thedocuments holds. The Government

&lied to properly catalogue and maintain The documentary evidence of this case, and the

Goverment is. ¡IOW :faced with the fact that; it cannot: ensure the integrity of, the

documents in Its custody, In the words of Attorney Flendrielksoni: "WhaVa dene is done

In anyeventthe Government's' agentiAnd attorneys have full knowledge of:What

was done with Ahe documents., Thus, whileAey cannot reconstruct: the organizatiou of

-010',USandS Of1ttei4ateS.:stamperd documents, Ihey can respond to Defendants' ,aliegatiens

by explaining tOthliOntittoteeliely4haviheyAid,i,Iiiiliiò,docuitt6nts. They choose not

th. :Instead .4:qy ,Nrong00) the Qovernment stela to--as.certain the: egent oftho

harm their victim out beforc.4Mittingyfhat its agents and attorneys have done

:h e. result is a blanket denial, that the government agents :::must ,:now, defend at an

ev.jdoit1Wheari

of #1P Prtenurton aronv:pti th'plasueofhatinActuatl)i,

reinforce the Defendants''fottition-that the:Oovarmenes shuffling and toinungenterit.of

the Defendants' property, unfairly and unconstitutionally prejudices Defendants ability

to, iritee alw (1) establish : Or i:Oentest-:-ithe iatithentieity of documents; :(2), establish or

contest the source iof.:400.ments;: (3) -..ossocartilot::.;itio:Oioverttotene$: vvittiesses with

respect tò documents; (4) establish or contest whether a particular individual had access
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to or knowledge 'of docuatents (5):CStabliSh Whether all of the :selied documents are

prOperlyaecOuitted for,, and (6) contest whether particular- ,doOtnnents were obtained by

improper means andtor whether are privileged, 'These and other issues were

expresSly:Lidentified and addiessod4ti.,Derretidsitte Motion, yet the Government ignores

therrtittits response: The Deterirlants_can :only aSstnne that the 0Overnment understood

the end result of willful malfeasance, and intends'. to reap the heriefita, at trial,

n. péfendant4 Bring:thEsilintionlieGood ith

Instead of addressing the specific detailed allegations : set forth in the Defendant's

Motion, the Government merely ignores them and argues that mating facts in the motion

lathertlianithrough an affidavit Shows bad -faith in: bringing the, Maim. The Government

fails to cite any case law or other authority t6.SuPport this...grPindint. The Government

k.00eloised thisargtiment,;and addressed `the specific' allegatiimsl. It Chose not to.

Defentla.ntsropectfully Submit thatit is the Gbvernment's: actions that illustrate:had faith.

The Government -can,Verifkthe truth orthe Defendant's allegations through its

:own agents and attorneys in this. case, for it IS they who- activeltpartiNpnted in or were

privy to the subject acts, and qyomoniPations. TboiinhsorOity of the Government's

$#.1tiokis illustrated in its argument that a significant number of allegations pertain to

adtibt/a tAken:0 kno :enfeireeme#4 and- malt Ltdiffietilt to respond -to the. Defendants'

Motion "given tha,tompurod allegations." Given the Government's refusal to confirm

3410:allegailons throughtheindlYidualS: charged With the itaternents or acts (namely case

Agents Zietia; and Petri, and case Attorney Hendrickson) 'f and Its refusal to provide:

statements frgrn,,any of those individuals, the Defendants attach bereto as Exhibits A-F

4
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SateraditStftOtittid-from: members of the-,:defense leam SupptittIng the allegations set

forth in 0)0 DerentWO"

'Thus, the Government's elairaihat: it is unabletò respond:toiDefendants' Motion

with particularity is withoutmerit. It it telling,:::Moreover,:thaVtho Poyergroot.it has not

subnlittei11% 00/0 AffidaVits from AssiStant Attorney 'General liendrieXson :Agents

ZeilA POtrii. and Potilor for- that Matter averred any :facts Whatsoever-disputing the

allegations tnade itiDefendants'

HI. The Defendants ThiVe BeenDenied Access to Vie* and inspect Their
Documents fromNoventher 2004 'Until November 2008.

The OCIvernmentdenies lhatit has forbiddenthe Defendants access tofESI Offices

to inspec* documents frotn NOVernbet 200441frOUglfNovember 2008, ft Attacks this

single allegatien,-;taiSed,40.0aragraph 13 of Defendants' 79-paragraPh Motion, as if it

Were ::the Only..-allegation upon whiCh: tór reiic:ts. toed, Presumably; the.

Government asserts this singularsingularcieniat 'on'a:presutimtititi-by the Government that there is

no: :docutitentary evidence, memorialiZing ih6 toy:0001-0N lefusalio allow Defendants

access during this Defendants 0141Iengo-,:.-thoOoverriment:Aanial as falSe.

DurtgthiS4iik period, defense counsel requestedH-both telephOnio4litandiln*Iting:--,

access to the FBI Office to inspect the Defendants' documents. TollOwIng:vadt reque4t,

Government :couns4. denied: die:requested:Access and' instead: imposed a ride that if

defense Counsel wished to :i`evie*:,4 particular document, they Should identify the

deenthent toovernment Counsel and he or she would determine whether to provide that

document 10 tfie: defense for review .2' Government Counsel must poopde these acts.

2 The absurdity of this "rule," is transparent. First, the Governments "rule" would require the Defendants
to know and he able to identify every document in the Government's possession, Second, the rule would
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this matter. (See Okt, 11o.-1067:44 t

Conclusion

WHEREFORE, itilieittittbitoregoing, Defendants respectfully request that this

(1) dis 4tQfl pi Specific Relief

Government's Destruction of the Integrity, Organization Rd, Sourcing,

of Material Evidence;

(2) Dismiss the case entirety, prejudice; acid

(3) Grant such other relief as requested in the Motion ØJ

discretion deems appropriate.

DATED: March 17, 2009

Respectfully submitted,

Is/ Gordon C. Rhea, Esq.
Gordon C. Rhea, Esq.
RICHARDSON, PATRICK WESTBROOK &
BRICKMAN, LLC
1037 Chuck Dawley 13Iyd., Bldg. A
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
(843) 727-6656
(843) 216-6509 (Facsimile)

require the Defendants to identify each document that the defense deems pertinent to this case before
gaining access to it. Thus, the "rule" is not only impossible but violates the Defendants due process rights.
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/s/
Henry C. Smock, Esq.

Iictx 1428-
St. Thomas, USVI 00804

/s/
Pamela Colon,T.sq.
27 & 28 King Cross Street, Id Floor
Christiansted, St. Croix, USVI 00820

/s/
John K. Derna, Esq.
1236 Strand Street, Suite 103
Christiansted, St. Croix, USVI 00820

Is/
Thomas Alkon, Esq.
2115 Queen St.
Christiansted, St. Croix, 00820

/s/
Randall P. Andreozzi, Esq.
9145 Main St.
Clarence, NY 14031

/s/
Derek M. Hodge, Esq.
P.O. Box 303678
St. Thomas, USVI 00804
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CERTIFICATE 01? SERVICE

HEREBY CERTIFY that on this 171 day of March, 2009, 1 electronically filed
the foregoing with the Clerk of the Court using CMIECF system which will send a notice
of electronic filing (NEF) to all counsel of record.

Ist

Gordon C. Rhea, Esq.
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MEMORANDUM
UNITED STATES V. YUSUF, ET AL.

Tß: ALL DEFENSE COUNSEL

FROM: RANDALL ANUREOZZI, RONALD WLSr., JOSF MAiüï!',RO, HOWARD I12SIT?IN, THERESA
MAINS, TRACY MARIEN

SUBJECT: NARRATIVE OF EVENTS AT SÇ. THOMAS FBI OFFICES ON MONDAY, NOVEMBER 10, 200g

DATE: NOVEMBER 10, 2008

CC:

The following persons travelled to the FBI Offices in St, Thomas to review client
documents: Randall Andreozzi, Ronald Wise, Jose Marrero, Howard Epstein, Theresa
Mains, and Tracy Marten.

When the group arrived at the FBI offices, we were greeted by a staff person who told us
Special Agent Christine Zeiba was waiting for us at the lower office. Randy Andreozzi
asked the woman if the documents were moved down to that office. The woman assured.
us that Special Agent Zeiba had everything we needed, We walked to the office and
were greeted there by Special Agent Zeiba. She asked to speak with Mr. Andreozzi
privately.

In a private conversation, Special Agent Zeiba advised Mr. Andreozzi that she was under
the impression that a group of only two or three people would be at the office, and that
the group would identify specific documents they wished to see and that she would bring
the documents to thorn. She advised that she was by herself and could not accommodate
such a large group. Special Agent Zeiba stated that she was informed by FBI Agent Petri
that the defense had been provided with copies of all documents in the case, and that this
visit was to view only specific documents. She asked why we had not given her a list of
the documents we wanted to see so that she could pull them for us ahead of time. Mr.
Andreozzi informed her that this was not the understanding, and that the defense had not
in fact been provided with copies of all documents. Mr. Andreozzi reminded her that, in
their discussions on the previous Saturday, he advised her of the size of the group
attending and had forwarded his email correspondence with Mr. Daly confirming their
review for the week. Special Agent Zeiba expressed concern that she had not been
properly informed of the scope of the week's document review. After conferring with
co- counsel Gordon Rhea, Mr. Andreozzi advised that the group would return on
Wednesday, after Agent Zeiba bad the opportunity to confer with DOJ Counsel on the
matter. [Mr. Andreozzi attests to this paragraph }.

Upon their return to the group, Special Agent Zeiba told Randy Andreozzi that DOI
attorney Hendrickson and Special Agent Petri would be present when we returned to
review documents on Wednesday. Whereupon the defense team departed from the FBI
offices.
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I have reviewed the foregoing narrative and confirm to the best of my recollection that it
is a true and accurate summary of the events described.

4: .J P. Andreo#1,1

Jose Marrem

Ronald Wise

Theresa Mains

Howard Epstein

-TON 1,10.Kki
Tracy Marien
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I have reviewed the foregoing narrative and confirm to the best of my recollection that it
is a true and accurate =maw of the events described.

Randall P. MdreoZZI

Jose Marrero

ROW W 1

Thezesa Maim

Tracy Marien
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I have reviewed the foregoing narrative and confirm to the best of iny geoolkotiou that It
is a true and accurate summary of the events described.

Randall P. Andreoni

Jose Marrero

Ronald Wise

Theresa Mains

lio.wara
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MEMO RAND UM

UNITED STATES V. YUSUP:, ET AL.

TO: ALL D]rH NSL3 COUNSEL

FROM: RANDAU, ANDRE(27ZI,RONALD 'MST, JOSf; tviitRttí'RtJ, i[OWARD BPS"IEIN, THERESA..

MAINS, ; TRACY MARTEN, EUGENE B)::N1bN

SUBJECT: NARRA'CIVE+ OIt.:EVENTS AT ST. ;Tt=iOUtAS FBI OFFICES ON WEDNESDAY. NOVEMBER 12,,
2008

DATE: NOVEMBER. 12, 2.008

CC:

The `following persons travelled to the FBI. Offices iii St Thomas to review client documents:
Randall Andreozzi, Ronald Wise, Jose Marrero, Howard Epstein; Eugene Benton, Theresa Mains,
and Tracy Marien

Present for the Government Loti Hendrickson (DOD; Thomas Petti (FBI), Javier Bell {IRS),
Christine Zieba (FBI), and various FBI staff.

Upon the team's arrival at FBI offices, we encountered current case agent Christine Zeiba, DOJ
counsel Laurie Hendrickson, FBI Special Agent Thomas Petri, and IRS Special Agent Javier Bell.
Ms. Hendrickson advised that these agents would be present to monitor our document review. She
explained that we would be allowed to view one box at a time; that only one person would be
allowed to touch the documents at a time; and that the government agents - not the defense team -
would select and produce each box that we would be allowed to review. Randy Andreozzi stated
that this protocol was entirely inconsistent with the protocol of the defense's earlier review sessions.
He requested that Ms. Hendrickson explain why this protocol was in place. Ms. Hendrickson
explained that such protocol was necessary to ensure that the documents were not rearranged in the
boxes and to maintaki the integrity of the chain of custody of the documents.

MS Agent Javier Bell was not introduced to the group upon our arrival. Mr. Marren° recognized
Mr. Bell and greeted him. Upon inquiry, we learned that Mr. Bell was relocated by the IRS to
Denver, Colorado.

Ms. Hendrickson advised that our review would be monitored by herself, Messrs. Petti and Bell, and
Ms. Zeeba. Mr. Andreozzi asked why a Denver-based IRS Agent and a Florida -based FBI Agent
were required to tnonitor document review st a St Thomas. FBI Office. Ms. Hendrickson advised
that we were not entitled to know the reasons for their presence at the St Thomas FBI offices. Mr.
Andreozzi advised Ms. Hendrickson that such protocol was not acceptable to the defense team.

After negotiations between Ms. Hendrickson and Mr. Andreozzi, it was agreed that the defense
would limit the number of people in the review at given limes, and that Ms. Hendrickson and
Messrs. Petri and Bell would not be allowed to observe ot:otherwiae monitor the review. Ms. Zieba
would monitor the review, along with other members of her office as needed. Ms. Zieba would
bring out boxes in groups of five, and !lac team would review one box at a tune,
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Upon review of the Grit box produced (Box 131), the team found that it contained documents that
bad not been in Box 131 at the time of the defense teams earlier document review. (The defense
team had prepared a general snmmary index of documents contained in each box on their prior visits
to the FBI offices in 2004, and brought the Index with them to this visit.) The defense team was
able to discern the discrepancy by (1) referencing its document index created during the previous
visit, and (2) noting that the bates stamp on these documents began with 295 rather than 131 (the
government's organization of the documents uses a prefix of the bates number that matches the box
number in which it stored each document). The prefixes of the bates stamped documents no longer
matched the box number. We then verified that the subject documents matched the bates numbers
of the defense's index of some of the documents in Box 295, thus confirming that the subject
documents were in fact originally catalogued from a different box.

Randy Andreozzi asked Christine Zeiba why this document was located in box 131.

It was then that Christine Zeiba informed us that she reorganized the documents and boxes. Randy
Andreozzi explained to Special Agent Zeiba that the defense's indexing of the documents was based
on the boxes in which they were originally maintained by the FBI. Mr. Andreozzi further explained
that the FBI represented to the defense team during the initial document reviews that the box
numbers corresponded with the various locations and rooms within each location from which the
documents were seized. Because the FBI elected to bates number only some of the documents
seized, the only way for the defense to track the documents was by box number. Randy Andreozzi
asked why she rearranged the documents and whether she employed a certain methodology in
rearranging the documents Special Agent Zeiba stated she could not discuss her method of
organization with us. Special Agent Zeiba stated she just changed the boxes and rearranged the
documents tti fit with her organizational method:

Randy Andreozzi repeated the question: "So if we were to look through, say, Box 200, and refer to
our index, the contents of the box would not match?" Christine Zeiba confirmed that this was
correct; the documents would no longer match to the defense's index. She explained, "I had no idea
the defense relied on the order of these documents to panic-1+6r boxes. I rearranged them how I was
doing them and what made sense to me. I was thinking you would give me a list of the documents
you were missing or wanted to look at and I could pull them because I know where they ate. I did
not know you would be looking through all the boxes."

Randy Andreozzi stated that this development puts the defetese at square one. The integrity,
organization,nization, and custody chain of the boxes, the bates stamped documents, and the non -bates
stamped documents have ail been compromised. Ile asked Ms. Zeiba how, in light of this, could the
defense (1) determine wl:iat documents were removed from the various files; (2) determine what
documents the defense does not have, (3) determine what documents have been removed or ate
missing from the boxes; (4) determine what documents have been rearranged among the boxes; and
(5) determine what rooms, stores, homes, or individuals specific documents were seized from. Ms.
Zeiba did not answer the question. Special Agent Zeiba repeated she had no idea the defense or the
FIJI relied on the box numbers as the identifying factor in indexing and arranging the documents, or
as a reference as to the locations from which the FBI procured the documents. Special Agent Zeiba
repeated she truly thought that we were to provide her with a list of documents to pull. Ms. Zeiba
then stated she needed to speak with attorney Hendrickson and Special Agent Petri. At this point,
Hendrickson, Petri and Bell returned to the FBI office. When attorney Hendrickson and Petri
entered; Randy Andreozzi informed them of the issue.

2
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Special Agent Petri claimed that after the defense team looked through documents from the boxes
during its initial ducunrent review, the FBI Agents found many misplaced documents and had to
replace them in their correct boxes. Thus, claimed Petri, it was probably the defense team that
misplaced the document in nor 131. Randy Andreozzi challenged this assertion by asking bow the
FBI Agents would know whether the documents were misplaced if they were not relying on a
specific organizational method based on box numbers in the first place. Petri repeated his allegation
and then said, "This is why we have to have an agent watch you to insure the integrity of the order of
the documents."

Randy Andreozzi then repeated his question: If there is integrity to the order of the documents in
their respective boxes, and Christine Zeiba just informed us that she rearranged the documents and
boxes, why will the FBI not provide us with the methodology (if any) for her reorganization? Petri
then confronted Special Agent Zeiba, "You reorganized the boxes ?" Ms. Zeiba now dawned she just
rearranged the boxes. Mr. Petri replied he did not want to discuss the issue anymore.

After Hendrickson, Petri and Bell left the office, Special Agent Zeiba advised the defense team that
she did not realize the documents were organized by box number. Special Agent Zeiba stated that
she did not understand the issue when we first explained it to her but now she understands. Special
Agent Zeiba stated that this explains why Randy Andreozzi told her that the defense could go
through all of the boxes relatively expeditiously, and, with respect to sonic of the boxes, we would
need only glance through them. Ms. Zeiba stated that she reorganized the documents among the
boxes because she did trot like how they were originally organized. Ms. Zeiba continued to make
comments regarding the boxes and what she had initially perceived would be the order of events
when the defense team arrived for the document. review. Ms. Zeiba repeatedly attempted to
persuade Randy Andreozzi to adopt a procedure. by which the defense would tell her what
documents we needed and she could retrieve the specific documents. Randy Andreozzi stated it was
not that `Sue need specific documents," But 'that we needed to review all of the documents as they
are maintained in the boxes and under the FBI's document controls. Mr. Andreozzi explained again
that, when the defense conducted its initial document review, it attempted to create in the time
allowed as detailed a general inventory summarizing documents or groups of documents that were in
each box based on box number as possible. Some documents were bates numbered, but most were
not. Mr. Andreozzi pointed out that even the documents that were bates stamped were identified
based on the box number. Tracy Marien observed further that the FBI placed bar codes on the
specific boxes that matched the box numbers and bates prefixes.

At this point Ms. Zeiba asked the team to break for lunch.

After the lunch break, Special Agent Zeiba had the defense team wait in the waiting room. When the
team entered the FBI office, Agents Bell and Petti carne into the office. Randy Andreozzi asked
Special Agent Zeiba why Bell and Petri were present. Randy Andreozzi reiterated his agreement with
attorney Hendrickson that they would not be present during our review. However, Agents Bell and
Petri were now in the storage room where the United,documents were stored. Special Agent Zeiba
told us that she had asked Bell and Petri re- shelve the boxes we were finished reviewing and bring
our new boxes. Randy Andreozzi asked Ms. Zeiba whether Petri and Bell were reviewing or further
rearranging or removing documents. Ms. Zeiba stated they were not. Special Agent Petri then
emerged front the storage room carrying documents and asked Special Agent Zeiba to instruct him
.as to the. :boxes she wanted him to the documents in. Zeiba got up from the table and went into the
òtoragt:tOom with Petri and Bell. Zeiba stated to them, "I just finished telling them you were not
looking at documents." It was clear to the team that Petri and Bell were taking further unknown.
actions with respect to the clients' documents.

3
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Upon review of the contents of box 468, José Marrero noted that the documents were not bate
stamped. Consequently, we would not know what to look for or ask for with respect to any
documents that might be moved or missing. Randy Andreozzi explained again that the defense's
general indexing summarizes the documents in each box, assuming that the defense team would be
able to come back and go back to each box as needed, with the understanding that the integrity of
each bar coded box would be maintained. Many documents were not bates stamped so the
identifying location and integrity of the evidence was assumed to be with the box numbers the FBI
utilized. Christine Zeiba responded, "I don't have them ,organized the way you have them
organized!'

Randy Andreozzi then asked, "When you did your new system, did you bate stamp the documents ?"

Christine Zeiba responded, "I am not sure what you mean. TI you feel you are missing something
and cannot articulate the document, we would have to recopy everything." Christine Zeiba
repeatedly stated she assumed the defense was given topics of 10070 of the documents and she did
not understand why the FI3I had not given us all of the documents.

Randy Andreozzi gave Ms. Zeiba a list of six boxes we wanted to review. Special Agent Zeiba
retrieved three of the requested items. One was a banker's box and two were redwells. One redwell
was labeled "161- fonnerly" and contained only about 8 -10 documents. The other redwell was
labeled "428" and contained a few manilla folders of documents. Randy Andreozzi infottned Ms.
Zeiba that 161 and 428, based on our index, used to be full boxes of documents. He asked why the
tedwell was labeled "161- formerly." Ms. Zeiba would only restate that the documents are no longer
in their original order.

Randy Andreozzi asked for the other 3 boxes he requested. Ms. Zeiba stated that she was not going
to provide them to us today. Special Agent Zeiba stated, `Tor today I will just keep pulling boxes
randomly because I don't have them organized the way you have them organized." Randy Andreozzi
expressed his concern that it appears that Special Agents Zeiba, Bell and Petri were preparing boxes
of documents and providing them to the team at their discretion. Mr. Andreozzi explained that such
actions are entirely unacceptable. Mr. Andreozzi asked why Special Agent Zeiha could not retrieve
specific numbered boxes when requested or why the Special Agent Zciba could not produce the
boxes in numerical order, as they were arranged at the F131 office during the defense's earlier visits.
Ms. Zeiba simply stated that she could not do this, and then told Mr. , Andreozzi that Ms.
Hendrickson specifically instructed her to just pull random boxes for the defense. Mr: Andreozzi
asked Ms. Zeiba for permission to view the boxes to determine how they were arranged in the
storage room. Ms. Zeiba refused. Special Agent Zeiba then stated that at this time she wanted to
defer any further questions or discussions to Laurie Hendrickson and Thomas Petri. Ms. Zeiba called
for Ms. Hendrickson and met with her in the waiting room for an extended discussion.

Laurie Hendrickson then arrived and asked Randy Andreozzi to meet with her in the waiting area.
The two went outside to discuss the matter privately.

Randy Andreozzi explained the situation and his concerns to Ms. Hendrickson. Ms. Hendrickson
aelmowledgcd what occurred but could say only, ."What's done is done." Mr. Andreozzi stated that
he would discuss the matter with his co- counsel so that they may evaluate the gravity and effect of
the events and any possible remedies. He stated that it was now more important than ever for the
team to review all boxes of client documents held at the FBI office in numerical order so that the
team could properly evaluate the extent of the harm. Ms. Hendrickson agreed to this procedure. She
stated drat she would work that evening toward that end, and hoped that she would have at least the



Case: 1:05-cr,00015-131f VVB Dtibument4t; 1076-2 Piled: 03/17/09 Page 5 of 7

first fifty boxes ready fox revlew'' the following morning. Mr. Andreozzi again exptessed concern, and
asked why they needed the evening to "prepare" the boxes. He stated that based onhis familiarity
with the boxes, if it was a matter of organWng the boxes in numerical order, he could assist the team
and they could have the boxes organized in less than an hour. Ms. Hendrickson -would not answer
the question. She asked that we leave for now and return in the morning. [Randy Andreozzi attests
to this paragraph]

Andteozzi returned to the conference room god Om team departed from the PBI °face iOr
the restofthe day,

We reviewed the foregoing narrative and confirm to the best of my recollection (Wit
famine and accurate summary of events described-

-Randal P, Andreorzi

Jose Marrero

711r,-
Ronftld Wise

Theresa.Mains

Floward Epstein

Tracy M.arien
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ring 'fifty btizès ready for review' be fóllowing orning. Mr. Andreozzi again expressed concern, and
áslted why they needed the ethtn 'to 'prepare" the boxes. He stated that, based onhis familiarity
*b the boxes, if it was 'a nutter Of Organizing the boxes in numerical order, he could assist the team
tend the'could have the boxes organised in less than an hour. Ms. Hendrickson would not answer
tiix'quesno . She;aske4 t t;we leáve for ,i ow ud:retum in the morning. [Randy Andreozzi attests
to this paragraph]

Randy Andreozzi returned to the conference room and the team departed from the FBI office for
the rest of the day.

T have reviewed the foregoing narrative and confirm to the best of that it
is a true and accurate summary of the events described,

Randall P. Andreozzi

tose Míltrèrt

Ronald- Wise

Theresa Mains

IIoward Epstein

Tracy Marien.

Eugene Benton
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first fifty boxes ready for review the following morning,. Me. Andreozzi again expressed concern, and
asked why they needed the evening to "prepare" the boxes. He stated that, based onhis farraliority
with the boxes, if it was a matter of organizing the boxes in numerical order, he could assist the team
and they could have the boxes organized in less than an hour. Ms. Hendrickson would not answer
the question. She asked that we leave for now and return in the morning. [Randy Andrcozzi attests
to this paragraph]

Randy Andreozzi returned to the CtOnfaCIICe tOQIU 2411 tegii kdepute4 from the FM office for
the rest of the day.

I h a v e r e v i e w e d t h e f o r e g o i n g n a r r a t i v e and confirm t o the best duty reC011ection that it
is a true and accurate summary of the events described.

Randall P. Ancireoz;it

Jose Marrero

Ronald Wise

Theresa Mains

Howard Epstein
te,

Tracy Manen

Eugene Benton
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MEMORANDUM
'UNITED STATES V. YUSU. , ET AL.

TO: ALL DEFENSE COUNSF1.

FROM RANDALL ANDRLOZ7,i, RONALD WISE,' MARREIiO, bIOWilztL2 EPSl"RIN. THERESA
MAINS, TRACY MARIEN

sUBJECT: NARRATIVE OF EVENTS ATSr:.,THOMAS FDt OFFICES CiN`IHUKSÌ7A, NÖVEMI3E1t 13, 200s

DATE. NOVFW$P.Íi 13, 2008

CC:

FBI OFFICES DOCUMENT REVIEW NOVEMBER 13, zoos

The following persons travelled to the FBI Offices in St. Thomas to review client :documents;
Randall Andreozzi, Jose Marrero, Howard Epstein, and Theresa Mains. Ron Wise joined the group
during the afternoon session.

Present for the Governnent: Lori Hendrickson (DOJ); Thomas Petri (FBI), Javier Bell (IRS),
Christine rLeibai (FBI).

MORNING

Upon the group's arrival, Lori Hendrickson asked to speak privately with Randy Andreozzi.

Ina private discussion, Ms. Hetzdricicson advised Mr. Andreozzi that she reviewed the documents
until 8 p.m. the previous ni; =.t Ms. Hendrickson's explanation is that the FBI Special Agents did in
fact reorganize, and remove documents since the defense team's last visit: Ms. H i ckaeud on
etçplsined'.that, as best she can determine, the following occut ed;

I. The Special Agents removed some documents and put them in trial folders. They used the
originals, and no copies were replaced in the original boxes.

2. The Special Agents .returned some documents to the defendants at various points in time
Ms. Hendrickson claims that some items and documents returned were pulled from boxes
and returned to the defendants (rather than .entire boxes being returned intact), but she,
cannot identify the, specific items of documents returned. Mr: Andreozzi advised that he
recalls a document return in 2006 that was box by box, and not a -return of specifically
identified documents or items.

3. As for the boxes that the FI3I has retained, the Special Agents reorganized the documents
contained in those boxes in various ways. For example, the Special Agents may have
grouped all bank statements together so that they no longer maintained the statements in the
originaiboxes based on their source. Defense counsel is now unable to determine where the
various documents were procured or who may have had access to them.

Ms. Hendrickson stated that this was the best she could do on the matter, and repeated that, "What's
done is done.' Ms. Hendrickson further asserted that she failed to understand why there was an
issue since we had access to the documents earlier. Mr. Andreozzi explained that, for the same
reasons the government was compelled to maintain the integrity of the system while we reviewed the
documents. today, the defense needs to verify whether that same integrity has been maintained during
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the years in which the evidence was in the government's hands. Mr. Andreozzi asked whether Ms.
Hendrickson could now ever make any representations as to the integrity of the chain of custody of
the documents based on what has occurred. Ms. Hendrickson refused to :answer the question.
[Randy Andteozzi attests to this private discussion].

The defense team identified a number of documents that they wanted to scan. Ms. Zeiba noted that
we :should tag all documents for scanning and after lunch she would provide them to us. ' The team
tagged 3 documents thatwere iti a binder that was in one of the boxes,

M this point Ms. Zeiba requested: that the defense team leave the offices for the lunch break.

AFTERNOON

Ron Wise joined the group for this portion of the review. After returning from lunch, Ms. Zeiba
produced for the defense team the contents of the aforementioned binder. (previously box 35). Two
tagged documents (including a cover sheet of "Search Warrant Return" which reflected location and
description of seized items) were now missing from the binder. When asked where the documents
to be scanned were, Special Agent Zeiba stated that those documents were the property of the FBI
and we could not scan those documents. We again noted the box contained Gross Receipts tax
returns. However, the box no longer contained Scotia. Bank information, although we did find
checks written on the Scotia Bank account

As the review of documents proceeded, the defense team 'noted numerous instances in which
documents that were originally noted (per their index) as being in certain boxes were no longer
contained in thy boxes. Additionally, as the boxes were now being brought out in numerical order,
there were a number of boxes missing that were identified in the earlier index, as available before.

At one point, Ronald Wise handed Si document to Theresa Mains and asked her to scan it for our
files. An unidentified FBI Special Agent who had been monitoring our activities from one end of the
table immediately stood, feigned as if stretching, end casually walked to the side of the table where
Ms. Mains was working. There he stopped, leaned casually against a file cabinet, and begin to
observe the computer screen that would reflect the document Ms. Mains was attempting to scan:
Ms. Wise immediately advised this agent to move back to his original position at the end of the table.
This FBI Special Agent did not move, and asked why he should have to move. Mr. Wise explained
that it was unacceptable for him to observe Ms. Mains' computer screen which would enable hiiu to
determine documents deemed :pertinent by the defense team. After a brief pause, this FBI Special
Agent returned to the end of the table, shaking his head to demonstrate he did not understand or
disagreed with Mr. Wises request.

I have reviewed the foregoing narrative and confirm to the best of my recollection that it
is a true and accurate summary of the events described.

Jose Marrero
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Theresa Mains

Ronald Wise
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the years in which the evidence was in the gö etitment's hands. Mr. Andreozzi asked whether Ms.
Hendrickson could now ever make any representations as to the integrity of the chain of custody of
the documents based on what has occurred. Ms. Hendrickson refused to answer the question.
[Randy Andreozzi attests to this private discussion).

The defense tram identified a number of documents Aunt they warned to scan. Ms. Zeiba noted that
we should tag all documents for scanning and after lunch she would provide them to us. The team
tagged 3 documents drat were in a binder that was in one of the boxes.

At this point Ms. Zeiba requested that the defense team leave the offices for the lunch break,

AFTERNOON

Ron Wise joined the group for this portion of the review. After returning from lunch, Ms. Zeiba
produced for the defense tear, the contents of the aforementioned binder (prreviously box 35). Two
tagged documents (including a cover sheet of "Search Warrant Return" which reflected .location :and
description of seized <items) were now hissing from the binder. When asked where the documents
to be scanned Nc'ere, Special Agent Zeiba stated that those documents were the property of the FBI
and we could not scan those documents. We again noted the box contained Gross Receipts tax
returns. However, the box no longer contained Scotia Bank i nfotrnation, although we did find
checks written on the Scotia Bank account.

A.: the review of documents proceeded, the defense team noted numerous instances in which
documents that were originally noted (per their index) as being in certain boxes were no longer
contained in the boxes. Additionally, as the boxes were now being brought out in numerical order,
there were a number of boxes missing that were identified in the earlier index, as available before.

At one point, Ronald Wise handed a document to Theresa Mains and asked her to scan it for our
files. An unidentified FBI Special Agent who had been monitoring our activities from one end of the
table immediately stood, feigned as if stretching, and casually walked to the side of the .table where
Ms. Mains was worldng. There he stopped, leaned casually against a file cabinet, 2nd begin to
observe the-computer screen that would reflect the document Ms. Mains was attempting to scan.
Mr. Wise irtunediately advised this agent ro move back to his original position at the end of the table.
This FBI Special Agent did not weave, and asked why he should have to move. Mr. Wise explained
that it was unacceptable for him to observe Ms. Mains' computer screen which would enable him to
determine documents deemed pertinent by the defense team. After a brief pause, this FBI Special
:gent returned to the end of the table, shaking his head to demonstrate he did not understand or
disagreed with Mr. \Vise's request.

X have reviewed the foregoing narrative and confirm to the best of my recollection that it
is a truc and accurate summary of the events described.

Randall P. Andreozzi
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MEMORANDUM OF AGTMTIt=S

Date: January 26, 2009

Time: 9:00 AM :to5:00 PM (Approximately)

Location: FBI Offices, St Thomas USVI

Present: Randall Andreozzi, Attorney

José L Marrero, Consultant

Ronald E. Wise, Consultant

Howard Epstein, CPA

Thomas Petri, Special Agent, FBI

Christine.Zeiba, Special Agent, FBI

Javier Bell, Special Agent, IRS

SUBJECT{ NARRATIVE OF EVENTS AT ST. THOMAS FBI OFFICES ON MONDAY,
JANUARY 26 2009

FBI OFFJCES DOCUMENT REVIEW JANUARY 26, 2009

On tris date, Randall Andreozzi, Josh Marrero, Howard Epstein, and Ronald Wise arrived ai the FBI
Offices in St Thomas to continue the review of client documents that began in November, 200'8.

Present for the Government wore Special Agent Thomas Petri (FBI), Special Agent Javier Bell (IRS), and
Special Agent Christine Zeilxc (FBI).

The session began at approximately 9:15 a.m. with the defense team continuing its review of the boxes of
client documents to determine the extent of the harm caused by the Agents' reorganization of documents.
Specifically, the team began its review with Box 255 and continued in numerical progression.

To facilitate the team's evaluation of the harm, Randy Andreozzi requested that the FBI provide the
search warrant returns identifying the specific documents seized and their respective sources. Special
Agent Petri stated he would not provide the defense team with copies of the search warrant returns and
inventory, as he claimed this information had already been provided. Tho search warrant returns in tho
possession of the defense contain only general and often vague references to the documents seized. In
many instances, the description of the documents seized is listed as "Documents" or "Boxes of
Documents." Consequently, a significant number of the search warrant returns produced by the FBI -
particularly those relating to un- bates- stanapcd documents - are of no use in identifying the specific
documents seized.
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Agent Petri further stressed that all of the documents obtained by the L.T. S. Govan ment during the raid
and subsequent investigation were "his" and not the dcfcaidants'. According to Agent Petri, he could and
did organize them as he deemed appropriate. In response to questions from Randy Andreozzi, SA Petri
stated be bad in fact already reviewed the contents contained in the boxes of seized evidence and moved
documents to different boxes as appropriate.

The e team continued ils review of the documents and terminated its review at approximately 5:00 p.m.

I have reviewed the foregoing narrative and confirm to the best of my r eolleetion that it is a true and
accurate summary oftbe events described.

Randall Anil, Attorney

Ronald S. Wise, Consultant

it

rf

Howard Epstein, CPA
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pIEMORANDYïM.OP ACTIVITIES

Date: January 27, 2009

Time: 9 :00 AM to 530. PM (Approximately)

Location: PET Offices, St. Thomas USW

Present: Randall Andreozzi, Attorney

Jose I. Marrero, Consultant

Ronald E. wise, Consultant

Howard Epstein, ÇPA

Thomas Petri, Special A gent. FBI

Christine Zeiba, Special Agent, FBI

Javier Bell, Special Agent, IRS

SUBJECT: NARRATIVE OF EVENTS AT ST. THOMAS FBI OFFICES ON TUESDAY,
JANUARY 27, 2009

FBI OFrÌgE5 DOCUMENT REVIEW JANUARY 27.2449

On this data, Randall Andreozzi, Iasi Marrero, Howard Epstein. and Ronald Wise arrived at the FBI
Offices in. St. Thomas to review client documents maintained by the Government:

Present for the Government were Special Agent Thomas Petri (FBI), Special Agent Javier Bell (IRS), and
Special Agent Christine Zeibu (FBI).

The session began at approximately 9 :15 a.m. with the defense team picking up where it left off on
January 26, 2009 in its review of the boxes of client documents to determine the extent of the harm
caused by the Agents' reorganization of documents. During the initial portion of the session, SA Javier
Ball was not present. During the morning meetings, SA Petri spoke with Randy Andreoxzi, stating that
"discovery" was OK, but he would not allow the defense team to review evidence for the purpose of
developing another motion. Ile added that Mr. Andreozzi should simply take the case to trial. Mr.

Andreozzi stated the:,purposo of the defense team's presence was to bath review documents and to assess
any potential harm resulting from the rearrangement of documents by the Government. SA Petri
responded that if that was true, Ms. Hendrickson had lied to him (Petri), apparently suggesting that ho
was under a mistaken impression as to the purpose of the defense tearn's visit. SA Petri ilron asked us to
leave the area while be attempted to telephone DOJ Attorney Laurie Hendrickson.

A few intrudes later, SA Petri allowed us to return to the area, saying "Come in and I will explain what is
left of your charade" He suggested Mr. Andreozzi should bring a photocopier to the premises to copy

-r... Mask_. _, -_Fr-.°5("2-`
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documents, as the defense team may not be allowed to return again. Mr. Andreozzi repeated that the
purpose of the defense team's presence was to both review documents and to assess any potential harm
resulting from the rearrangement of documents by the Government. SA Petri said that the only
movement of documents was the movement of the boxes from one location to another, and the chain of
custody had been preserved. He then added, "I probably have taken documents from one box, and at my
discretion moved them to another box_" Shortly thereafter, he denied having said that he had moved
documents from one box to another, explaining that he had previously said, "If I had moved
documents...." He then added, "Even if I said there was stuff that was moved from one box to another, I
don't care. If I move evidence from one box to another, it does not matter as long as you have seen all the
evidence. I do not have to tell you how I catalogue my evidence."

Mr. Andreozzi asked that Agent Petri also produce any documents the Government procured in the matter
through subpoenas. Special Agent Petri explained that the only subpoenaed documents he would allow
the defense to review would be those that we specifically request. Ho advised Mr_ Andreozzi to request
specific documents as opposed to all subpoenaed records, and that he would determine which documents
were relevant. Mr. Andreozzi explained to the Agent that this protocol was not logically feasible. SA

Petri disagreed, and the defense team continued review of the seized documents.

The defense team left the premises around 11 :45 AM and returned around I :l 5 PM to continue its review.
During the afternoon session, SA Petri and Mr. Andreozzi continued to discuss documents needed for
review by the defense team. Mr. Andreozzi explained to SA Petri that the FBI's identification of specific
documents and the organization of the documents based on the source from which they wem procured
during the starch is an important issue.. SA Petri /dated, "It doesn't matter how we store our evidence."
He added: "A document is a document, is a document." Mr. Andreozzi continued to inquire as to whether
the FBI employed a certain methodology in rearranging the seized documents within the storage boxes.
SA Petri declined to provide answers to his questions, stating he considered those questions only for their
"pure entertainment value."

Near the end of the afternoon session, Agent Petri stated that he would require a list of additional items
the defense would like to review the next day. The defense team loft the premises at appmximately 5:00
PM to prepare a list for Agent Petri, Mr. Andreozzi and Mr. Marrero returned to the FBI facility at
approximately 5:05 PM to provide the list and confer with SA Petri regarding documents to be reviewed
on the following day. T e list included foreign bank account information. seized computer analyses, tax
return pteparcr files (already being supplied), and all documents procured by the Agents from third parties
through the current date, either through subpoenas or otherwise. SA Petri reviewed the list, stated, "I
kw whore you are going with this," and demanded that Messrs. Andreozzi and Marrero leave the office.
[Zile paragraph is attested to by Mr. Andreozzi and Mr. Marrero, only.]
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I have reviewed the &regain narrative and ooafinn to the best of my recollection that it is a truo and
accurate summary ;AO= avelits dawn'bcd.

Randall Andreozzi Attorney

Ronald E. Wise, Consultant-,

Jos6 I. Marrero, Consultant

"Howard Epstein, CPA
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1V1MORANDÚM OF ACTIViTIES

Date: battery 28, 2009

Time: 9:00 AM to S :00 PM (Approximately)

Location: FBI Offices, St Thomas, USVI

Present: Randall Andreozzi, Attorney

Josh L Maman, Consultant

Ronald E. Wise, Consultant

Howard : Epstein, CPA

Thomas Petri, Special Agent, FBI

Christine Zeiba, Special Agent; FBI

Javier Bell, Special Agent, IRS

SUBJECT: NARRATIVE OF EVENTS AT ST. THOMAS FBI OFFICES ON WEDNESDAY,
JANUARY 28, 2009

FBI OFFICES DOCUMENT REVIEW JANUARY 28, 2009

On this date, Randall Andreozzi, Josb Marrero, Howard Epstein, and Ronald Wise arrived at the FBI
Offices in St. Thomas to continue their document review.

Present for the Govenunent were Special Agent Javier Bell (IRS) and Special Agent Christine Zeìba
(FBI). Agent Petri was not present.

The defense team continued to review documents in the possession of the Government during the
morning session before breaking for lunch around noon.

During the afternoon of January 28, 2009, the defe1M tdttm concluded its review of the seized documents
(with the exception of boxes 134 through 254). Special Agent Javier 13e11 then began produetion of
certain items identified by the defense team the previous day. Ile produced a box containing expandable
folders bearing notations "CAB-#,^ CAB -#21", etc. These folders contained various documents, some
identified with document numbers, and others unmarked. One of the folders contained documents
identified by numbers beginning with the prefix "S4." Although the majority of those documents were in
French, most of them appeared to consist of or relate to bank records from St. Martin. One un- numbered
document consisting of multiple pages appeared to sot forth banking regulations.

Special Agent Zciba then produced from her office an expandable file folder containing what appeared to
be requests for bank records by the U. S. Government and various responding documents from the French
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government: References were made throughout those documents to "Afghanistan," "Taliban," and
"Terrorist." Mr. Andreoai noted that the defense team had not previously been provided these
documents and asked Special Agent Bell to provide copies. At approximately 4.30 PM, Special Agent
Dcli conferred with Christine Zeiba regarding the request. Agent Zeiba refused to provide the requested
copies. Mr. Andreozzi advised that he required copies of these documents before the learn departed for
the evening and suggested that the Agents contact Attorney Hendrickson immediately. She returned a
few minutes later and stated Ms. Hendrickson advised her we had had ample time to copy documents, and
that the Government would not copy any documents for the defense team today. She stated that the
defense team should obtain a photocopier and return to make copies for ourselves. Upon finiitcrr
questioning, Special Agent Zeiba said that even though she had said the government would not provide
copies of the requested documents "today," she did not believe the government would provide copies at a
later date, either. She said Ms. Henderson told her these documents were the subject of an ongoing
motion, and therefore would not be providedto the defense team.

The defense team reminded Special Agent Zeiba that the Government did not produce copies of
Suspicious Activity Reports (SAR's) and Currency Transaction Reports (CTR`s). She advised that the
defense team would not be provided with any of these documents. No explanation was given. Special
Agent Bell was also reminded that we had requested a copy of the `Reports of Analysis of Seized
Computers" that had been allegedly prepared by Special Agent Mike Anderson of the IRS as noted on the
return of inventory /drain of custody FBI form FD 192. Special Agent Bell stated the government was in
the process of gathering the information.

Based on the defense team's review of the seized property, the defense has determined the following:

1. Numerous exhibit boxes or redwells are missing and cannot be accounted for as returned to the
defendants. The boxes contained both bate- stamped and non-bate-stamped documents.

2. Some boxes or redwells appearto have been consolidated into other boxes, but the consolidations
can only be confirmed with respect to the lets stamped documents.

3. Numerous boxes are now missing documents that were °iii The boxes, during the defense team's
earlier visits in 2004.

4: Many boxes now' contain more documents than were amounted för during the defense team's
earlier visits in 2004.

5:: There were a member of instances in which old boxes were missing and appeared to have been
put::inrenumbered boxes.,

6. Numerous boxes (both numbered and unnumbered) were provided to the defense team that were
not produced for inspection during the earlier visits in 2004, Many of these documents were
stored in the Special Agents' offices
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This memorandum was prepared on January 29 2009 i NW 01(16,410ring mete* Zeiba
and other members of the prosecution team.

I have reviewed the foregoing narrative and confirm to the best of my recollection that it is a true arid
accurate summary of the events desc.ribed.

Randall Andmozzi, Attorney

Ronald E. Wise, 6.10usIgtant

JosZ L Marrero, Contultant

**ttaelf.Otelii,XSA
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS,

Plaintiff,
v.

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF,
aka Fathi Yusuf,

WALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED,
aka Wally Hamed,

WAHEED MOHAMMED HAMED,
aka Willie Hamed,

MAHER FATHI YUSUF,
aka Mike Yusuf,

ISAM MOHAMAD YOUSUF,
aka Sam Yousuf,

NEJEH FATHI YUSUF, and
UNITED CORPORATION

d/b /a Plaza Extra,
Defendants.

: RIMINAL NO. 2005-015

GOVERNMENT'S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT'S MOTION REPLY
MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF THE MOTION FOR SPECIFIC RELIEF

The United States of America and the Territory of the Virgin Islands, by and through its

undersigned counsel, respectfully submits this response to Defendants' Reply to the

Government's Response to Defendants' Motion for Specific Relief (No. 1076 -- Mar. 17, 2009).

DISCUSSION

Defendants present numerous false allegations in their reply memorandum in support of

their motion to dismiss. The government submits the attached declarations in support of its

opposition to the motion.

The Third Circuit has adapted two Supreme Court cases to adopt a three -part test to

4419718.1

EXHIBIT

D
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analyze allegations of spoliation of evidence against the Government. See United States v.

Jackman, 72 Fed. Appx. 862, 866 (3d Cir. 2003). The three threshold questions are: (1) did the

government "act[] in bad faith when it destroyed the evidence," (2) did the evidence "possess[]

an apparent exculpatory value" at the time of loss or destruction, and (3) is the evidence "to some

extent irreplaceable." M. (internal quotations omitted). The defendant has the burden to

demonstrate to the court that all three questions are answered in the affirmative to successfully

assert an evidence spoliation claim against the government. See Id. Defendants have not done so

in their motion.

The first prong is taken from the Supreme Court's holding in Arizona v. Youngblood,

488 U.S. 51 (1988). The Court stated that "unless a criminal defendant can show bad faith on the

part of the police, failure to preserve potentially useful evidence does not constitute a denial of

due process of law." at 58. The remaining two prongs were set out prior to Youngblood, in

California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479 (1984). The Court, in Trombetta, held that for evidence

destruction to rise to the level of a constitutional deficiency, the evidence in question must have

"an exculpatory value that was apparent before the evidence was destroyed, and be of such a

nature that the defendant would be unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably

available means. Id. at 489. This inquiry turns heavily on the actual knowledge of the law

enforcement officials, as to the exculpatory value of the evidence in question, prior to its loss or

destruction.

Defendants have not shown that the government acted in bad faith. The government has

made every effort to maintain and preserve the evidence. Indeed, any misplaced evidence may be

the product of defendants' review rather than government conduct.

2 4419718.1
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Defendants also cannot show that evidence was destroyed, that it was exculpatory, or that

it cannot be replaced. Instead, they claim to be aggrieved by the organization of the evidence.

They provide no authority for granting any relief on the grounds that the government altered the

manner in which evidence was stored.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the government respectfully requests the Court deny

defendant's motion in its entirety.

Dated: July 8, 2009

Respectfully Submitted,
PAULA. MURPHY
ACTING UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

/s/
ALPHONSO ANDREWS
Assistant U.S. Attorney
MARK F. DALY
LORI A. HENDRICKSON
Trial Attorneys
U.S. Department of Justice
601 D Street, N.W. - Room 7814
Washington, D.C. 20004
Tel: (202) 616 -2245
Fax: (202) 616 -1786

3 4419718.1
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I, Mark F. Daly, certify that on this the 8th day of July, 2009 the foregoing pleading, the

GOVERNMENT'S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT'S REPLY MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT
OF THE MOTION FOR SPECIFIC RELIEF, was served on the counsel of record by filing the
same through the ECF system.

Is /
Mark F. Daly

4 4419718.1
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DECLARATION OF SPECIAL AGENT THOMAS L. PETRI

I, Thomas L. Petri, make this declaration in support of the Government's Response to
Defendants' Reply Memorandum in Support of the Motion for Specific Relief.

1 I am employed as a Special Agent of the Federal Bureau of Investigation. I have served
in that capacity for 20 years. I am assigned to the Miami Field Office.

2 I was assigned to the St. Thomas office of the Federal Bureau of Investigation from 2000
through 2006. While stationed on St. Thomas, I was the lead case agent of the
investigation of United Corporation, Fathi Yusuf, Maher Yusuf, Nejeh Yusuf, Waleed
Hamed, Waheed Hamed, and Isam Yousuf.

3 In the course of that investigation, the government obtained and executed search warrants.
Those searches were conducted at numerous locations throughout the islands, including
the Plaza Extra stores and the homes of the defendants.

4 Evidence seized during he course of those searches was placed in boxes. Numbers were
placed on the boxes to maintain an order.

5 The seized evidence, as well as evidence obtained either consensually or through grand
jury subpoenas, was stored at the upper building of the FBI office in St. Thomas.

6 During.the course of the investigation, FBI agents maintained control over the evidence.
It was stored in a conference room in the office. No other materials but the documents
pertinent to the investigation were stored in that room.

7 In 2003, subsequent to the return of the indictment, counsel for defendants was afforded
complete access to seized evidence. Attorney Robert King, the attorney then representing
defendants, reviewed the discovery at the FBI office on St. Thomas. He and a team of
approximately four or five individuals reviewed evidence for several weeks. They
brought with them a copier and made many copies of documents.

8 In 2004, a different set of attorneys presently representing the defendants reviewed the
evidence seized in the course of the execution of the search warrants. By my estimation,
document review team included up to ten people at any one time. The defense team spent
several weeks reviewing the evidence. They had with them at least one copier and one
scanner with which they made numerous copies and images of the evidence.

9 During the 2004 review, the defense team was afforded unfettered access to discovery.
They were permitted to review any box of documents at any time, including evidence
seized during the searches, foreign bank records, documents obtained either consensually
or by grand jury subpoena, and FBI Forms 302. The defense team pulled numerous boxes
at one time with many different people reviewing different documents from different

4420752.1
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boxes.

10 Immediately following the defense team's departure from the FBI premises , I had
occasion to obtain documents from boxes that had been reviewed by the defense team. I
discovered that documents that originally had been placed in one box had been placed in
a different box. I returned the documents to their original boxes. I cannot be certain that
I was able to identify each instance where documents had been misfiled by the defense
team.

11 During the document review in January 2009, Randall Andreozzi requested to review all
documents obtained via subpoena. I explained to him that I could not produce all
evidence at once. That evidence comprises approximately 40 boxes. I asked him for a
specific list of documents, or category of documents that he wished to review. He
declined to identify the records that he wished to review and did not pursue the matter.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed s July 8 2009.

honras L. Petri

4420752.1
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Declaration of Special Agent Christine Zieba

I, Christine Zieba, make this Declaration in support of the Government's Response to
Defendants' Reply Memorandum in Support of the Motion for Specific Relief.

1 I am employed as a Special Agent of the Federal Bureau of Investigation. I have served
in that capacity for approximately 5 years.

2 I am a case agent who is assigned to the St. Thomas office of the FBI. I have been
assigned to assist the prosecution in United States v. Yusuf, 05 -15 (D.V.I.).

3 I have been present at the review of documents conducted by counsel for defendants in
the Yusuf matter.

4 The FBI office is comprised of two buildings, an upper building and a lower building.
The two building are secured facilities. As part of their duties, the agents and support
staff housed in the lower building possess classified and secret national security
information.

5 The evidence obtained in the course of the investigation and prosecution of the
defendants is stored in the lower building. The evidence is secured either in a locked
storage room or in locked file cabinets in the secured work space.

6 By necessity, the defendants' document review has taken place at a long conference table
in middle of the central work space. The desks of one agent and analyst are freely
accessible from that central work space . The special agent and the analyst possess and
utilize classified, secret, and grand jury information in their work spaces.

7 Given that FBI special agents and employees maintain classified, secret, and grand jury
information in the lower building, it is not feasible to provide the defendants unfettered
access to that space.

8 I memorialized my conversations with defense counsel as well as the events that
transpired during the document review from November 8, 2008 through January 29,
2009. Those memoranda are attached to this declaration and incorporated as if fully set
forth herein.

9 A process was put in place in order to ensure that evidence was not lost, misplaced or
destroyed during the review process by defense counsel. Defense counsel were allowed
to review one box at a time, and were allowed to handle the documents.

10 Despite this procedure, the defense team misplaced evidence. For example, the defense
team reviewed a box of evidence and scanned documents contained within it. They then
replaced the documents in the box and asked to review a different box of evidence.

4420755.1
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Subsequent to the shelving of the original of the first box, it was discovered that the
defense team had left a document on the scanner and had not returned it to the original
box. The document was taken from one of the defense team and returned to the box from
which it had been taken.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed on July 8,

4420755.1
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FD -302 (Rev. I0 -6 -95)

-1-

FEDERAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION

Date of transcription 11/17/2008

SA Christine Zieba was informed by United States
Department of Justice (DOJ) Tax Division Attorneys, Mark Daly and
Lori Hendrickson that defense attorney's, representing defendants,
in the captioned case needed to review specific items of evidence
at some point during the week of November 10, 2008. Attorney
Randall Andreozzi was to contact SA Zieba to set up a schedule,
describe specifically what items of evidence needed to be reviewed,
dates of arrival, length of time needed for review and other travel
details.

By November 6, 2008, SA Zieba had not heard rom the
attorne s and sent an email to Randal

w is as ea Andreozzi to facsimile
etter describing specs ically what items of evidence needed to

be reviewed, dates of arrival, length of time needed for review and
other travel details. On November 7, 2008, Andreozzi responded via
email to SA Zieba, "We will be arriving on Monday morning around
9:00 AM.- We plan on spending Monday, Wednesday, Thursday and
Friday at the office. We plan to go through the exhibit boxes with
attorneys and forensic accountants. We anticipate 5 -6 people." At
this point SA Zieba contacted Hendrickson and SA Thomas Petri
(former case agent,) to ask for assistance to clarify Andreozzi's
request, Hendrickson and Petri left Andreozzi a message for further
clarification, neither received a return telephone call. SA Zieba
also left Andreozzi a message on his voicemail and provided a
cellular telephone number which he could call at anytime. No
facsimile, letter or further details were provided by Andreozzi.

On Saturday, November 08, 2008, at approximately 9:30 AM,
attorney Andreozzi, called SA Zieba's cellular telephone.
Andreozzi explained that he had planned. to come to St. Thomas to
review all of the evidence in the captioned case. SA Zieba
explained that she had expected to hear from him to confirm details
and had never received a letter specifying the items that needed to
be reviewed or the exact dates requested. SA Zieba told Andreozzi
that since the defense had copied all of the evidence in the case
that Andreozzi needed to supply a letter specifying the items that
needed to be reviewed, in order to facilitate a quick review of the
evidence. At this point Andreozzi stated that the defense did not

Investigation on 11/08/2008 at St. Thomas, VI (telephonically)

Roo; 315S -SJ -38281 Date dictated N/A

by SA Christine Zieba

This document contains neither recommendations nor conclusions of the FBI. It is the property of the FBI and is loaned to your agency;
it and its contents are not to be distributed outside your agency.
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315S-SJ-38281.

Continuation of FD -302 of Conversation with Randall Andreozzi ,On 11/08/2008 ,Page 2

have copies of all of the evidence and that during the time that
the defense had to copy all of the evidence that they chose not to
copy every item. SA Zieba explained that she was not aware that
this was the procedure the attorneys chose. SA Zieba had been
informed that discovery in the matter was complete and that the
defense had copies of all of the evidence. Both parties discussed
ways to review the documents and to make sure the defense had
everything that they needed. During the conversation Andreozzi
stated that some of his exerts were new. At this point SA Zieba
suggested that Andreozzi postpone his trip until they were able to
figure out which items they believed they needed to copy, in order
to make the trip more productive, since new experts would not be
able to resolve the issue without having already reviewed the
voluminous evidence copies that the defense already had. SA Zieba
also stated that if Andreozzi could not figure out what he was
missing that he may need to recopy all of the evidence but
Andreozzi said he did not think that was necessary, since he had
copied a majority of the evidence.

SA Zieba further explained that the FBI would not be able
to accommodate 5 -6 people in the FBI JTTF office space in order to
review evidence and that evidence would need to be reviewed item by
item. Andreozzi expressed concern for such a procedure and
explained that he had been able to review the evidence in a
different manner prior to November 08, 2008. SA Zieba explained
that based on the circumstances provided that an expert and an
attorney would be allowed to review the evidence. Andreozzi again
expressed concern for the protocol described and explained that he
also needed someone to scan items. SA Zieba agreed that three
people could come into the office space to review and copy
evidence. Andreozzi explained that he would still bring the group
out but he would stagger their visits at the office. SA Zieba
asked Andreozzi to call Hendrickson and Petri to further discuss
ideas for the most efficient protocol to finish copying the
evidence on November 10, 2008. SA Zieba told Andreozzi that the
procedure may be able to change on November, 12, 2008, since Petri
and Hendrickson would be present. Andreozzi was reminded that,
Tuesday, November 11, 2008, was a federal holiday, Andreozzi
acknowledged that no review on Tuesday was expected. SA Zieba
repeated that although the defense was entitled to all of the
evidence if they chose not to copy it then their time reviewing
items needed to be limited as FBI space was not the proper place to
discuss evidence with his experts. SA Zieba reminded Andreozzi,
that if he had all of the evidence copied he could consult with
experts openly and in his own space. At this point, Andreozzi
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suggested that all of the evidence could be returned to the
defendant and SA Zieba explained that would not be possible. Both
parties ended the conversation and agreed to meet on Monday,
November 10, 2008, at 9:00 AM in.the FBI JTTF office in St. Thomas,
United States Virgin Islands (VI).
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On Monday, 'November 10, 2008 at a..roximatel 10:15 AM,
attorney, Randall P. Andreo

Theresa Lillian Robert Mains,

arrived at the FBI JTTF office in St. Thomas.

SA Christine Zieba allowed Andreozzi into the office and
asked the other individuals to remain in the lobby area. SA Zieba
reminded Andreozzi that they had agreed that only three people
would be reviewing evidence and they could only review one box of
evidence at a time. Andreozzi was upset with the reviewing
procedure described. SA Zieba asked if Andreozzi had called SA
Thomas Petri or DOJ Tax Division attorney Lori Hendrickson to
discuss an alternative procedures as SA Zieba had suggested,
Andreozzi said he had not. SA Zieba further explained that the
schedule would be 9:00 AM until 11:00 AM and 1:00 PM until 5:00 PM.
At this point Andreozzi went to the lobby area and decided since it
was already 10:45AM that his group would just return after lunch at
1:OOPM.

At approximately 12:30 PM, Andreozzi called and stated
the he decided that he was not going to return to review evidence,
he did not want to "put SA Zieba on the spot" and that he would
straighten things out on Wednesday when Hendrickson arrived. SA
Zieba explained that there was no problem and he could come to
review the evidence as described, however, Andreozzi decided not to
return. SA Zieba explained that she would accommodate Andreozzi by
staying later on Wednesday, Thursday or Friday, if requested in
advance, in order to account for hours missed on Monday. SA Zieba
further explained that Andreozzi should contact Hendrickson or
Petri to discuss alternative evidence reviewing procedures, so as

Investigation on ' 11/10/2008 at St. Thomas , VI
315S-SJ-38281 N/A

File # Date dictated

by SA Christine Zieba

This document contains neither recommendations nor conclusions of the FBI. It is the property of the FBI and is loaned to your agency;
it and its contents are not to be distributed outside your agency.
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to not delay his review of the evidence on November 12, 2008. SA
Zieba also explained that since more people would be present on
Monday, more evidence may be accessible and more people may be
allowed in the FBI JTTF office to review evidence. Both parties
ended the conversation and agreed to meet on Wednesday, November
12, 2008, at 9:00 AM, in the FBI JTTF office in St. Thomas, United
States Virgin Islands (VI).
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On Wednesday, November 12, 2008, at approximatel 9:00
, attorney, Randall P. Andreozzi Attorne

arrived at the F TTF office in St. T mas,
I. Andreozzi spo e with DOJ Tax Division attorney Lori

Hendrickson. At approximately 10:20 AM the individuals listed
above began to review evidence. Boxes of evidence were pulled in
random order since the defense attorneys had never provided a
specific list of which items needed to be reviewed. The scanner
that Andreozzi brought was damaged on the airplane and could not
scan items, Andreozzi asked to put aside certain items to scan
later, this request was accommodated and certain items were put
aside. At approximately 11:45 AM the individuals took a lunch
break, and agreed to return at 1:15 PM.

The individuals returned at approximately 1:30PM, with a
new scanner. At one point, Andreozzi specifically asked for five
items to review, SA Zieba tried to accommodate but since SA Zieba
was the sole person pulling and monitoring evidence. SA Zieba
explained to Andreozzi that unless provided with a list ahead of
time, as requested, random boxes would be pulled. SA Zieba
reminded Andreozzi that he had requested to see all items in
evidence and decided not to provide a list ahead of time.
Andreozzi also specifically requested that SA Thomas Petri (FBI),
SA Javier Bell (IRS) and Hendrickson not assist in evidence review..

Investigation on 11/12/2008 at St .. Thomas , VI
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by SA Christine Zieba
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Several times during the review Andreozzi asked questions
on the way evidence was being provided. SA Zieba explained that
the items were being randomly pulled based on his request to review
all of the evidence and agreements made with Hendrickson. At one
point Andreozzi asked if items have been moved by SA Zieba, SA
Zieba explained that she had moved boxes around. Andreozzi also
asked if SA Zieba could provide him with specific evidence and SA
Zieba explained that if he requested evidence ahead of time that it
could be. reviewed. SA Zieba explained that this was the procedure
that was anticipated until SA Zieba was told on November 8, 2008
that the defense planned to review all of the evidence. On another
occasion Andreozzi became upset that Petri and Bell were in the
evidence room.

Both parties agreed to meet on Thursday, November 13,
2008, at 9:00 AM, in the FBI JTTF office in St. Thomas, United
States Virgin Islands (VI).
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On Thursday, November 13, 2008, at approximatel 9:25 AM,
attorne , Randall P. Andreozzi Attorne

arrived at the FBI JTTF office in St. Thomas, VI
to review evidence. Andreozzi asked to break at 12:30 PM instead
of 11:00AM and wanted to come back at 2:00PM, this request was
accomodated.

At approximatel 2:40 PM, Marrero, Epstein, Theresa
rt Mains,

returnee to e o fice to continue reviewing evidence. T e
individuals requested to return at 10:00AM, Friday, November 14,
2008.

Investigation on 11/13/2008 at St Thomas, VI

File # 315S -SJ -38281 Date dictated N/A

by SA Christine Zieba
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On Friday, November 14, 2008, at approximatel 10:30 AM,
Jose Ismael M e

Howar
Eps ein

e: pstein arrived at 10:00 AM and waited for the others to
arrive), Theresa Lillian Robert Mains

at the FBI JTTF office in ornas, VI, to review and copy
evidence.

At 11:30 AM the individuals took a lunch break and agreed
to inform what time they were returning since they were not sure
who would be able to come. Randall P. Andreozzi,

Marrero, Mains and We
re at , out calling. An addition person was
present to scan however, the scanner was not utilized.

Investigation on 11 / 14 / 2 0 08 at St . Thomas, VI

Fik k 315S-SJ-38281

by SA Christine Zieba

Date dictated N/A

This document contains neither recommendations nor conclusions of the FBI. It is the property of the FBI and is loaned to your agency;
it and its contents are not to be distributed outside your agency.



Case: 1:05 -cr- 00015- RLF -GWB Document #: 1148 -2 Filed: 07/08/09 Page 12 of 20

FD -302 (Rev. 10 -6 -95)

attorne

-1-

FEDERAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION

On Monday, January 26, 2009
Ran..il P. A...reozzi

Jose Ismael Marrero,

Howard B. Epstein,

Date of transcription 02/02/2009

.. roximately 9:20 AM,

and Ronald Eugene Wise,

arrived at the FBI JTTF office in St. Thomas.

FBI SA Christine Zieba, SA Thomas Petri and IRS SA Javier
Bell were present at various times during the day.

Andreozzi immediately questioned why Petri and Bell were
present. SA Petri responded that both were involved in the
investigation and trial preparation of the case. SA Petri further
stated that himself and SA Bell will likely be associated with the
case through trial.

Andreozzi stated that he was going outside to call the
other attorneys. Andreozzi stated that he was unable to get a hold
of thé other attorneys and eventually began reviewing evidence.

SA Zieba asked the individuals where they wanted to
start, SA Zieba was told that they left off at box 254.

Individuals left at approximately 12:00 PM and agreed to
return at 1:30 PM. At approximately 1:45 PM, the individuals
returned.

SA Petri also explained that they could see any piece of
evidence if they asked for it and he also asked if they started
reviewing evidence where they had. left off the last time.

Andreozzi left at approximately 4:00 PM and the other
individuals left at approximately 5:00 PM. The individuals agreed
to meet at 9:00 AM on Tuesday, January 27, 2009.

Investigation on 01 / 2 6/ 2 0 09 at S t. Thomas, VI
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Agent note: The individuals were scheduled to review evidence from
January 26th - January 29th. Agents had agreed to stay after normal
business hours if requested in advance, the individuals never
requested to stay later than 5:30 PM. Individuals did not have a
scanner or copier machine.
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On Tuesday, January 27. 2009 at aroxi_mätel 9:15 AM,
attorney, Randall P. Andreozzi

arrived at the FBI JTTF office in St. Thomas.

FBI SA Christine Zieba, SA Thomas Petri and IRS SA Javier
Bell were present at various times during the day. The individuals
continued reviewing evidence.

At one point during their review of documents, Epstein
commented that "this is too much to write down," he then ignored a
number of the documents and continued to another box. There were
numerous occasions during the review that individuals were observed
going through boxes and "red wells" at a rate they were obviously
not able to identify the documents being reviewed. At one point,
SA Petri commented to the individuals, specifically Epstein
regarding the teams ability to actually inventory and review,
Epstein simply smiled and continued.

Individuals left at approximately 11 :40 PM. At
approximately 1:15 PM, the individuals returned.

Individuals continued reviewing evidence. During their
review SA Zieba was asked what the last box number was and about
how many boxes from the number they were on until the last box
number. At this point Andreozzi stated that they wanted to look at
additional items after they finished. SA Zieba and Petri explained
that they were told Andreozzi was only reviewing boxes of evidence
collected from the search warrants. SA Zieba then asked Andreozzi
to come up with a list of any additional items that they planned on
reviewing.

Investigation on 01/27/2009 at St. Thomas, VI

Heft 3155 --SJ -38281 Date dictated N/A

by SA Christine Zieba:cz
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The individuals list of documents that they wanted to
review prior to their departure, included:

1. All documents secured from Jordan entities
2. All documents secured from St. Martin entities.
3. All documents secured from CPA or tax preparer.
4. All other documents secured through Grand Jury or

government subpoena.
5. All documents secured from third parties through

contacts or communications other than subpoena.
6. CTR and SAR Reports.
7. Report of analysis of seized computers.

SA Petri again asked if the defense was comfortable that
they reviewed all of the search warrant evidence and reminded them
that he thought they may have missed boxes.

The individuals agreed to meet at 9:00 AM on Wednesday,
January 28, 2009. Individuals left at approximately 5:00 PM.

Agent note: The individuals were scheduled to review evidence from
January 26th- January 29th. Agents had agreed to stay after normal
business hours if requested in advance, the individuals never
requested to stay later than 5:30 PM. Individuals did not have a
scanner or copier machine.
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On Wednesday, January 28, 2009, at approximately 9:15 AM,
attorney, Randall P. Andreozz'

arrived at the FBI JTTF office in St. Thomas.

FBI SA Christine Zieba and IRS SA Javier Bell were
present at various times during the day.

After the individuals arrived they spent approximately 30
minutes reviewing lists and going through their computers before
they addressed reviewing evidence and, started their review.

In response to their list, CPA /tax preparer evidence was
brought for the defense to review.

The individuals also asked to go back and review
additional search warrant locations items that they missed, because
they had trouble figuring out where they left off from their lists.

Individuals left at approximately 11:30 PM. At
approximately 1:30 PM, the individuals returned.

The individuals later began reviewing foreign records,
during their review Andreozzi told SA Bell that he needed to copy a
document for the defense immediately and that he was not leaving
without it. SA Zieba and SA Bell explained that they would not be
making any copies for the individuals and reminded them that they
were free to bring a scanner /printer along with them but chose not
to.

At that point Andreozzi demanded that DOJ Tax Division
Attorney Lori Hendrickson be called. Agents assisted Andreozzi in

Investigation on 01/28/2009 at St . Thoma s, VI
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contacting Hendrickson to resolve that issue and the other
questions.asked during the day.

During the review Andreozzi asked if the records had been
translated, SA Zieba told Andreozzi that he should speak to DOJ Tax
Attorney Lori Hendrickson if he had questions. On another occasion
Andreozzi asked if certain markings on the documents were from the
bank or the government, again SA Zieba asked Andreozzi to direct
all questions to Hendrickson. Andreozzi wanted to get in contact
with Hendrickson, who was on leave and SA Zieba asked that he get
several question together before disturbing Hendrickson.

Individuals later specifically requested copies of
various documents, including:

100 page Banking Commission Report
12 page document dated May 14, 2003
Bank records in the name of Sami Al- Yousef

The individuals agreed to meet at 9:00 AM on Thursday,
January 29, 2009. Epstein left at approximately 4:30 PM and the
other individuals left at approximately 4:45 PM.

Agent note: The individuals were scheduled to review evidence from
Januáry 26th- January 29th. Agents had agreed to stay after normal
business hours if requested in advance, the individuals never
requested to stay later than 5:30 PM. Individuals did not have a
scanner or copier machine.
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Date of transcription 02/02/2009

At approximately 10:15 AM SA Bell arrived at the JTTF
office and stated that he ran into the individuals at the Marriott
Hotel around 9:25 AM and that they told him they would see him
later at the JTTF office. SA Zieba was about to leave the office
after waiting all morning, when the individuals finally arrived at
approximately 10:40 AM. Andreozzi had SA Zieba's contact telephone
number and cellular telephone number. SA Zieba never received any
calls, messages or emails from Andreozzi.

Andreozzi explained that he was to get copies of all of
the foreign bank records. SA Zieba explained that Hendrickson had
said that they could review the documents but the FBI was not
photocopying materials for the individuals. Andreozzi immediately
demanded to speak to Lori Hendrickson, and SA Zieba said that she
was still on leave and could be contacted later after Andreozzi put
all of his questions together. Andreozzi again demanded that
Hendrickson be called or an emergency motion needed to be filed, SA
Zieba explained that since the individuals wanted to continue
reviewing evidence that he could call her later when he had all of
his questions together, rather than repeatedly calling Hendrickson
while on her leave. At this point Andreozzi explained that someone
else (not reviewing evidence) would be drafting an emergency
motion, SA Zieba explained that she misunderstood Andreozzi about
the urgency of his request since he was staying to review evidence
and then got Andreozzi in contact with Hendrickson. Andreozzi
insisted that the FBI should copy several documents for Andreozzi
and that it would only take a few minutes to copy the documents.
After both parties spoke to Hendrickson, SA Zieba reiterated that

Investigation on 01/29/2009 at St . Thomas, VI
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the individuals could review any of the documents but the FBI would
not be copying the documents for Andreozzi at that time.

The other individuals then explained that they had given
the wrong number that they wanted to start reviewing on Monday and
that they now wanted to go back and review additional search
warrant location evidence. At this point they asked to start with
box 185 and go up to 254, SA Zieba reminded them that the should
look at.where they left off on November 14, 2008. The individuals
went back to their lists and at 11:20 AM they asked to see evidence
that was in boxes 136-142, then asked for 145, SA Zieba repeated
the suggestion that they start where they left off on November 14,
2008 and go up to 254, they repeated that after 136 -142 that they
wanted..145.- 184,_._ SA Zzebä 4a e1 if.they :,were certain that -,those,
wére the riizítibérs that they wanted to review and they confirmed that
those were the numbers they wanted to review. During the time they
were trying to determine a start location the individuals referred
to several different lists. The individuals also brought a list
which they later took back that had several additional numbers on
it.

At 11:50 AM, SA Zieba asked if they wanted to see the
foreign documents again and they declined.

The individuals left at approximately .12:00 PM. At
approximately 1:30PM, Andreozzi, Marrero, Epstein,, Wise and ce

eozzi
arrive á the

FBI JTT o ce in St. Thomas. The individuals brought a
scanner /copier.

SA Zieba pulled some evidence for the individuals, as
they requested. The individuals continued reviewing evidence while
setting up the printer. At approximately 2:15 PM, Andreozzi asked
SA Zieba to get. the foreign records out to copy. SA Zieba started
to collect the evidence that was being reviewed, Andreozzi then
insisted that the different evidence be copied and reviewed at the
same time. SA Zieba explained that they could either copy one set
or review the other set. Andreozzi chose to copy the foreign
records, but demanded to speak to Hendrickson again (who was out of
the office on leave). SA Zieba explained that he could call
Hendrickson any time he wanted, but SA Zieba was not going to
disturb Hendrickson again. Andreozzi also told SA Zieba that she
could use SA Be11 +s assistance so they could pull multiple items.
During this time SA Bell was in an office on a conference telephone
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call. At 2:25 PM they began photocopying the foreign records. The
items that the individuals were. copying were the same items that
Andreozzi told Hendrickson would take Agents three minutes to copy
for him. The individuals copied and scanned the records until they
departed.

The individuals scanned /copied the 100 page Banking
Commission Report, 12 page document date May 14, 2003 (these
documents were requested on January 28, 2009 to be copied) and
additional documents. They did not scan /copy the bank records in
the name Sami Al- Yousef.

Epstein departed at approximately 3:00 PM. The other
individuals departed at approximately 6:40 PM.

Agent note: The individuals were scheduled to review evidence from
January 26th- January 29th. Agents had agreed to stay after normal
business hours if requested in advance, the individuals never
requested in advance to stay later than 5:30 PM.
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

v.

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMMED YUSUF,
a /k/a Fathi Yusuf,

WALEED MOHAMMED HAMED,
a /k/a Willie Ha med,

WAHEED MOHAMMED HAMED,
a /k/a Wally Hamed,

MAHER FATHI YUSUF,
a /k/a Mike Yusuf,

ISAM MOHAMAD YOUSUF,
a /k/a Sam Yousuf,

NEJEH FATHI YUSUF, and
UNITED CORPORATION,

dba Plaza Extra Supermarkets,

Defendants.

Criminal No. 2005 -015

DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO STRIKE

COMES NOW the Defendant Waleed Hamed, by and through his attorney,

Gordon C. Rhea, Esquire in this criminal matter and requests the Court strike the

Government's Response to Defendant's Motion Reply Memorandum in Support of the

Motion for Specific Relief (docket #1148).

Defendants filed their Motion for Specific Relief (docket # 1076) on March 17,

2009. The Government did not request any extensions of time or seek any leave from the

Court; therefore, its filing is untimely. Further, this filing was presented to the Court and

EXHIBIT

E
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served upon the Defendants after the close of business on the eve of the hearing on this

very matter. This leaves the Defendants no time to adequately prepare for cross

examination and/or subpoena witnesses to appear in Court. If the Government's

Response is accepted, Defendants' due process rights will be violated. Therefore, it is

respectfully requested that the Court strike the Government's Response to Defendant's

Motion Reply Memorandum in Support of the Motion for Specific Relief.

Wherefore, Defendant requests the Court strike the Government's Response to

Defendant's Motion Reply Memorandum in Support of the Motion for Specific Relief.

Dated: July 8, 2009 Respectfully submitted.

/s/
Gordon C. Rhea, Esquire
RICHARDSON, PATRICK, WESTBROOK &
BRICKMAN, LLC
1037 Chuck Dawley Blvd., Bldg. A
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
(843) 727-6656
(843) 216 -6509 (fax)
Attorney for the Defendant

2
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on the 8th day of July, 2009, I electronically filed the
foregoing Defendant's Motion to Strike with the Clerk of Court using the CM/ECF
system, which will send a notification of such filing (NEF) to all counsel of record.

By: /s/ Gordon C. Rhea, Esq._
Gordon C. Rhea, Esq.

3
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA and )
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN )
ISLANDS, )

)
Plaintiffs, )

v. )

)
FATHI YUSUF MOHAMMED YUSUF, ) CRIM NO. 2005-0015
WALEED MOHAMMED HAMED, )
WAHEED MOHAMMED HAMED, )
MAHER FATHI YUSUF, ISAM )
MOHAMAD YOUSUF, and UNITED )
CORPORATION, dba Plaza Extra )
Supermarkets, )

)
Defendants. )

)

ORDER

THIS MATTER comes before the Court on Defendants' Motion for Specific Relief due

to the Government's Destruction of the Integrity, Organization and Sourcing of Material

Evidence, A hearing was held on such motion on July 9, 2009.

hi raids on the six Defendants' various businesses and homes in October of 2001, the

Government seized Defendants' business, financial and personal records. Since that date, the

Government has retained hundreds of boxes of such records for its use in this case. The

Government also obtained additional documents from third -party sources.

The Government organized the voluminous documents and recorded their various sources

by boxes numbered and bar coded to correspond with the various locations from which the

Government had removed the documents. Rather than identify or log each specific document

seized, the Government prepared an index with a general description of the documents contained

EXHIBIT
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in each box.

Since 2001, the Government has returned some of the boxes of seized document. The

remaining documents have been retained in the FBI offices in St. Thomas, Virgin Islands.

The Government used a bates numbering system for certain documents within certain

boxes. The bates numbering contained prefixes that were indexed to the numbers and bar codes

on the boxes. Many of Defendants' documents were not given bates number. However, all of

the documents the Government intends to use at trial do have bates numbers.

The Government never provided the Defendants with a detailed inventory of the specific

documents seized. The Government has only permitted the Defendants limited review of the

evidence under supervision which often involves oversight by Government agents involved in

investigating this case.

Several years ago the defense team prepared a general inventory of the groupings of

documents and scanned pertinent documents. During their November 2008 document review,

the defense team realized that the documents were not in the same order that they had been

initially. The Government had reorganized and rearranged the Defendants' documents by

removing some documents from the initial original boxes and placing them in different boxes to

suit the Government's needs.

The new system of organization is not apparent to the Defendants. The Government has

not provided Defendants with any means of tracing the unnumbered documents to the locations

from which they were seized within their businesses and homes.

Without a complete set of documents for their unlimited review, the defense team cannot

determine the extent of harm. if any, that the Government's rearrangement of the documents has

2
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caused. Accordingly, it is hereby

ORDERED that the Government serve upon the defense team one duplicate set of

documents seized from the Defendants, as well as all discoverable documents seized from

third parties; that the duplicate set correspond to the present document arrangement; and

that Defendants have 60 days from the receipt of such documents to supplement their

Motion for Specific Relief due to the Government's Destruction of the Integrity,

Organization and Sourcing of Material Evidence.

ENTER:

DATE: July 16, 2009 /s/
RAYMOND L. FINCH
SENIOR DISTRICT JUDGE

3
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS,

Plaintiff,
v.

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF,
aka Fathi Yusuf,

WALEED MOHAMMED HAMED,
aka Wally Hamed,

WAHEED MOHAMMED HAMED,
aka Willie Hamed,

MAHER 'FATHI YUSUF,
aka Mike Yusuf,

ISAM MOHAMAD YOUSUF,
aka Sam Yousuf,

NEJEH FATHI YUSUF, and
UNITED CORPORATION

d/b /a Plaza Extra,
Defendants.

CRIMINAL NO. 2005-015

GOVERNMENT'S MOTION TO RECONSIDER ORDER GRANTING
DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SPECIFIC RELIEF

The Government respectfully requests that the Court reconsider its order dated

July 16, 2009 (docket no. 1152, hereafter, the "July 16 Order ") granting Defendant's

motion for specific relief. Specifically, the Government asks (i) that Defendants be

ordered to provide an index or other substantiation of the documents claimed to be

missing and that the Government only be ordered to reproduce those documents; or (ii) in

the alternative, that Defendants bear the reproduction costs to be incurred under the

July 16 Order. In support of this motion, the Government states the following:

1. The Government has begun the process of complying with this Court's

order to provide a duplicate set of all seized documents and all discoverable documents

EXHIBIT
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obtained in the investigation from third parties. After coordinating with the

Government's contracting staff, who in turn have consulted outside vendors, the

Government estimates that the cost to duplicate, image, and produce the documents will

be no less than $125,000. The Government has been advised that the cost could be

substantially higher, depending on the number of documents that are of non -standard

size. The timeframe for completion of this effort is expected to be approximately three to

four months. The Government believes that the burden imposed by the July 16 Order

meets the standard of clear error or manifest injustice under LRCi 7.3(3).

2. The Government respectfully submits that the July 16 Order was premised

in part upon certain incorrect findings. First, the Government has not afforded

Defendants only limited review of the discovery in this case. [July 16 Order, p. 2, 3rd

full ¶] To the contrary, during 2003 and 2004, the Government made full discovery in

this case. [Declaration of Thomas L. Petri, ¶¶ 7 -9 (docket no. 1148 -2, hereafter, "Petri

Declaration ")] Second, the Government has not failed to provide an index to Defendants.

[July 16 Order, p. 2, 3rd full ¶] In 2004, the Government provided an index of

approximately 26,000 documents, which previously had been produced to Defendants in

electronic form and identified by the Government as particularly relevant to the

investigation. [Exhibit A, Letter dated April 20, 2004 to Gordon C. Rhea, Esquire]

3. In late 2008 and early 2009, defense counsel requested additional review

of the discovery in this case, and the Government complied with the request, as it had on

certain other occasions between 2004 and late 2008. Although the Government believed

that Defendants had all of the relevant documents in their possession, given that defense

counsel had brought reproduction equipment with them to the initial document review

2 4512749.1
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[Petri Declaration, IN 7 -8], the Government made the discovery available, subject to

reasonable notice in light of the logistics of providing such voluminous discovery.

During the review in late 2008 and early 2009, FBI agents specifically told defense

counsel that they could review any document, as long as they made a request.

[Declaration of Christine Zieba (docket no. 1148 -3, hereafter, "Zieba Declaration "),

Attachments, pp. 9, 12 (memoranda dated November 20, 2008 and February 2, 2009)]

4. During defense counsel's review in late 2008 and early 2009, counsel

claimed to not be able to locate documents described in an index that they previously

created. Defendants have not alleged the loss or destruction of any particular document.

Nor have defense counsel supplied the Court or the Government with any evidence of

bad faith. In fact, defense counsel themselves may be partially responsible for the

reorganization of the documents, based on observations of the FBI agents during the

initial review in 2003 and 2004. [Petri Declaration, ¶¶ 9 -10; Zieba Declaration, ¶ 10]

5. The Government has repeatedly asked Defendants to describe what

documents they are unable to locate or to provide a copy of its index (or excerpt thereof)

to the Government so that any documents requested by Defendants can be retrieved.

Defendants have refused to do so and have declined to cooperate in any effort to identify

the documents that they claim are missing. [Government's Response to Defendant's

Motion for Specific Relief, p. 3 (docket no. 1067)] The Government submits that it

should only have to reproduce those documents that Defendants cannot identify.

6. Fed. R. Crim. P. 16 does not require the Government to perform a

defendant's copying or to incur a defendant's copying costs. Rule 16(a)(1)(E)

(Government must "permit the defendant to inspect and to copy or photograph" the

3 4512749.1
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categories of documents subject to the rule). Although the Court has the authority to

order copies, such authority is limited by a rule of reasonableness. United States y

Freedman, 688 F.2d 1364, 1366 -67 (11th Cir. 1982) (Rule 16 discovery "should be read

and applied with a limitation of reasonableness ... [ w]here the defendant has in no way

been prohibited from inspecting the particular documents and cannot demonstrate an

undue hardship from this availability, he should not be permitted to transfer the cost of

his discovery request to the government especially where, as in the instant case, the

defendants are not indigent"; noting Fed. R. Crim. P. 2, which provides that the rules

should be interpreted "to eliminate unjustifiable expense and delay ").

7. If the Court does not limit the reproduction of documents to those that

Defendants claim to be missing, the Government asks that Defendants bear the

reproduction costs to be incurred by the July 16 Order, particularly in light of their refusal

to cooperate in identifying the documents claimed to be missing. There is no indication

that Defendants are unable to bear such costs.

4 4512749.1
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WHEREFORE, the Government respectfully requests that the Court reconsider

the July 16 Order. Specifically, the Government asks (i) that Defendants be ordered to

provide an index or other substantiation of the documents claimed to be missing and that

the Government only be ordered to reproduce such documents; or (ii) in the alternative,

that Defendants bear the reproduction costs to be incurred by the July 16 order.

Respectfully submitted,

Dated: August 14, 2009

PAUL A. MURPHY
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

/s/Kevin C. Lombardi
ALPHONSO ANDREWS
Assistant U.S. Attorney
MARK F. DALY
LORI A. HENDRICKSON
KEVIN C. LOMBARDI
Trial Attorneys
U.S. Department of Justice
601 D Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20004
Tel: (202) 514 -5150
Fax: (202) 616 -1786
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Kevin C. Lombardi, certify that on August 14, 2009 the foregoing
GOVERNMENT'S MOTION TO RECONSIDER ORDER GRANTING
DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SPECIFIC RELIEF was sewed upon counsel of record
by filing the same through the ECF system.

/s/ Kevin C. Lombardi
Kevin C. Lombardi

6 4512749.1
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U.S. Department of Justice

United Sates Attorney

District of the Virgin Wands

April 20, 2004

VIA FACSIMILE

Gordon C. Rhea, Esquire
Richardson, Patrick, Westbrook & Brickman, LLC
1037 Check Dawlcy Blvd., Suite 200
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29464

Re: United States v. Fathi Yusuf et al.. Cr. No. 2003 -147

Dear Counsel:

This letter responds to your request for an index of the materials on the CD -ROMs, labeled
Discovery Discs 1 -12, made available by the government on October 17, 2003 and March 24,
2004. The discs currently contain an index providing for each document (1) the banes range; (2)
the date; and (3) the type of record. You have inquired whether the government has a detailed
index providing a description of each document.

In connection with this case, the government prepared a description of each of the
documents in The database ("the index`). la order to expedite the disposition of this case, the
government will make the index available to your client udder the following conditions.1 First,
your client may use neither the index nor any inform.atiorr from the index in any way in any
proceeding in which the government is a party, such as at-trial and during any pre-trial matter,
including but not limited to using the index as evidence ár an exhibit, or displaying or describing
the index to a witness, the judge, or jury for any purpose. Second, production of the index in no
way constitutes a waiver of the work product doctrine with respect to the index or any other
materials, and your client may not rely on the production of this index as a basis upon which to
claim that a waiver has occurred or to seek additional materials or information from the
government. Third, upon request of the government, your client will return all or a portion of the
index, including any copies of the index. Fourth, the index may not be shared with any other third
party unless the third party agrees in writing to all terms in this letter, which writing is provided to
the government before the materials arc shared. Fifth, the descriptions on the index do not in any
way bind the government with respect to the description of those items in any proceeding in this
matter, and the index may not be used in any way to challenge the government's description of an

1/ As used in this letter, "your client" includes the individuals and entities you represent as
well as counsel, investigators and any other agents of your client or counsel.
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proceeding in this matter, and the index may not be used in any way to challenge the
government's description of 1113 item in any proceeding.

Iftbese conditions are acceptable, please sign below and return a signed copy. Please call
me with any questions at 202/353 -7517.

Yours sincerely,

DAVID M. NISSMAN
UN1Tt;1.) STATES ATTORNEY

;l/t4:A_(
MICHAEL R. PAUZÉ
Trial Attorney

AGREED TO:

Gordon C. Rhéa, Esquire
Counsel for Waleed Haaned and
United Corporation

l

Date
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AGREED TO:

Robert Kin., ,. ire
411 )4^.41) Dated: r

Attorney for Fathi Yusuf Mohammad Yusuf

lvn K. D4ma, Esquire
ttomey for Maher Fathi Yusuf

aC d

Dated: 3 y `f

6-'f4 L,s-! Dated:
erek M. Hodge, squire

Attorney for Nejeh Fathi Yusuf

¶/6/ yta.._... Dated:
nard B. Francis, Jr., Esquire

I
Attorney for Waheed Mohammed Hamed
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

Plaintiffs,

v.

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF
aka Fathi Yusuf,

WALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED,
aka Wally Hamed,

MAHER FATHI YUSUF,
aka Mike Yusuf,

ISAM MOHAMAD YOUSEF,
aka Sam Yousuf,

NEJEH FATHI YUSUF, and

UNITED CORPORATION
d/b /a Plaza Extra

Defendants.

Criminal No. 2005- 015F /B

DEFENDANTS' OPPOSITION TO THE GOVERNMENT'S MOTION TO
RECONSIDER THE COURT'S JULY 16, 2009 ORDER AND REQUEST FOR

SPECIFIC RELIEF

COMES NOW, Defendant Waked Hamed, by and through his counsel, and

responds in opposition to the Government's Motion to Reconsider Order Granting

Defendant's Motion for Specific Relief.

1
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I. Introduction and Procedural History

On February 5, 2009, Defendants filed their Motion for Specific Relief Due to the

Government's Destruction of the Integrity, Organization and Sourcing of Material

Evidence. (Doc. No. 1038). The Government responded to Defendants' Motion on

February 24, 2009. (Doc. No. 1067). The Defendants filed their reply on March 17,

2009. (Doc. No. 1076). The Government filed a reply on July 9, 2009, the evening

before the scheduled hearing on the matter. (Doc. No. 1148). On that same date,

Defendant filed a Motion to Strike the Government's Response. (Doc. No. 1149).

A hearing on the Motion was held before the Honorable Raymond L. Finch on

July 9, 2009. By Order dated July 16, 2009, the Court directed that "the Government

serve upon the defense team one duplicate set of documents seized from the Defendants,

as well as all discoverable documents seized from third parties; that the duplicate set

correspond to the present document arrangement; and that the Defendants have 60 days

from the receipt of such documents to supplement their Motion for Specific Relief due to

the Government's Destruction of the Integrity, Organization and Sourcing of Material

Evidence." (Doc. No. 1152).

H. Argument

At the outset, the Government's Motion to Reconsider mischaracterizes the

Court's July 16, 2009, Order. The Order does not grant the Defendants' Motion for

Specific Relief. Rather, it mandates that the Government serve upon the Defense a

duplicate set of the retained documents that corresponds exactly with the then- present

document arrangement. It then mandates that the Defense team review the documents

within 60 days and supplement the Defendants' Motion by identifying the extent of the
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harm that the Government's rearrangement of the documents has caused. In this manner,

the Order preserves and memorializes a snapshot of the physical arrangement of the

documents for the unlimited use of the Defense, the Government and the Court so as to

facilitate the Court's informed consideration of the relief requested in Defendants'

Motion.

The Order reasons, and the Government does not dispute, that "[w]ithout a

complete set of documents for their unlimited review, the defense team cannot determine

the extent of harm, if any, that the Government's rearrangement of the documents has

caused." The protocol enumerated in the Order facilitates the Court's informed factual

determination of the extent of the harm caused to the Defendants. This is especially

important in light of Government Counsel's express denial at the July 9, 2009, hearing

that any documents have been rearranged. The Order is prudent, fair and just, and the

Defense team stands ready to comply fully with its responsibilities as prescribed therein.

The Motion to Reconsider is substantially a resubmission of some of the

arguments raised in the Government's earlier Oppositions (Doc. Nos. 1067, 1048),

interposed with some new arguments. The Defense has addressed the resubmitted

arguments in the pleadings and at hearing. The new arguments are addressed below.

A. The Court's Order Is Not Clear Error or a Manifest Injustice.

The Government's first new argument characterizes the Court's Order as so

onerous on the Government that the Court or the Defense should back off from such a

protocol. It complains - without identifying the number of boxes of documents it

possesses and with no substantiating bids, time projections or proposals -- that the

copying will take three to four months. It then pinpoints - again with no substantiation --

3
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the cost of copying the documents at no less than $125,000. The Government describes

this cost as a burden so oppressive on the financial resources of the United States of

America that it constitutes a manifest injustice under LRCi 7.3(3). Yet in the same

breath, it asserts that "[t]here is no indication that Defendants are unable to bear such

costs." (Doc. No. 1177, ¶ 7, p. 4).

The Court's Order creates no manifest injustice. It prescribes a procedure that the

Government should have followed from the inception of this case. More importantly, the

Order prescribes a procedure that levels the playing field; it eliminates the inequities and

uncertainties caused by the Government's exclusive dominion and control over the

documents as arranged, and gives the Defendants unlimited access to the now-

memorialized arrangement of documents. The issue is really one of choice for the

Government. If it believes that production of the documents pursuant to the Court's

Order will support the factual representations it made to the Court, then it should be

willing to "bear such costs." If, on the other hand, the Government believes that

following the Court's Order will reveal and memorialize a record that belies its

representations, it will balk at the Court's directive. The Government chooses to balk.

The Defense stands ready to bear its own costs of gathering its team together to

review the documents and supplement its motion within the 60 -day time frame. If the

Government stands behind its express representation to the Court at the July 9, 2009,

hearing that its Agents and Attorneys did not rearrange the documents, then it should be

willing to bear the cost associated with its efforts to prove this charge false. To escape

or avoid this prudent, common -sense solution would itself create the manifest injustice.

4
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B. The Government's Representation that it Indexed the
Seized Documents is False.

During his rebuttal argument at the July 9, 2009, hearing, Government Counsel

represented to the Court that the Government provided an index of all documents to the

defendants. No such index was ever mentioned in the Government's Opposition papers

under this motion or in the accompanying Affidavits. The Government never produced

evidence of such an index at the hearing. By letter dated July 10, 2009, Defense Counsel

requested that the Government produce the referenced index. (Exhibit A). Government

Counsel never responded to the July 10, 2009, letter.

The Court's Order correctly finds that "The Government never provided the

Defendants with a detailed inventory of the specific documents seized." The Order goes

on to accurately state that "The new system of organization is not apparent to the

Defendants. The Government has not provided Defendants with any means of tracing the

unnumbered documents to the locations from which they were seized within their

businesses and homes." The Government Motion challenges these findings as false, but

backs away from the representations it made at the hearing. Now the Government

contends that "In 2004, the Government provided an index of approximately 26,000

documents, which previously had been produced to Defendants in electronic form and

identified by the Government as particularly relevant to the investigation." (Doc. No.

1177, ¶ 2, p. 2, emphasis added). These, of course, are the Bates -stamped documents

referred to in the Defense Motion and at page 2 of the Court's Order, indexed by the "(1)

bates range; (2) the date; and (3) the type of record" for each document. (Doc. No. 1177-

2, Ex. A). Thus, contrary to the direct representations of the Government Counsel at the

hearing, the Government has never produced an index of all of the documents seized, and

-5-
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certainly did not produce any index that included the non- Bates -stamped documents.

Rather, it created and produced an index of only the documents it indexed, organized,

memorialized and Bates -stamped as relevant to its case in chief. It could have followed

precisely the same protocol with all of the Defendants' documents and property it held,

but it chose not to. The Government's argument, therefore, reaffirms the Order's

findings and emphasizes the misrepresentation made by Government Counsel, at the

hearing.

C. The Government's Proposed Alternative is Improper

The Government's Motion to Reconsider does not request complete rescission of

the July 16, 2009, Order. Instead, it offers two alternatives. The first, addressed above,

is that the defendants bear the cost of the copying of the documents. The second

alternative warrants a direct quote: "The Government submits that it should only have to

reproduce those documents that Defendants cannot identify." (Doc. No. 1177, ¶ 5, p. 3).

This proposed alternative succinctly and efficiently describes the absurdity of the

Government's argument and the arrogance it has exhibited with respect to its dominion

over the Defendants' property.

In support of its second alternative, the Government represents that the

Defendants have refused to describe documents they are unable to locate or to cooperate

in any effort to identify the documents they claim are missing. This representation is

false. During its January 2009 visit to the FBI offices, the Defense team did in fact

provide Government Counsel Lori A. Hendrickson with specific samples of documents

and boxes of documents the team identified as missing. Ms. Hendrickson was unable to

produce any of the identified items, which ranged, inter alia, from boxes of financial

6
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records, to stock certificates, to a laptop computer, to personal items such as a

defendant's marriage certificate. Ms. Hendrickson did not submit an affidavit in support

of the Government's Opposition to the Defense Motion, did not sign the Government

Pleadings thereon, and did not appear at the hearing. Ms. Hendrickson knows the

Government's representations on this point are false. If the Government does not

concede this fact, and if the Court deems the fact relevant to its inquiry on this Motion

and the overall Motion for Specific Relief, the Defendants will request the opportunity to

inquire of Ms. Hendrickson on the issue. To facilitate resolution of this issue, the

Defendant requests as relief below that the Court find as follows: That the Government

represented to the Court that the Defendants have refused to describe documents they are

unable to locate, when Government Counsel knew that such representation was false.

Of course, missing documents is only one consequence of the Government's

rearrangement of the non -Bates stamped documents. The other more pervasive

consequence, summarily dismissed in the Government's analysis, is the inability to

determine the sources of the rearranged documents and the resulting harm to the Defense

with respect to those documents at trial. Indeed, while both issues are important, most of

the areas of harm enumerated in Defendant's Motion are premised upon the rearranging

and sourcing problems of the non -Bates stamped documents. The Government's

proposed alternative completely ignores this issue.

Now, in the context of these misrepresentations, the Government attempts to

persuade this Court to decide this crucial matter without memorializing the current state

of the documents for either the Court or the Defendants. Given the gravity of this issue,

if the Government refuses to retract this representation and admit that it indeed could not

7
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locate certain items identified by the Defense, the Defense will request the Court's

permission and assistance in exploring the issue through examination of Ms. Hendrickson

at the appropriate time. In the interim, and in the context of these blatant

misrepresentations, any reversal or modification of the Court's July 16, 2009 Order

would be improper.

D. The Government's Representation that it Indexed the
Seized Documents is False

Finally, the Government confuses the Court's Order with Rule 16 discovery. The

Court's Order imposes obligations on both parties to this litigation in an effort to

effectively and accurately assess the harm caused by the Government's conduct. In this

regard, the Order is of direct benefit to the Government as it will memorialize the current

state of the documents. Indeed, if the Government truly believes what it states - that no

documents were rearranged and therefore no harm was caused -- it should cooperate with

the Court's Order to support that finding. On the other hand, if it does not believe that

such is the case, then it will certainly be harmed by production of the incriminating

organization.

In any event, the Defense stands ready to fulfill its obligations under the Court's

Order. Once the copies are produced, it will immediately begin its work to supplement

their Motion.

III. Conclusion

WHEREFORE, in light of the foregoing, Defendant respectfully requests that the

government's Motion for Reconsideration be denied.

The Defendant further requests that the Court find as a matter of fact that:

8
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1. The Government represented to the Court that the Defendants have refused to

describe documents they are unable to locate, when Government Counsel knew

that such representation was false.

2. The Government represented to the Court at the July 9, 2009 hearing that it

provided an index of all seized documents to the Defendants when it knew that

such representation was false.

DATED: August 20, 2009

Respectfully submitted,

/s/Randall P. Andreozzi
Randall P. Andreozzi, Esq.
ANDREOZZI FICKESS, LLP
9145 Main Street
Clarence, New York 14031
716 -565 -1100
716 -565 -1920 (Fax)

-9
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on this 20th day of August, 2009, I electronically filed
the foregoing with the Clerk of the Court using CM/ECF system which will send a notice
of electronic filing (NEF) to all counsel of record.

/s/ Randall P. Andreozzi
Randall P. Andreozzi
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ANDREOZZI FICKESS
Edward D. Fickess, Partner
Randall P. Andreozzi, Partner

July 9, 2009

VIA FACSIMILE & U.S. MAIL
Mark Daly, Esq.
US DOJ/Tax Division/N.Criminal Section
601 D. Street NW, Room 7814
Washington, DC 20004 -2904

LLP

Re: United States of America, and Government of the Virgin Islands v.
Fathi Yusuf, Mohamad Yusuf et al.

Dear Mr. Daly:

We hereby request production of the following items relating to the referenced
matter:

1. Per your correspondence of May 12, 2009, you advised that copies of the hard
drives and electronic data we requested have been copied and that you expected to
have them ready by the time of our visit to the FBI later in May. We inquired
again to the status of these items in our correspondence dated June 22, 2009, and
to date, we have still not received these items or a response to our
correspondence. Please advise as to when these will be produced;

2. During the hearing of July 9, 2009, you represented to the Court that the FBI and
Department of Justice possess a particularized list of all seized documents (bates
and non -bates stamped documents) that would enable the FBI to identify all
documents (bates stamped and non bates stamped) that may have been moved.

Also, Special Agent Petri's Affidavit dated July 8, 2009, refers to 40 boxes of
documents in the FBI possession that are responsive to requests I made in January 2009.
Please provide a time for our team to come to the FBI Office in St. Thomas to review
these documents.

Thank you for your anticipated cooperation.

9145 Main Street, Clarence, New York 14031

tel: 716 1 565 two fax: 716 I 565 1920

www.maflp.com
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Very truly yours,

kvatte
Randall P. Andreozzi

cc: Thomas Alkon, Esq.
Henry Smock, Esq.
Derek M. Hodge, Esq.
Pamela Lynn Colon, Esq.
John K. Dema, Esq.
Bruce Cole, Esq.



Case: 1:05 -cr- 00015- RLF -GWB Document #: 1212 Filed: 09/14/09 Page 1 of 1

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN
ISLANDS,

Plaintiffs,
v.

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMMED YUSUF,
WALEED MOHAMMED HAMED,
WAHEED MOHAMMED HAMED,
MAHER FATHI YUSUF, ISAM
MOHAMAD YOUSUF, and UNITED
CORPORATION, dba Plaza Extra
Supermarkets,

Defendants. )

)

CRIM NO. 2005-0015

ORDER

THIS MATTER comes before the Court on the Government's Motion to Reconsider the

Court's Order of July 16, 2009 regarding Defendants' Motion for Specific Relief due to the

Government's Destruction of the Integrity, Organization and Sourcing of Material Evidence.

Defendant Waleed Hamed filed an opposition to such motion, with which the other Defendants

joined.

After consideration of the Government's motion and the opposition thereto, it is hereby

ORDERED that the Government's Motion to Reconsider is DENIED.

ENTER:

DATE: September 14, 2009 /s/

EXHIBIT

z

RAYMOND L. FINCH
SENIOR DISTRICT JUDGE
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS,

Plaintiff,
v.

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF,
aka Fathi Yusuf,

WALEED MOHAMMAD HAMED,
aka Wally Hamed,

WAHEED MOHAMMED HAMED,
aka Willie Hamed,

MAHER FATHI YUSUF,
aka Mike Yusuf,

ISAM MOHAMAD YOUSUF,
aka Sam Yousuf,

NEJEH FATHI YUSUF, and
UNITED CORPORATION

d /b /a Plaza Extra,
Defendants.

CRIMINAL NO. 2005 -015

MOTION TO STAY DISCOVERY

The Government respectfully requests that the Court issue a stay of the parties'

discovery obligations in this case until December 13, 2009. In support of this motion, the

Government states the following:

1. The Government has consulted Defense counsel regarding this motion,

and counsel have no objection.

2. Government and Defense counsel recently restarted plea discussions in

this matter. Based on a preliminary meeting on October 9, 2009, the parties have a

good -faith and reasonable basis to believe that a pretrial resolution of this case is

possible.

EXHIBIT
b
y J
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3. Counsel for both parties expect that discovery will continue for many

months. The parties expect further delay after the completion of discovery because,

under the terms of the Court's July 16, 2009 discovery order [docket no. 1152], counsel

for defendants will have 60 days to file any additional motions based on the discovery

provided.

4. In the interest of avoiding unnecessary expense and delay, counsel for all

parties agree that the restarted plea negotiations should take priority over discovery

obligations. Government and Defense counsel propose a temporary stay of discovery

obligations until December 13, 2009 to allow the parties to negotiate the terms of a plea

and to determine the likelihood of resolving this case before trial.

5. Government and Defense counsel agree that, if the Court grants this

motion, all time from October 9, 2009 until December 13, 2009 should be excludable for

Speedy Trial Act purposes because, under 18 U.S.C. § 3161(h)(8)(A), the ends of justice

served by the stay outweigh the best interests of the public and defendants in a speedy

trial.

2
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WHEREFORE, the Government respectfully requests that the Court enter the

proposed order and temporarily the stay the parties' discovery obligations until

December 13, 2009.

Dated: October 19, 2009

Respectfully submitted,

RONALD W. SHARPE
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

/s /Kevin C. Lombardi
ALPHONSO ANDREWS
Assistant U.S. Attorney
MARK F. DALY
LORI A. HENDRICKSON
KEVIN C. LOMBARDI
Trial Attorneys
U.S. Department of Justice
601 D Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20004
Tel: (202) 514 -5150
Fax: (202) 616 -1786

3
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Kevin C. Lombardi, certify that on October 19, 2009 the foregoing MOTION
TO STAY DISCOVERY was served upon counsel of record by filing the same through
the ECF system.

/s/ Kevin C. Lombardi
Kevin C. Lombardi

4
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IN THE DISTRICT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

vs.

UNITED CORPORATION,
dba Plaza Extra

Plaintiffs,

Defendants.

CRIMINAL NO. 2005-15F/B

DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SPECIFIC RELIEF IN ANTICIPATION OF
THE DECEMBER 14, 2010, ORAL ARGUMENT

COMES NOW the Defendant, United Corporation, and submits the following

Motion for Specific Relief in Anticipation of the December 14, 2010, Oral Argument.

Defendant requests that the Court Order that neither party be permitted to present factual

evidence or testimony at the December 14, 2010 Oral Argument.

Alternatively, if the Court determines that such evidence is necessary for a ruling with

respect to the statute of limitations in this matter, Defendant respectfully requests that the

Court (1) enforce its Order directing the Government to produce all documents in this

case; (2) allow each shareholder of United Corporation the opportunity to retain counsel

to defend himself or herself against any allegations of civil fraud that the Government

might raise with respect to each shareholder's tax returns; (3) adjourn the December 14,

2010, hearing to allow sufficient time for the Government to produce such documents

and for the affected parties to review the documents and prepare for such an evidentiary

hearing.

EXHIBIT

i
K
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USA v. United Corp., SX- 05 -CR -15
Defendant's Motion For Specific Relief In Anticipation Of The December 14, 2010, Oral Argument
Page 2 of 7

IN SUPPORT THEREOF, Defendant submits as follows:

1. On February 26, 2010, the parties executed and filed the Plea Agreement

in this case (Document No. 1248). Pursuant to the Plea Agreement, United Corporation

pled guilty to one count of the 78 -count Third Superseding Indictment. That count

(Count 60) charges aiding in the preparation of a single false income tax return in

violation of 33 V.I.C. § 1525(2).

2. The parties stipulated to the factual basis for the plea offense as follows:

On or about September 18, 2002, United willfully aided, assisted, procured,
counseled, advised, or caused the preparation and presentation of a materially
false corporate income tax return on Form 1120S for the year 2001 and filed such
return with the Virgin Islands Bureau of Internal Revenue(VIBIR). Specifically,
United reported gross receipts or sales on line lc as $69,579,412, knowing that
the true amount was approximately $79,305,980.

3. The stipulated plea offense references one year, and one year only. It

specifically addresses gross sales reported on line lc of United Corporation's Form 1120,

and not taxable income or taxes due from United Corporation or its shareholders. All

other counts in the Indictment against United Corporation, and all counts against all other

defendants in the matter, were dismissed with prejudice.

4. Restitution pursuant to a conviction (whether by trial or by plea) is limited

to the loss caused by the specific conduct underlying the offense of conviction, and does

not include related conduct. Hughey v. United States, 495 U.S. 411 at 420 (1990). Thus,

absent agreement to the contrary, restitution would be limited to the tax loss the

Government could prove was attributable to the 2001 offense identified in Count 60.

5. As part of the plea agreement in this case, the Government, the USVI

VIBIR, and United Corporation agreed that the restitution amount determined pursuant to

the Plea Agreement will include certain periods and amounts in addition to the 2001 tax
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year, and that such amounts would also be conclusive for purposes of any civil taxes due

and owing to the Virgin Islands. To illustrate, the parties agree that United Corporation

will include as restitution amounts determined as gross receipts tax due for the period

August 1998 through December 2001, and as income tax due for its 1997 and 1998

taxable years. Likewise, United Corporation agreed to include as restitution an amount

equivalent to Fathi Yusuf s allocable share of income tax attributable to United

Corporation for the years 1999, 2000 and 2001, even though all counts against Mr. Yusuf

were dismissed.

6. The parties disagree with respect to: (1) the periods for which the USVI

would be time barred under its examination and deficiency laws and procedures with

respect to civil taxes the Government seeks for other periods and individuals, and (2) the

correct amount of any non -time -barred civil taxes.

7. The Government seeks taxes for years and individuals outside of the years

and individuals charged in the Indictment. United Corporation has consistently disputed

the Government's claims in this regard. See, Exhibit 1 to Plea Agreement (attached as

Exhibit A), wherein the parties provide a Table setting forth each side's statement of the

correct restitution numbers for tax loss. The Government's side of the Table purports to

extend the "Tax Loss" to years and individuals not charged in the Indictment and for

which any civil statute of limitations has long expired. For these years and individuals,

the Defendant's side of the Table lists $0, reflecting its position that these years are time

barred. These extra taxes asserted by the Government fall into three categories: (1)

Gross Receipts Taxes from January 1996 through July 1998, (2) Corporate Income Tax

for 1996, and (3) flow -through of S Corporation income and the resulting personal
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income taxes to Mrs. Yusuf and her children, as shareholders of United Corporation from

1999 through 2001.

8. As a preliminary step to a hearing on the restitution amounts due from

United Corporation, the parties seek the Court's ruling on the legal issue of the statute of

limitations applicable to these disputed periods and individuals. By Order dated

September 1 2010, the Court directed the parties to file legal briefs on the issues of (1)

the application of the statute of limitations to restitution in the context of sentencing

following a guilty plea, and (2) the applicable statute of limitations in this case. The

parties briefed the matter with the Court and are scheduled for oral argument on the issue

on December 14, 2010.

9. The Government recently advised the defense that it now intends to use

the December 14 oral argument as a forum to submit evidence to the Court that United

Corporation and its various individual shareholders (including Mrs. Yusuf and her then

young children) each filed fraudulent tax returns for the disputed periods with the intent

to evade tax, such that the statute of limitations on assessment and collection of tax

against them is extended indefinitely for each under 26 U.S.C. § 6501(c)(1) and 33 V.I.C.

§ 1161 (c)(1). The statute provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

FALSE RETURNS -In the case of a false or fraudulent return with the
intent to evade tax, the tax may be assessed, or a proceeding in court for
collection of such tax may be begun without assessment, at any time.

10. In its Briefs, the Government advances United Corporation's guilty plea to

filing a false 2001 income tax return as a pretext to apply Section 6501(c)(1) to all other

years, and even to other individuals. As explained in Defendant's Briefs, the

Government may not prove its case by simply making an assertion, but must prove civil
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fraud under the appropriate standards for each and every year it purports to rely on

Section 6501.

11. Recognizing its dilemma, the Government has advised Defendant that it

does not intend to stand on its legal argument. Rather, the Government intends to offer

evidence on December 14 to establish that United Corporation and its shareholders each

committed fraud on all of their respective tax returns. The Government has advised that

it intends to submit select business records of United Corporation, summarize testimony

of certain of United Corporation's employees, and possibly submit "other evidence of

fraud ". The Government also intends to present summaries of evidence purportedly

prepared by Government Agents.

12. Pending before the Court, and suspended as a result of the Plea

Agreement reached in this case, are several defense motions with respect to the

Government's conduct and actions, including a motion for relief due to the Government's

spoliation of evidence in this case. The Spoliation Motion describes in detail the

Government's actions with respect to thousands of documents relevant to precisely the

factual issues the Government now seeks to resurrect on December 14. With respect to

that Spoliation Motion, the Court issued an Order directing the Government to produce

complete and accurate copies of all of its documents to the defense. To date, the

Government has not complied with that Order.

13. In recent discussions with the Government, and in the context of assisting

in the preparation of out -year tax returns, Defendant has requested the return of the

documents subject to the Spoliation Motion. The Government steadfastly refuses to

return those documents. Based on its understanding that the proceeding of December 14,
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2010 will involve oral argument and not an evidentiary hearing on deficiencies in tax

attributable to fraud, Defendant has not formally pursued the return of the subject

documents for the December 14 session. Should the Court grant this Motion and affirm

that the session is limited to oral argument on the legal issues, Defendant will not require

the documents subject to the Court's Order at this juncture.

14. If, however, the Court is inclined to hear the Government's presentation of

factual evidence against these taxpayers, the defense respectfully requests that the Court:

a. Enforce its Order directing the Government's production all

documents in this case.

b. Allow each shareholder of United Corporation the opportunity to

retain counsel to defend himself or herself with respect to such allegations

of civil fraud.

c. Adjourn the December 14, 2010, hearing to allow sufficient time

for the Government to produce such documents, and for the affected

parties to review the documents and prepare for an evidentiary hearing.

Conclusion

For the reasons set forth above, United Corporation respectfully requests that the

Court grant this motion and preclude the United States from introducing any evidence or

summary testimony with respect to tax deficiencies attributable to fraud for the periods

and individuals in dispute.
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Respectfully submitted,

HUNTER COLE & BENNETT
Counsel for United Corporation

Dated: November 30, 2010 By: Is/Warren B. Cole
Warren B. Cole
VI Bar No. 283
1138 King Street - Third Floor
Christiansted, St. Croix VI 00820
wbcole@hcbvilaw.com

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on this 30th day of November, 2010, I electronically
filed the foregoing with the Clerk of the Court using CM/ECF system which will send a
notice of electronic filing (NEF) to all counsel of record.

Is! Warren B. Cole, Esq.
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IN THE DISTRICT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF,
aka Fathi Yusuf

WALEED MOHAMMAD NAMED,
aka Wally Hamed

WAHEED MOHOMMAD HAMED,
aka Willie Hamed

MAHER FATHI YUSUF,
aka Mike Yusuf

NEJEH FATHI YUSUF
ISAM YUSUF, and
UNITED CORPORATION,

dba Plaza Extra,
Defendants.

CRIMINAL NO. 2005 -15F/B

PLEA AGREEMENT- ADDENDUM

The parties agree to the following:

1) United will pay a $5,000 fine, as set forth in Paragraphs III.A.1 and

VIII.A;

2) United will pay $10 million to the VIBIR for restitution, as set forth in

Paragraphs III.A.3 and VIII,D;

3) United will pay $1 million as a substantial monetary penalty, as set

forth in Paragraphs III.A.2, III.B, VIII.B, and VIII.C.

In consideration of the settlement herein, United, the Individual

defendants, and United's shareholders, and their heirs, executors,

administrators, or assigns do hereby stipulate and agree to pay the agreed upon

!x28044.1
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sums, and to waive and release any and all claims, demands, rights, and causes

of action of whatsoever kind and nature, whether sounding in tort, contract, or

any other theory of legal liability, including any claims for fees, interest, costs,

and expenses, arising from, and by reason of, any and all known and unknown,

foreseen and unforeseen, bodily and personal injuries, death, or damage to

property, and the consequences thereof, which United, the individual defendants,

and United's shareholders, or their heirs, executors, administrators, or assigns

may have or hereafter acquire against the United States, its agents, servants,

and employees on account of the same subject matter that gave rise to the

above -captioned action. United, the individual defendants, and United's

shareholders, and their heirs, executors, administrators, and assigns do hereby

further agree to reimburse, indemnify, and hold harmless the United States and

its agents, servants, and employees from and against any and all such claims,

causes of action, liens, rights, or subrogated or contribution interests Incident to,

or resulting or arising from, the acts or omissions that gave rise to the above -

captioned action. Provided, however, that the duties to reimburse, indemnify and

hold harmless the United States and its agents as set forth in the preceding

sentence shall be strictly limited to claims made by United, the individual

defendants, United's shareholders, or their executors, administrators, assigns, or

their family members.

UNITED AND COUNSEL FULLY UNDERSTAND PLEA AGREEMENT-
ADDENDUM

By signing this Plea Agreement- Addendum, United's representative

certifies that he has been given lawful authority to enter into this Plea Agreement-

2
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Addendum. United further certifies that its counsel has discussed the terms of

this Plea Agreement- Addendum with appropriate officers, directors, and

shareholders of United and that United fully understands its meanings and effect.

The Government agrees to the terms set forth in this Plea Agreement -

Addendum.

RONALD SHARPE
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

JOHN A. DICICCO
ACTING ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, TAX oIVISION

Dated:
Ma
Lori A. Hendrickson
Kevin C. Lombardi
Trial Attorneys

The defendant United Corporation agrees to the terms set forth in this Plea
Agreement -Addendum.

Dated: /..e1)

Dated: 1..>/ i f

Dated:

homas on, sq.
Attorney for Defendant Unit -d Corporation

Warren B. Cole, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant United Corporation

arren B, Cole, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant's unindicted shareholders

3
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Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Maher Fathi Yusuf
President, Defendant United Corporation

Gordon C. Rhea, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Waleed Mohammed Hamed

Randall P. Andreozzi, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Waleed Mohammed Hamed

Derek M. Hodge, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Nejeh Fathi Yusuf

Pamela Colon, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Waheed Mohammed Hamed

Henry C. Smock, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Fathi Yusuf Mohamad Yusuf

John K. Dema, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Maher Fathi Yusuf

4
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Dated:

Dated: // 2-0 / D /

Dated:

Dated:
z141

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Maher Fathi Yusuf
President, Defendant United Corporation

c. 711'e
Gordon C. Rhea, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Waleed Mohammed Hamed

Randall P. Andreozzi, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Waleed Mohammed Hamed

cZ / 40clik
CAC -- «L;M a4.444i 3Ao..

Derek M. Hodge, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Nejeh Fathi Yusuf

Pamela Colon, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Waheed Mohammed Hamed

Henry C. Smock, Esq.
Attorney for Def dant Fathl Yusuf Mohamed Yusuf

Jo ï :ma, Esq.
Att or Defendant Maher Fathi Yusuf

4
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Dated:

Dated:

Dated: //.5(///

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Maher Fathi Yusuf
President, Defendant United Corporation

Gordon C. Rhea, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Waleed Mohammed Hamed

Randall P. Andreozzi, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Waleed Mohammed Hamed

Derek M. Hodge, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Nejeh Fathi Yusuf

Pamela Colon, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Waheed Mohammed Hamed

Henry C. Smock, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Fathi Yusuf Mohamad Yusuf

John K. Dema, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Maher Fathi Yusuf

4
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Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Maher Fathi Yusuf
President, Defendant United Corporation

Gordon C. Rhea, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Waleed Mohammed Hamed

Randall P. Andreozzi, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Waleed Mohammed Hamed

Derek M. Hodge, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Nejeh Fathi Yusuf

Dated: / I,, iese-ecri/
Pamela Colon, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Waheed Mohammed Hamed

Dated:

Dated:

Henry C. Smock, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Fathi Yusuf Mohamad Yusuf

John K. Dema, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Maher Fathi Yusuf

4
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Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated:

Dated: - 2 S - I

Dated:

Maher Fathi Yusuf
President, Defendant United Corporation

Gordon C. Rhea, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Waleed Mohammed Hamed

Randall P. Andreoai, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Waleed Mohammed Hamed

Derek M. Hodge, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Nejeh Fathi Yusuf

Pamela Colon, Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Waheed Mohammed Hamed

C. S c , Esq.
Attorney for Defendant Fathi Yusuf Mohamad Yusuf

John K. Dema, Esq.
Attorney'for Defendant Maher Fathi Yusuf

4
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

MOHAMMAD NAMED, by his )
authorized agent WALEED HAMED, )

)
Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant, )

)
vs. )

)
FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION,)

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Additional Counterclaim Defendants. )
)

DECLARATION OF FATHI YUSUF

I, Fathi Yusuf, pursuant to 28 USC §1746 and Super. Ct. R. 18, declare under the

penalties of perjury, that:

1. Since the partnership that operates the Plaza Extra Stores was formed in 1986, it

has obligated itself to make rent payments to United Corporation ( "United ") for the Plaza Extra-

East store. I was the partner responsible for making all decisions regarding the timing, amount

and payment of rent. As of December 31, 1993, all rent due from the partnership to, United had

been paid.

2. The Plaza Extra -East store was reopened in May 1994 after it had been destroyed

by fire in 1992. The Plaza Extra -Tutu Park store had just opened in October 1993. Around the

time that the Plaza Extra -East store reopened, I was arranging a Scotiabank loan to United

Defendants/Counterclaimants,

vs.

WALEED NAMED, WAHEED HAMED,
MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and
PLESSEN ENTERPRISES,

CIVIL NO. SX -12 -CV -370

ACTION FOR DAMAGES,
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
AND DECLARATORY RELIEF

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

EXHIBIT
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Corporation for approximately $5,000,000 for the benefit of the partnership. The loan was

guaranteed by my wife and I and it was secured by our home on St. Croix and by United's

shopping center in St. Croix. In light of these circumstances, I determined that because United

did not need the rent revenue, the rent would accrue and the monies that otherwise would be used

to pay rent could serve as working capital for the partnership.

3. Some time in 2002 or 2003, I began discussions with Waked Named regarding

the rent that would be due for Plaza Extra -East after the expiration of the prior ten -year term in

2004. During those discussions, we recognized that the prior rent was far below fair market

value, and the decision was made to base the rent on the same formula utilized at the Tutu Park

store in St. Thomas. There is no dispute concerning the formula for calculating the rent for Plaza

Extra -East from May 2004 forward, since rent based upon that agreed formula was paid on

February 7, 2012 in the amount of $5,408,806.74.

4. At the time we made the agreement regarding Plaza Extra -East rent for 2004

going forward, we were embroiled in the criminal case and all of the Plaza Extra accounts were

frozen by an injunction. As a result, I made a decision and Waleed Hamed, on behalf of

Mohammed Hamed, agreed, that there was no prospect for the payment of the rents owed for the

1994 -2004 period. However, even if the ability to collect the rent was not blocked by the

injunction, I was unable to calculate the rent for 1994 -2004, as I did not have the "black book," a

black ledger book containing accounting information concerning the Hamed and Yusuf families,

as well as other information relating to the Plaza Extra Stores, including the payment of rent to

United. The FBI had seized that book when it conducted its raid in October 2001. Among other
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things, the "black book" reflected the date of the last rent payment in 1994, information I needed

to accurately determine the rent for Plaza Extra -East from 1994 -2004.

5. In the latter part of 2011 and early 2012, United was in a position to request - and

the partnership was in a position to pay - rent for the 1994 -2004 period, as the criminal matter

had progressed to a point where there was a relaxing of the injunction. However, the original

problem regarding the absence of the records to accurately calculate the rent for the 1994-2004

period remained unresolved because of the absence of the "black book," I did not want to either

understate or overstate the rent amount, but wanted the dollar amount of rent to be exactly

correct.

6. In early 2012, I discussed the 1994 -2004 rent with Waleed Hamed when the

payment of $5,408,806.74 in rent for the period from May 5, 2004 to December 31, 2011 was

coordinated. I again explained to Waleed Hamed that I could not request the 1994 -2004 rent, as

we still had not received the "black book" to determine the exact starting point for that period.

During that conversation in 2012, Waked Hamed agreed that rent was owed for the 1994 -2004

period, and agreed that it would be paid once the "black book" was recovered and a proper

calculation could be made.

7. My son found the "black book" in early 2013, among a large number of

documents that were returned to us by the FBI. After receipt of the "black book," we asked

Waleed Hamed for the rent for 1994 -2004, as we then were able to properly calculate the dollar

amount. On May 22, 2013, counsel for Mohammed Hamed wrote a letter to my counsel in

which he advised that his client disputed there was any obligation to pay the 1994 -2004 rent.
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Until the litigation in this matter, nobody had ever disputed United's entitlement to rent for the

1994 -2004 period.

8. 1 received a partial copy of the FBI file, records, and documents electronically

produced and stored on a hard drive in approximately mid -2011. When these documents were

initially returned, I had no reason to suspect any wrongdoing by Plaintiff, Waleed Hamed or any

other members of the Hamed family. In 2011, as I reviewed these documents, I discovered

certain documents which led me to believe that Plaintiff and Waleed (lamed may have taken

monies without my knowledge. In 2012, I discovered the tax returns for Waked 1-lamed for

various years which reflected more than $7,500,000 in stocks and securities owned by Waleed

Hamed. I knew what Waleed's salary as a Plaza Extra store manager was, and knew that he had

no other employment or source of income. My belief was that there was no way he could have

legitimately accumulated that much wealth.

Dated: June 6, 2014


